

Effect of extraction solvents and encapsulation on the efficacy of certain medicinal

plant extracts to inhibit enteric methane emission

By

Taofik Adam IBRAHIM

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY ANIMAL SCIENCE

In the Faculty of Natural and Agricultural Sciences Department of Animal Science University of Pretoria Pretoria

Promoter: Prof. Abubeker Hassen

July 2023



Declaration

I, **Taofik Adam IBRAHIM**, declare that this thesis, which I hereby submit for the degree of Ph.D. in Animal Science at the University of Pretoria, is my research results, besides where references are cited. The thesis has not previously been submitted by me for any degree at this university or any other university or tertiary institution.

Signature _

Taofik Adam IBRAHIM



Dedication

This achievement is dedicated to my late father, Mr. Ibrahim Adeyemo Iyaniwura, and my lovely mother who sacrificed luxury to train me and my siblings, and to my entire family for their moral and spiritual support.



Acknowledgment

My deepest appreciation goes to my academic supervisor, Prof Abubeker Hassen, for his attention to detail, objective criticism, and tireless support throughout my study period. I will always consider it invaluable; the contribution, knowledge, and support I received from you during my study period. I will further like to thank Prof. Zeno Apostelides for his mentorship.

I would also like to express my appreciation to the Tertiary Education Trust Fund (TETFund) via Ahmadu Bello University Zaria, Nigeria, for taking care of my welfare during the period of my research study and National Research Foundation (NRF), South Africa, for funding various components of this research. My gratitude also goes to the University of Pretoria, South Africa, for the additional postgraduate bursary award.

I would like to thank the head of the department (Prof. Este van Marle-Köster) and the entire staff of the Department of Animal Science, University of Pretoria for their support, and all the laboratory technologists, especially Mr. Vutlhari and Ms. Loner who helped me with various laboratory procedures, as well as Mr. Roelf Coertze, Ms. Corlia Swanepoel and the staff at Small and Large Stock Division, Innovation Africa Ruminant Unit Experimental Farm, who assisted me during the *in vitro* and animal research period. Mrs. Kate Nkau has played a motherly role since I arrived at the department and she will always be remembered and appreciated for her kind and moral support.

I would like to thank Dr. Festus Adejoro, Dr. Abiodun Mayowa Akanmu and Dr. Abdullahi Yusuf for their moral and strong academic support; I will never forget your kind support throughout my study period which is imprinted in my heart. To all my academic friends and colleagues, especially Mr. Shehu L. Ibrahim and Mr. Addisu Zeru for their support and sharing of academic knowledge during the period of my research study.

I would like to express my profound gratitude to my lovely wife and my adorable children for their prayers and sacrifices during my away from home in pursuit of my Ph.D. degree, as well as my adorable mum and siblings for their spiritual support and being there for me at the time I most needed their support. You have all been the pillars of my strength and no amount of words I can use to show my appreciation, God bless you all.

To all the Professors, academic mentors, and colleagues, starting from my Head, Prof. Danjuma Zaharaddeen, Prof. S. B. Abdu, Prof. M. R. Hassan, Prof. M. Kabir, and Prof T. S. Olugbemi to mention a few at the Department of Animal Science, Ahmadu Bello University Zaria Nigeria, I



thank you all for your support. I will like to specially and sincerely appreciate and recognize the support and contributions of Prof Akpan and Prof S. Duru (of blessed memory), Prof Olufunmilola Alabi (former Dean, Faculty of Agriculture, ABU, Zaria), Prof I. U. Abubakar and Prof Ishiyaku (respectively former and current Director of the Institute of Agricultural Research, ABU Zaria) towards my nomination and securing of TETFund for my study, supports that are too memorable and invaluable to forget. May Almighty God reward you abundantly.

Finally, I thank Almighty Allah and of course will always thank Him for his mercy on me and my family before, during, and after this noble journey.



Preface

This dissertation was completed in the Department of Animal and Wildlife Sciences, University of Pretoria and it is based on the following chapters, which have already been published or submitted for publication in peer-reviewed journals.

Peer-reviewed journals

Ibrahim TA, Hassen A, Apostolides Z. 2022. The Antimethanogenic Potentials of Plants Extracts; Their Yields and Phytochemical Compositions as Affected by Extractive Solvents. *Plant Special Issue "Phytochemical analysis"*. 11(23): 3296. https://Doi.org/10.3390/plants11233296.

Ibrahim TA, Hassen A. 2023. Characterization and *in vitro* methane inhibition of *Aloe vera* and *Moringa oleifera* plant extracts encapsulated with alginate or alginate-chitosan wall materials (TO be submitted to Animal Production Journal).

Ibrahim TA, Hassen A. 2023. Effect of alginate encapsulated *Moringa oleifera* plant extract additives on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, methane, and rumen fermentation of South African Mutton Merino lamb (To be submitted to Livestock Science Journal).

Conference presentation

Ibrahim TA, <u>Hassen A</u>, Apostolides Z. 2022. Phytochemical and in vitro methane inhibition of plant extracts as influenced by extractive solvents. An oral presentation at 2nd one-day symposium Animal Task Force and the EAAP Commission on Livestock Farming Systems 5 September, Brussels, Belgium.

This thesis has been prepared according to the style of the Animal Feed Science and Technology journal.



Table of contents

Declaration	· ii
Dedication	iii
Acknowledgment	·iv
Pretace	-V1
List of figures	
List of Acronyms	
Effect of extraction solvents and encapsulation on the efficacy of certain medicinal	- 1
plant extracts to inhibit enteric methane emission	- 1
ABSTRACT	• 1
GENERAL INTRODUCTION	- 4
Background4	
Justification4	
CHAPTER ONE	- 7
Review of Literature	- 7
1.1 Background on enteric methane production7	
1.2 An overview of rumen methanogens7	
1.3 Methanogenesis and archaeal interactions in the rumen 8	
1.4 Methane inhibition strategies9	
1.5 The use of plant secondary metabolites as antimethanogens10	
1.6 The antimethanogenic impact of flavonoids and phenols11	
1.7 Impact of medicinal plants on methane inhibition and animal performance11	
1.8 Mitigation mechanism of medicinal plants on enteric methane production12	
1.9 Antimethanogenic, antimicrobial, and antioxidant potentials of A. vera, J. curcas, M.	
oleifera, and P. betle13	
1.9.1 Aloe vera	13
1.9.2 Jatropha curcas	13
1.9.3 Moringa oleifera	14
1.9.4 Piper betle	14
1.10 Chitosan, its potential for methane inhibition and organic matter fermentation15	



1.11 Pre-extraction procedures and extraction of plant extracts from medicinal plants	16
1.12 Pre-extraction processing procedures and choice of extraction solvents	16
1.13 The potential of water and alcohol as solvents for extraction in plant materials	17
1.14 Methods of preparing crude extracts from medicinal plants	18
1.15 Maceration, infusion, and decoction: merits and their demerits	19
1.16 Metabolomics and plant metabolites	20
1.17 Devices for metabolites Identification and quantification	21
1.18 Encapsulation of plant extracts	21
1.19 Alginate and its Production	22
1.20 Structure and description of alginate	22
1.21 Biosynthesis of alginate from bacteria	23
1.22 Features and practical applications of alginate encapsulating aqueous plant extract	es 23
Conclusions	24
General objective	25
Specific objectives	25
Working hypotheses	26
List of experiments undertaken	26
CHAPTER TWO The antimethanogenic potentials of plants extracts; their yields and phytocher compositions as affected by extractive solvents Abstract	28 nical 28 28
2.2 Materials and Methods	31
2.2.1 Study area and collection of the plant materials	31
2.2.2 Methanolic extraction	32
2.2.3 Ultra-performance liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (UPLC-	MS)
analysis of the bioactive molecules in plant extracts	32



2.2.4 Buffer mineral solution, collection of the rumen fluid from donor steer, and the in
vitro gas production33
2.2.5 Determination of the in vitro organic matter digestibility (IVOMD)34
2.2.6 Chemical analyses34
2.2.7 Statistical analysis35
2.3 Results and Discussion35
2.3.1 The yield of plant crude extracts35
2.3.2 Phytochemical identification and the concentration of plant metabolites36
2.3.3 In vitro organic matter fermentation45
2.4 Conclusions52
CHAPTER THREE53
Characterization and <i>in vitro</i> methane inhibition of <i>Aloe vera</i> and <i>Moringa oleifera</i> plant extracts encapsulated with alginate or alginate-chitosan wall materials53
Abstract53
3.1 Introduction54
3.2 Materials and Methods56
3.2.1 Study site and research ethics56
3.2.2 Plant collection, extraction procedure, phytochemical identification, and quantification56
3.2.3 Chemicals, preparation of alginate and freeze-dried encapsulated plant extracts 57
3.2.4 Morphological characterisation of alginate-chitosan encapsulated A. vera and M.
oleifera micro-particles using scanning electron microscopy57
3.2.5 Particle density determination for alginate, chitosan, raw, and encapsulated plant extracts58
3.2.6 Buffer mineral solution, rumen fluid collection, and in vitro gas study58
3.2.7 Evaluation of in vitro organic matter digestibility59
3.2.8 Chemical analyses59
3.2.9 Statistical analyses59
3.3 Results and Discussion60



3.3.1 Characterisation of alginate or alginate-chitosan encapsulated plant extracts	60
3.3.2 Effect of encapsulated plant extracts on in vitro total gas and CH ₄ production, and	
organic matter digestibility (IVOMD) of E. curvula hay	62
3.4 Conclusions66	
CHAPTER FOUR Effect of alginate encapsulated <i>Moringa oleifera</i> plant extract additives on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, methane and rumen fermentation of South African Mutton Merino lamb	68 68 68
4.2 Materials and Methods71	
4.2.1 Study site and ethical consent	71
4.2.2 Plant collection and purchase of sodium alginate	71
4.2.3 Extraction of crude plant extracts from M. oleifera leaves	71
4.2.4 Preparation of alginate-encapsulated MO plant extracts	71
4.2.5 Preparation and administration of MO plant extracts as a dietary additive	72
4.2.6 Experimental design, feed, and growth performance	72
4.2.7 Determination of dry matter intake and digestibility	73
4.2.8 Methane emission measurement	73
4.2.9 Rumen fluid collection	74
4.2.10 Chemical analysis of experimental feed, faeces, and urine	74
4.2.11 Statistical analysis	74
4.3 Results75	
4.3.1 Ingredient and chemical compositions of experimental diet	75
4.3.2 Intake, apparent digestibility, and growth performance of SA Mutton Merino lamb -	76
4.3.3 Methane emission and rumen fermentation parameters of SA Mutton Merino lamb -	77
4.4 Discussion78	
4.5 Conclusions80	
CHAPTER FIVE	81



General conclusions, recommendations, and critical review 5.1 General conclusions and recommendations	81
5.2 Critical review	83
REFERENCES	86



List of tables

Table 2.1 Effects of the solvent extraction on the yield of crude extracts (g/10 g) dry sample
Table 2.2 Identification and mean abundance of the phytochemicals (mg I^{-1}) in Aloe vera
extracts using 70% 85% and 100% aqueous-methanol
Table 2.3 Identification and the mean abundance of phytochemicals (mg I^{-1}) in <i>Latronka</i>
Table 2.3. Identification and the mean abundance of phytochemicals ($\operatorname{ing} L$) in <i>fullopha</i> auropa
curcas extracts using 70%, 85%, and 100% aqueous-methanol
Table 2.4. Identification and mean abundance of phytochemicals (mg L $^{-}$) in <i>Moringa</i>
oleifera extracts using 70%, 85%, and 100% aqueous-methanol
Table 2.5. Identification and mean abundance of phytochemicals (mg L^{-1}) in the <i>Piper betle</i>
extracts using 70%, 85%, and 100% aqueous methanol
Table 2.6. Methane, TGP, IVOMD and their relative estimation on Eragrostis hay, as affected
by the plant extract yields of three different % solvent $CH_3OH:H_2O$ (70, 85, and 100%)
combinations
Table 2.7. Correlation showing the effects of extraction solvents, extract yields and
phytochemicals of plant extracts on CH4 emission, TGP, and IVOMD of <i>Eragrostis curvula</i>
hay
Table 2.7 Cont'd. Correlation showing the effects of extraction solvents, extract yields and
phytochemicals of plant extracts on CH4 emission, TGP, and IVOMD of Eragrostis curvula
hay
Table 3.1 Effect of alginate, chitosan, alginate, and/or chitosan encapsulated plant extracts on
<i>in vitro</i> CH ₄ production, TGP, and IVOMD of <i>E. curvula</i> hay
Table 3.2 Principal component loadings of all phytochemicals and fermentation parameters of
<i>E. curvula</i> hay fermented with encapsulated plant extracts
Table 4.1. Ingredients and chemical composition of total mixed ration used in the study 75
Table 4.2. Growth performance of alginate-encapsulated Moringa oleifera leaf extract (50 mg
kg ⁻¹ DM) of South African Mutton Merino lambs
Table 4.3. Effect of alginate-encapsulated <i>Moringa oleifera</i> leaf extract (50 mg kg ⁻¹ DM) on
nutrient intake and apparent digestibility of South African Mutton Merino lambs
Table 4.4. Effect of alginate-encapsulated <i>Moringa oleifera</i> leaf extract (50 mg kg ⁻¹ DM) on
nitrogen balance of South African Mutton Merino lambs



Table 4.5. Effect of alginate-encapsulated Moringa oleifera leaf extract (50 mg kg ⁻¹ DM)	on
enteric methane inhibition of South African Mutton Merino lambs	77
Table 4.6. Effect of alginate-encapsulated Moringa oleifera leaf extract (50 mg kg ⁻¹ DM)	on
rumen fermentation parameters of South African Mutton Merino lambs	78



List of figures

Figure 1.1. A schematic illustration of possible targets to mitigate enteric methane emissions
in ruminants (Islam & Lee, 2019)10
Figure 1.2. Molecular formula and structure of sodium alginate
Plant leaves from which the crude plant extracts collected
Figure 2.1. Principal component analysis plot 1 vs. plot 2 of all fermentation parameters of
Eragrostis curvula hay fermented with three different aqueous-methanol (70, 85, and 100%)
extractions of Aloe vera (A), Jatropha curcas (B), Moringa oleifera (C), and Piper betle (D)
leaf extracts (letters in the figures interpreted in Table 2.7)
Figure 3.1 The scanning electron microscope shows the morphological features of micro-
particles of alginate, chitosan, and encapsulated plant extracts
Figure 3.2 The particle density of chitosan, raw, and encapsulated plant extracts influenced
by alginate as wall material
Figure 3.3 Principal component analysis Plot 1 vs Plot 2 of all phytochemicals and
fermentation parameters of E. curvula hay fermented with encapsulated plant extracts (letters
interpreted in Table 3.2)
Key: Figure 3.3



List of Acronyms

ADF	Acid detergent fibre
ADL	Acid detergent lignin
AOAC	Association of Official Analytical Chemists
CH ₃ OH	Methanol
CH ₄	Methane
CO_2	Carbon dioxide
СР	Crude protein
DM	Dry matter
DMI	Dry matter intake
EE	Ether extract
EME	Encapsulated moringa extract
FCR	Feed conversion ratio
FID	Flame ionization detector
g	Gram
GC	Gas chromatography
GP	Gas production
H_2	Hydrogen molecule
H ₂ O	Water
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
IVOMD	In vitro organic matter digestibility
kg	Kilogram
mL	Millilitres
МО	Moringa oleifera
NDF	Neutral detergent fibre
NH3-N	Ammonia nitrogen
NME	Non-encapsulated moringa extract
OM	Organic matter
PAM	Protozoan associated methanogens
PCA	Principal component analysis
PD	Particle density
RCBD	Randomly complete block design
RT	Retention time
SA	South Africa
SAMM	South Africa Mutton Merino lamb
SEM	Scanning electron microscope
TGP	Total gas production
TMR	Total mixed ration
UME	Unencapsulated moringa extract
UPLC-MS	Ultra-performance liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry
VFA	Volatile fatty acids

Effect of extraction solvents and encapsulation on the efficacy of certain medicinal plant extracts to inhibit enteric methane emission

By

Taofik Adam IBRAHIM

Promoter: Prof Abubeker Hassen Department of Animal Science University of Pretoria

Degree: PhD in Animal Science

ABSTRACT

A series of *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments were conducted to evaluate the antimethanogenic properties of four medicinal plants (Aloe vera, Jatropha curcas, Moringa oleifera, and Piper *betle*) extracts as alternative rumen modifiers to antibiotics to modulate rumen fermentation and inhibit methane production. In the first study, two solvents (methanol and water) were used in three different combinations (70, 85, and 100%) to extract bioactive compounds from the four studied medicinal plants as some of their metabolites have been reported to possess rumen modulation properties and improve nutrient utilization in ruminants, thereby reducing enteric methane emission per unit of animal product. The extracts were evaluated at 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM feed as an additive to *Eragrostis curvula* hay substrate *in vitro*. Results showed an increase in extract yields with increasing water content in the extraction solvents. The effect of extraction solvents was also observed in the concentration of the bioactive compounds in each plant extract when analysed with UPLC-MS, these plant bioactive compounds showed different solubility values. Subsequently, promising plant extracts were selected based on yield and methane inhibition potentials for subsequent encapsulation with alginate as wall material. The encapsulated products were scanned using electron microscope for morphological characterisation and later their methane inhibition attributes were investigated using both in vitro and in vivo studies. The particle characterization of the encapsulated extracts was carried out using a scanning electron microscope (SEM) and images were generated for a morphological study. Gas measurements were taken at regular intervals of 3, 6, 12, 24, and 48 h during the incubation period. Methane emission was determined for each gas sample with the use of gas chromatography. During the first phase of the *in vitro* study, the plant extract treatments were incubated with feed samples to test their methane inhibition



potentials, their effect on total gas production (TGP), and their organic matter digestibility (IVOMD). In the second phase of the *in vitro* study, *Aloe vera* and *Moringa oleifera* extracts were encapsulated with alginate and/or alginate-chitosan wall materials and the final product is incubated with feed samples to evaluate their methane inhibition potentials, their effect on TGP, and IVOMD. The results from the first *in vitro* study indicated that the four plant extracts from three aqueous-methanol extractions (70%, 85%, and 100%) generally reduced methane emission in different proportions at 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM without adversely affecting TGP and IVOMD of *E. curvula* hay. However, the methane inhibition potentials of the tested plant extracts were not influenced by the extraction solvents. For the second *in vitro* study, alginate encapsulated and alginate-chitosan encapsulated plant extracts were also tested together with non-encapsulated plant extracts as against the non-encapsulated extracts, without negatively affecting the TGP and IVOMD.

Finally, encapsulated M. oleifera plant extract was selected for in vivo evaluation to determine its effect on enteric methane production, rumen fermentation parameters, growth performance, feed intake, apparent digestibility, and nutrient utilization of South African Mutton Merino (SAMM) lamb. A total of thirty (30) SAMM lambs were first ranked according to their body weight and divided into three groups with approximately equal body weight measurements. The three treatment groups were randomly allotted to one of the three treatments (two plant extract treatments and control). The plant extract treatments included non-encapsulated *M. oleifera* extract (NME) and encapsulated *M. oleifera* extract (EME) additives. These additives were provided to the lambs at 50 mg kg⁻¹ feed DM intake by incorporating them into a ball-like molasses mix and presented at 7:30 am daily to the experimental lambs. All treatments were placed on the same total mixed ration formulated with a 42% roughage component. The growth performance study lasted for 14 weeks, including adaptation, and the feed digestibility study lasted for 14 days. The lambs were moved into the open circuit respiratory chambers for methane emission measurements in six batches. The methane emission measurements and digestibility study were done concurrently with the growth performance study. For the *in vivo* study, both the NME and EME reduced (p < 0.05) enteric methane emission by approximately 22.61% and 20.06%, respectively; reduced rumen ammonia nitrogen (NH₃-N), urinary nitrogen excretion and feed conversion



ratio but increased nitrogen retained as a percentage of intake without adverse effect on nutrient intake, apparent digestibility, and performance of SAMM lambs. Supplementation of SAMM lambs with NME and EME as dietary additives did not affect the rumen fermentation parameters. The alginate encapsulation of MO plant extract is safe and did not reduce the efficacy of MO plant extracts compared to non-encapsulated plant extracts, and is therefore recommended for practical use as antimethanogenic dietary additives in the feeding system of ruminant animals. Further study needs to be conducted to determine the effect of alginate encapsulated MO plant extracts on the rumen microbial populations and meat quality of the lambs. Also, other wall materials that can act as good carriers of active compounds in rumen medium should be evaluated for methane inhibition in livestock production.



GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Background

Increasing animal protein consumption is in tandem with the increase in the world population (Morgavi et al., 2010). The global consumption of meat is expected to rise from 229 to 465 million tonnes and milk from 580 to 1043 million tonnes by 2050 (FAO, 2006). This will cause the demand for meat and milk among other protein sources to be increasingly high and possibly surpass supply. Therefore, there is a need to increase the productive potentials of livestock species through dietary manipulation, especially those competing less with humans for cereal grains and are capable of utilizing low-quality forages like ruminant animals (Morgavi et al., 2010). Ruminant animals can efficiently utilize feeds with a high level of fibre which is less nutritious and not easily digested by other species of animals to produce meat, milk, and various fibre products. Therefore, ruminants occupy a significant ecological niche for meeting the global demand for high-quality and nutritious food (Bayat & Shingfield, 2012). However, an increase in ruminant animal production to meet the projected increase in protein demand of the world population will lead to environmental pressure that can be manifested in the form of pollution, an increase in greenhouse gas production of which enteric methane emission is the major one (Knapp et al., 2014). Greenhouse gases such as methane and carbon dioxide can raise the Earth's temperature through the absorption of longwave radiation (Lovett et al., 2005; Jordan et al., 2006). Thus, increasing livestock production like ruminants to meet the rise in the population without adverse effects on the environment becomes practically useful (Akanmu & Hassen, 2018). Previous research showed that rumen and dietary manipulation are among the key strategies utilized to improve production efficiency and reduce environmental footprints (Beauchemin et al., 2003; Ibrahim & Hassen, 2022; Patra, 2014). Therefore, any scientific strategy that will increase protein production in the livestock industries should be environmentally friendly and be able to reduce carbon footprints (Knapp et al., 2014).

Justification

A study on enteric methane emission has attracted significant attention in the last decade because methane emission from ruminants contributes to global greenhouse gas emissions and represents a loss of feed energy (Patra et al., 2017). Rumen enteric methane emission accounts for about 17% of global methane emission (Knapp et al., 2014) while 30-40% of



methane emission from total agricultural sources is from ruminants (Moss et al., 2000). About 2–12% of the ingested feed energy is also lost as methane (Patra et al., 2017). Many researchers have attempted to develop and evaluate interventions to mitigate enteric methane production using antimethanogenic compounds and plant secondary metabolites (Adejoro & Hassen, 2018; Akanmu & Hassen, 2018; Patra & Saxena, 2010; Patra, 2014; Patra & Yu, 2013; Ibrahim & Hassen, 2021).

Some antimethanogenic plant-based phytochemicals such as tannins, saponins, and nitrates are likely to be toxic to animals, and/or could limit rumen microbial activities if provided in large quantities. These phytochemicals may cause reduced feed intake, nutrient digestion, and rumen fermentation even if included at levels that will effectively reduce enteric methane emissions (Patra & Yu, 2013). These adverse effects and toxicity may be averted by using medicinal plants with multiple antimethanogenic compounds. These plant active compounds have been safe to use if applied at appropriate doses and combinations to directly inhibit the activities of methanogens (Patra et al., 2017) or ciliate protozoa. Medicinal plants and plant extracts such as Aloe vera, Jatropha curcas, Moringa oleifera, and Piper betle, have been reported to potentially modulate the rumen environment, reduce methane production, and have antimicrobial properties (Ratshilivha et al., 2014; Akanmu & Hassen, 2018). However, the potentials of these medicinal plants as dietary feed additives are not yet fully explored in commercial livestock production due to a number of limitations which includes lack of standardized product, actually recommended dosages, stability during feed mixing and processing, and effective and safe method of administration. For example, the oral drenching of ruminants with crude plant extracts like it has been in the past (Akanmu, 2018) was effective but not realistic commercially as it may impose stress on animals. It is also labour intensive and may not even be achievable in some production systems. To minimize the potential loss in the efficacy of plant extracts, encapsulation with an inert material that will enhance the delivery of the bioactive molecules (core materials) in the rumen is therefore required. In addition, encapsulation of plant extracts could assist to mask and reduce the adverse/bitter effects of plants' phytochemicals like tannins, and alkaloids (Adejoro & Hassen, 2018; Ibrahim & Hassen, 2022).

Besides encapsulation of plant-based extracts, identifying suitable solvents for extraction is a scientific strategy that helps to increase the quantity of plant extracts and/or improve the



efficacy of antimethanogenic plant extracts. In an attempt to increase methane inhibition, solvent extraction is vital as different solvents have been used in the extraction of medicinal plants, and positive results on methane inhibition obtained (Liwiński et al., 2002; Sirohi et al., 2009, 2012; Yejun et al., 2019). The solvent extraction technique is paramount in the determination of yield and concentration of bioactive compounds in plant extracts. Increasing extract yields from plant materials requires a good knowledge of the plant material, the metabolites of interest, and appropriate solvents which could be organic, ionic, or combined (Sultana et al., 2009; Ballesteros et al., 2014; Nn, 2015). This is because phytochemicals have different solubility values in different solvents, which determines the relative availability of the bioactive compounds in the plant extract. No universal extraction method is ideal for all types of plants, and each extraction procedure is unique to the targeted plant compounds (Nn, 2015) and utilization purpose. The use of a combination of different solvents will affect the extract yields and concentration of bioactive compounds due to differing levels of solubility, interaction, and ionic activity of the biologically active compounds (Sultana et al., 2009; Ballesteros et al., 2015).

Therefore, it is important to consider a more suitable method to increase the quantity of antimethanogenic plant-based extracts using the right technics that are simple and practicable to effectively reduce methane production and ultimately the carbon footprints in ruminant production. The main challenge, however, is for research to develop methane inhibition technologies that are adaptable, show long-term effects, and sustainably improve the efficiency of energy and nitrogen utilization in ruminant production systems. There is a limited literature information on the encapsulation of plant-based extracts that can be used as dietary additives to mitigate enteric methane in ruminants. In this regard, a review of the literature was conducted to understand the mechanism of methanogenesis, identify knowledge gaps, formulate working hypotheses, and test innovative approaches that modify or replace existing technologies currently used in ruminant production systems.



CHAPTER ONE

Review of Literature

1.1 Background on enteric methane production

Methanogenic archaea responsible for methane synthesis in ruminant animals are located mainly in the rumen while some reside in the lower parts of the large intestines of ruminant animals. According to Patra et al. (2017), methane-producing bacteria use hydrogen molecules produced during rumen fermentation to form enteric methane when they react with carbon dioxide, methylamines, or formic acid. Research on methane emissions from livestock has been topical in the last few years. Ruminants are known to significantly contribute to global greenhouse gas emissions, a process that gives rise to gross energy loss from the feed consumed ranging from 2-12% (Patra et al., 2017). Rumen enteric methane emission accounts for about 17% of global methane emission (Knapp et al., 2014) while 30-40% of methane emission from total agricultural sources is from ruminants (Moss et al., 2000). In recent times, researchers have concentrated on explaining the factors that determine and affect the archaeal structure, compositions, and diversity of methane-producing bacteria in the rumen. Simultaneously, a number of researchers have attempted to develop suitable technologies to reduce methane production using antimethanogenic compounds and plant secondary metabolites to mitigate methane emission (Adejoro & Hassen, 2018; Akanmu & Hassen, 2018; Patra & Saxena, 2010; Patra, 2014; Patra & Yu, 2013; Ibrahim & Hassen, 2021).

This review will give briefly an overview of the rumen methanogens and methanogenesis, and briefly discuss some methane reducing bioactive compounds that had been tested both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

1.2 An overview of rumen methanogens

The rumen methanogens have small diversity when compared to the rumen bacteria, with the total small subunit (SSU) ribosomal (r)RNA archaea making up about 6.8% of the overall SSU rRNA bacteria present in the rumen (Ziemer et al., 2000). According to Janssen & Kirs, (2008), the rumen archaea account for less than 4% of the overall rRNA while about eight species of rumen methanogens were isolated and cultured. These species of the isolated methane-producing bacteria include *Methanosarcina barkeri, Methanobrevibacter*



ruminantium, Methanobrevibacter millerae, Methanobrevibacter olleyae, Methanobacterium formicicum, Methanobacterium bryantii, Methanoculleus olentangyi, and Methanomicrobium mobile. In recent time, five new species of archaea were additionally isolated and cultured from the ruminants, which include Methanobrevibacter boviskoreani that was isolated and cultured from cattle rumen (Lee et al., 2013), Methanobacterium beijingense that was cultured from the rumen fluid of a goat, Methanosarcina mazei, Methanoculleus marisnigri and Methanoculleus bourgensis which were all isolated and cultured from the rumen fluid of a goat, Methanosarcina mazei, Methanoculleus marisnigri and Methanoculleus bourgensis which were all isolated and cultured from the rumen fluid of a goat, the knowledge of the archaeal interactions in the rumen is key to understanding enteric methane formation and identification of target steps and pathways for the reduction of enteric methane emission.

1.3 Methanogenesis and archaeal interactions in the rumen

Rumen micro-organisms known as the rumen methanogen or archaea synthesize methane. They perform this methane production by converting carbon dioxide and hydrogen molecules to enteric methane and water. This will cause a reduction in the number of hydrogen molecules in the rumen (Gerber et al., 2013). Methane production represents the major pathway for hydrogen molecules utilization in the rumen, hence, redirecting the available hydrogen molecules in the rumen for a useful process like bio-hydrogenation are available strategies in recent time. (Gerber et al., 2013). The mechanisms involving the conversion of hydrogen molecules to animal lipids via bio-hydrogenation in the rumen as well as the implications on methane inhibition have been documented (Goiri et al., 2010; Jafari et al., 2016). There are two major types of methanogens in the rumen; the hydrogenotrophic methanogens which are more in population compared to the acetoclastic methanogens. These two groups of methanogens usually source hydrogen and carbon dioxide molecules produced as a by-product of rumen microbial fermentation and convert them to methane (Rother et al., 2010). These groups of rumen methanogenic bacteria can also make use of methylamine and formic acid available in the rumen to synthesize enteric methane (Rother et al., 2010). In a review study by Patra et al. (2017), methanogenic archaea usually interact with other rumen bacteria, protozoa, and fungi via interspecies hydrogen molecules transfer. Generally, such production and removal interaction enhances rumen fermentation as it can lower the accumulation of hydrogen molecules through redirecting into other useful activities like biohydrogenation (Patra et al., 2017). A few number of methanogenic archaea are resided in the rumen either as endosymbionts or ectosymbionts while a large amount of the methanogens



reside freely in the rumen or adhere to feed particles (Lambie et al., 2015). *In vivo* experiments similarly revealed that suppression of methanogenic bacteria in the rumen reduces the ratio of acetate to propionate indicating more propionic acid production and fewer acetate production (Patra et al., 2017; Patra & Yu, 2013). A good understanding of how methanogens and other rumen microbes interact in the rumen provides better knowledge for the identification of suitable strategies that can help mitigate methane emissions from ruminants.

1.4 Methane inhibition strategies

Several methane mitigation strategies have been investigated with major intervention in animal management, rumen modulation, dietary manipulation, and the use of antimethanogens (Gerber et al., 2013; Knapp et al., 2014; Patra et al., 2017). Among a number of mitigation options, reducing the growth/population of methanogenic archaea or interfering with their metabolic pathway is the most suitable and effective approach (Patra et al., 2017). This interference in the metabolic pathway can be achieved using a strategy that either decreases the production of hydrogen molecules and/or increases propionate production (Patra et al., 2017). Also, the H₂ gas produced in the rumen can be diverted into other useful functional activities such as biohydrogenation, etc. Although several reports have been presented in the literature, there are significant differences between studies vis-à-vis the magnitude of the efficacies of the methods and the adverse effect on fermentation, apparent digestibility, and nutrient utilization (Islam & Lee, 2019; Patra et al., 2017). The methane reduction strategies from livestock origin are a time-demanding issue worldwide. There are different methane inhibition strategies adopted so far but still lack sustainability (Islam and Lee, 2019). Figure 1.1 summarised the vital methane inhibition strategies in ruminant animal production. The rectangular white boxes are probably the target for enteric methane inhibition while the shaded boxes depict the different options which have been studied either in vitro or in vivo to mitigate enteric methane emission. The use of bioactive compounds obtained from plant-based extracts in mitigating enteric methane emissions is reviewed in sections 1.5 and 1.6.





Figure 1.1. A schematic illustration of possible targets to mitigate enteric methane emissions in ruminants (Islam & Lee, 2019).

1.5 The use of plant secondary metabolites as antimethanogens

The secondary metabolites in plant material such as alkaloids, flavonoids, phenolic acids, and other biologically active substances have antimicrobial activities against many types of micro-organisms (Patra, 2012). Several plant extracts have been identified as potential inhibitors of rumen methanogens and methane emission (Akanmu & Hassen, 2018; Cieślak et al., 2013; Patra & Saxena, 2009; Patra & Saxena, 2010). However, the effectiveness of plant extracts to suppress methane emission differs largely depending on the types of diet, the amount of inclusion of the extracts or the natural products, and the physicochemical properties of the products among other factors. (Patra et al., 2017). Phenolic compounds and flavonoids are the two major groups of plant secondary metabolites (Patra & Saxena, 2010), with antimicrobial, antioxidant, and antimethanogenic properties. The medicinal plants with secondary compounds considered in this study are *Aloe vera, Jatropha curcas, Moringa oleifera*, and *Piper betle*.



1.6 The antimethanogenic impact of flavonoids and phenols

Flavonoids as antimethanogenic compounds have not been extensively evaluated on the methanogenic archaea in the rumen (Patra & Saxena, 2010). The study by Oskoueian et al. (2013) showed the methane inhibition potential of flavonoids. The inclusions of flavone, kaempferol, myricetin, quercetin, naringin, and rutin at 4.5% of dry matter feed significantly decreased in vitro methane emission by 8.1 to 43.0% with myricetin having the highest methane inhibition potential. The author also ranked their potency as myricetin > kaempferol > flavone > quercetin > naringin > rutin > catechin. Catechin reduced methane emissions both in vitro (Becker et al., 2014) and in vivo (Aemiro et al., 2016). Flavonoids, when fed at a dosage of 0.2 g/kg DM reduced methanogenic archaea of hydrogenotrophic origins while the inclusion of Citrus aurantium extract rich in flavonoids such as naringin and neohesperidin better suppress methanogens (Seradj et al., 2014). The flavonoids have a suppressing effect on methanogenic microbes (Oskoueian et al., 2013; Seradj et al., 2014); and also act as hydrogen molecule sinks through the splitting of the ring structure (eg catechin and epicatechin) and reductive dihydroxylation (Becker et al., 2014). Several plants have tannins as major phenolic compounds and their biological significance is associated with protection against attacks by animals (Broucek, 2018). Tannin is a polyphenolic compound produced in many plants that are either in hydrolyzable or condensed form (Broucek, 2018). The nontannin phenols efficiently reduced methane production *in vitro* (Jayanegara, 2009). The use of caffeic acid, cinnamic acid ferulic acid, and p-coumaric acid as 5 mM DM feed effectively reduced in vitro methane emission in the following order: caffeic acid > p-coumaric acid > ferulic acid > cinnamic acid without any adverse effect on organic matter digestibility (Jayanegara, 2009). Understanding the effects of medicinal plant extracts as antimethanogenic substances on animal performance will help to determine their suitability as methane-reducing agents.

1.7 Impact of medicinal plants on methane inhibition and animal performance

Secondary plant compounds decreased in vitro methane. These compounds can be used as antimethanogenic agents without adverse effects on feed digestibility (Akanmu et al., 2018). According to Chaturvedi et al. (2015), crude plant extracts of *Azadiracta indica, Emblica officinalis, Ocimum sanctum, Clerodendrum phlomidis,* and *Curcuma longa* had no adverse effect on *in vitro* gas production and feed digestibility; however, these crude plant extracts effectively decreased *in vitro* methane and ammonia production. Some of these compounds



are practically useful, acting as anti-methanogens and serving as alternatives to the use of antibiotics in ruminant production, and may likely improve animal performance (Akanmu et al., 2018). Jerónimo et al. (2016) reported that polyphenolic compounds like tannins have the potential to prevent rumen acidosis and bloat and enhance better utilization of proteins in ruminants. Tannins also help to regulate internal parasites and enhance tissue attrition in beef, and milk production in dairy animals. Tannins usually act by iron deprivation and interfere with useful proteinase enzymes in the rumen. An alkaloid has been described as a deoxyribonucleic acid intercalator and an inhibitor of topoisomerase. Saponins, on the other hand, chelate sterols residing in the plasma membrane of microbes, thereby initiating some damage to the cell membrane and consequent breakdown of cells (Cheng et al., 2014). The risks associated with the use of crude plant extracts in methane mitigation include a decrease in TVFA production in the rumen, a reduction in dry matter, and the apparent digestibility of NDF (Cobellis et al., 2015). Crude plant extracts have been reported to contain a blend of active compounds. These crude plant extracts vary in their compositions which are largely affected by genotype and other biological factors, production techniques, and the conditions of storage (Baert et al., 2011). According to Yang et al. (2009), the efficacy of crude plant extracts is largely influenced by the genetic difference in the plants, agronomic practices, age of harvest, extraction techniques, inclusion levels, and compatibility with the substrates/feed ingredients. All these conditions are likely to impose unstable effects on animal performance and welfare; and can be toxic when included in animals' feeds at an unreasonable dosage (Akanmu et al., 2018).

1.8 Mitigation mechanism of medicinal plants on enteric methane production

Medicinal plants and their extracts have been examined to be antimicrobial and antimethanogenic as they possess compounds that inhibit some ruminal microbes (Amaglo et al., 2010; Nouman et al., 2016; Akanmu et al., 2018). Some studies have substantiated that phytochemicals suppress methane production (Adejoro et al., 2018; Akanmu et al., 2018), and the activity/population of the methanogenic archaea in the rumen most likely by binding the proteins and enzymes of microbes leading to a collapse of cells (Tavendale et al., 2005). Tannins also directly inhibit some protozoa in the rumen and indirectly affect the associated rumen methanogens, especially the protozoa-associated methanogens (Tavendale et al., 2005). Plant secondary metabolites most likely limit the activity of cellulolytic bacteria (Patra & Saxena, 2010; Waghorn, 2008) and, consequently, fermentation of structural



polysaccharides to volatile fatty acids, and acetate in particular, thereby decreasing carbon dioxides and hydrogen molecules productions that are required for methanogenesis in the rumen. In this study, four medicinal plants (*A. vera, J. curcas, M. oleifera,* and *P. betle*) with secondary compounds were selected to review document information related to their secondary plant compounds and their potential as methane mitigation agents.

1.9 Antimethanogenic, antimicrobial, and antioxidant potentials of *A. vera*, *J. curcas*, *M. oleifera*, and *P. betle*

1.9.1 Aloe vera

A. vera leaf is a rich source of anthrone/anthraquinone. Anthrones are phenolic compounds with laxative effects on the gastro intestinal tracts and result in easy movement of bowels with good antibiotic properties. It exhibits strong antimicrobial activity against bacteria, viruses, and yeasts (Kedarnath et al., 2012). Anthrone in A. vera extract has antiinflammatory action with a wide range of antimicrobial activity (Aysan et al., 2010). Other phytochemicals that are present in the A. vera plants include tannins, saponins, flavonoids, and terpenoids (Kedarnath et al., 2012). The previous research studies showed that acetone and methanol extraction of A. vera leaf decreased in vitro methane production. (Sirohi et al., 2009; Akanmu et al., 2018). A. vera crude extract contains two main biologically active substances which include aloe soluble polysaccharide/amylose which is present in aloe filet and the anthraquinone derivatives residing in the leaves of A. vera plants (Pugh et al., 2001). Aloe-emodin, Aloin A, and B have been reported present in A. vera leaf extracts with 60% ethanolic extraction (Logaranjan et al., 2013). These bioactive compounds had been identified as active principles by their activity against pathogenic fungi such as Colletotrichum gloeosporides and Cladosporium cucumerinum (Wrede et al., 2012). A. vera and its extracts had been reported to exhibit anti-bacterial activity against Helicobacter pylori, Streptomyces greseus, and Candida albicans (Bawankar et al., 2013).

1.9.2 Jatropha curcas

In a study earlier carried out by Santra et al. (2012), a large number of plants were evaluated for their methane inhibition potentials, and ethanolic extracts of *J. gossipifolia* reduced methane production by about 31%. The extracts of *J. gossipifolia* reduced the population of the rumen protozoa *in vitro* and were attributable to the presence of tannin and saponin in the extracts of *J. gossipifolia*. The activity of antinutrients; their various compounds and other



various phytochemicals in different parts and species of Jatropha have been reviewed (Devappa et al., 2010; Sabandar et al., 2013). The leaf extract of *J. curcas* has been reported to exhibit methane-reducing properties and increase the organic matter digestibility at 25, 50, 75, and 100 mg kg⁻¹ DM substrate (Akanmu & Hassen, 2018).

1.9.3 Moringa oleifera

The Moringa plants contain crypto-chlorogenic acid, isoquercetin, and astragalin in their leaves (Vongsak et al., 2014). The various portions of the *M. oleifera* tree are rich in glucosinolates, flavonoids, and phenolic acids (Amaglo et al., 2010; Coppin et al., 2013). According to a previous study, among flavonoids compounds, flavonol glycosides (which include the glucosides and their derivatives) of quercetin, and kaempferol are mainly present in the *M. oleifera* leaves (Coppin et al., 2013). The quantity of quercetin and kaempferol in *M. oleifera* ranges from 0.07–1.26% and 0.05–0.67%, respectively. Nouman et al. (2016) characterized seven varieties of *M. oleifera* plants with more emphasis on their phenolic compounds and antioxidant potential. The apigenin, quercetin, and kaempferol derivatives of hydromethanolic extracts of *M. oleifera* were reported to be 20.9, 47.0 and 30.0%, respectively of the total flavonoids.

1.9.4 Piper betle

P. betle is a perennial creeper plant that has been useful to man for a long period (Emon et al., 2020). It plays a vital role in the traditional institution as it is used in the treatment of abscesses, boils, cuts, injuries, affected gums, halitosis, and constipation (Fathilah, 2011; Emon et al., 2020) and to treat bad breath. Although the leaf extracts of *P. betle* have been evaluated *in vitro* for enteric methane emission in ruminants (Akanmu et al., 2018), the characteristics and properties of these leaf extracts make it a valid medicinal plant to evaluate further. Also, there is a paucity of information on the methane inhibition of *P. betle* leaf extracts. Freshly harvested *P. betle* leaves contain nutrients like carbohydrates, proteins, vitamins, minerals, and essential oils (Basak et al., 2015). The essential oils present in *P. betle* leaves contain anti-bacteria, anti-protozoan and anti-fungal properties. According to Dwivedi & Tripathi (2014), phytochemical screening on leaves revealed the presence of alkaloids, amino acids, carbohydrates, steroids components, and tannins, while the leaves contain majorly Betle oil and betle phenol (Chavibetol and Chavicol). A study was conducted by Nalina & Rahim (2007) on the aqueous extract of *P. betle* and its antibacterial activity



against *Streptococcus mutans*. The result of the micrographic transmission of electrons showed that the leaf extracts of *P. betle* damage the plasma cell membrane of *S. mutans* and initiate coagulation of the nucleoid. The crude plant extract was also noted to effectively reduce the capacity of the bacteria to produce acid. Lee et al. (2015) conducted a study that involves the extraction of crude extract from dried *P. betle* leaves using deionized water and 70% ethanol and evaluated major phytochemicals from the extracts using qualitative analysis. The study revealed the presence of alkaloids, alcoholic compounds, phenolic compounds, organic acids, and other solvent-soluble compounds with good antimicrobial and antioxidant activity.

1.10 Chitosan, its potential for methane inhibition and organic matter fermentation

Chitosan is described as a linear polysaccharide compound comprised of two repeated units which include D-glucosamine and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine, chemically joined together by β- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -linkages. Chitosans are characterized by their molecular mass/weight, viscosity, and level of deacetylation (Jiménez-Ocampo et al., 2019). Chitosan is a collective name for a group of partly or completely deacetylated chitin from large biopolymer, it is a natural biologically active compound with many advantages as it is non-toxic, it is biocompatible, biodegradable, and contains bioactive compounds with good antimethanogenic properties, and has been reported to be safe for use in food and animal studies (No et al., 2007; Mohammad El-Aidie, 2018; Jiménez-Ocampo et al., 2019). Chitosan is a high molecular weight polymer with cationic properties, and it is the second most abundant polysaccharide next to cellulose. Chitosan can be found in the exoskeleton of lower animals like crustaceans, insects, mollusks, fungi, and some algae, but largely obtained from marine crustaceans (Li et al., 2018). It has moderate to strong antimicrobial properties against many microbes, viruses, and filamentous fungi, including yeast. Chitosan also exhibits some health-promoting benefits like anti-tumor and anti-inflammatory activities (Divya et al., 2017; Duffy et al., 2018).

In recent animal nutrition studies, the focus has been shifted to studying the methane inhibition potential of chitosan and as rumen modifiers in beef or dairy cattle as well as nutrient digestibility in cattle (Araújo et al., 2015; Henry et al., 2015; Belanche et al., 2016; Gandra et al., 2016). Chitosan has been reported to exhibit effects on the voluntary intake of animal feed/diet, apparent digestibility, nutrient utilization, fermentation parameters, and



enteric methane emission. Conversely, the results obtained from different studies differ between the *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Jiménez-Ocampo et al., 2019). In the *in vitro* tests, Belanche et al. (2016) found that chitosan altered the rumen fermentation patterns and increased propionate production. The authors also noted an increasing trend in the amylolytic bacteria but a decrease in cellulolytic bacteria like Butyrivibrio, Fibrobacter, and Ruminococcus as well as hemicellulolytic bacteria like Eubacterium. This has led to the prediction by Jiménez-Ocampo et al. (2019) that the electrostatic interaction of the bioactive compounds in chitosan and the interference with cell membrane suppressed methanogens and/or methanogenic pathways and lowered methane emission by 10 to 42%. In an in vitro study, Goiri et al. (2010) revealed that chitosan has effective inhibitory action against bio-hydrogenation by increasing the amount of unsaturated fatty acids such as C18:1 t11 and the conjugated linoleic acid proportions with no preference to the type of dietary lipids. These results can be related to the interaction with negatively charged free fatty acids and support the contention that chitosan changes the population of the rumen protozoa. (Jiménez-Ocampo et al., 2019). This also conforms with the results of Wencelová et al. (2013) who reported that chitosan did not affect fatty acid profile but lowered the apparent digestibility of feed dry matter and TGP and showed little influence on enteric methane emission.

1.11 Pre-extraction procedures and extraction of plant extracts from medicinal plants

Medicinal plants and their liquid extracts have recently gained much interest and awareness due to their application in traditional medicine. They are used to treat common diseases like colds, fever, and other similar diseases (Nn, 2015). The study of medicinal plants usually begins with the extraction of crude plant extracts. Different extraction procedures have different impacts and critical roles in the extraction outcomes such as the yields of crude plant extracts (Nn, 2015). A wide range of technologies for solvent extractions is available nowadays (Nandave et al., 2009; Das et al., 2010). However, this study review will only focus on aqueous-organic solvents extractions methods.

1.12 Pre-extraction processing procedures and choice of extraction solvents

The initial stage in the study of medicinal plants involves the preparation of plant materials. The handling procedure needs to ensure the preservation of the bioactive compounds in the medicinal plants (such as the leaf, stem, root, etc.) before the extraction of the actual crude



plant extracts and determination of biologically active compounds (Nn, 2015). Plant extractions can be conducted on different parts of the plant samples like leaves, roots, tree bark, and fruits of fresh or dried plant material. Other pre-extraction processing and preservation procedures of plant materials such as freezing, refrigeration, grinding, and drying influence the compositions of phytochemicals in the final extracts (Nn, 2015). The presence of useful bioactive metabolites in plant extracts is mainly determined by the type of solvent used in the extraction. A good solvent for plant extractions should exhibit qualities such as low toxicity, ease of evaporation at low heat, and enhancement of rapid physiologic absorption of the extracts. In addition, a suitable solvent should have a good preservative property and must not cause the medicinal plant extract to dissociate/complex (Sultana et al., 2009; Ballesteros et al., 2014; Nn, 2015). Some key factors influencing the choice of extraction solvent are the quantity of bioactive compounds that need to be extracted, the diversity of bioactive compounds, the rate of extraction, ease of subsequent handling of the extracts, and the potential health hazard of the extractive solvents. The choice of solvent could also be influenced by the purpose, functional activity of the extracts, and targeted compounds to be extracted (Nn, 2015). Since the crude plant extracts may contain traces of residual solvent used in the extraction, the solvent should be non-toxic and should not impact negatively the analysis of constituent metabolites, both quantitatively and qualitatively (Ncube et al., 2008; Das et al., 2010). The solvents used for the extraction of bioactive compounds in medicinal plants are selected based on their ionic interactions and the polarity of the solute of interest. Solvents with the same polarity as their solutes will better dissolve the solute and more bioactive compounds will most likely be made available in the final extraction (Remadi et al., 2017). Many solvents had been used sequentially and/or in combined form to increase the number of different bioactive compounds of interest in crude plant extracts. The solvent polarity has been ranked, from most to least polar, of a few common solvents, which include Water > Methanol > Acetone > Ethylacetate > Chloroform > Hexane (Remadi et al., 2017).

1.13 The potential of water and alcohol as solvents for extraction in plant materials

Water is a universal solvent, and can be used to obtain crude extracts from plant material. Though traditional healers use mainly water for the extraction of biologically active compounds from medicinal plants, plant extracts from organic solvents are more consistent in their antimicrobial activity as compared to the extractions with distilled water (Das et al.,



2010). To increase the type and amount/quantity of plant secondary metabolites from plant materials, a number of solvents of different polarities are preferable (Wong et al., 2006). Moreover, studies have revealed that solvents like methanol increased the antioxidants and antimicrobial activities of crude plant extracts. In a report by Bidie et al. (2011), methanol as an extraction solvent increased the amount of biologically active compounds from whole walnut fruit compared to the solvent ethanol. The higher antioxidant activity of the alcoholic extracts as compared to the aqueous extracts of medicinal plants is attributable to the presence of higher amounts of polyphenol compounds in alcoholic extracts compared to aqueous extracts. Additionally, alcohols easily penetrate the cellular membrane of plant tissues to extract content from the plant material (Wang et al., 2010). This signifies that alcohol can better degrade plant cells to cause biologically active compounds released from the cells. (Lapornik et al., 2005). However, water can also support the extraction of active compounds and increase the occurrence of microorganisms (Lapornik et al., 2005). Higher amount of bio-flavonoids was recorded with 70% solvent ethanol due to its higher polarity/ionic interaction than 100% ethanol. With the addition of 30% water to the pure ethanol to prepare 70% ethanol solvent, the polarity/ionic interaction of the aqueous-ethanol solvent was increased (Bimakr et al., 2011). The yield from aqueous extraction (1.57 g/10 g)was slightly higher than the 70% ethanol extraction (1.23 g/10 g) in P. betle leaf. Also, the percentage antimicrobial function for the aqueous extraction from P. betle leaf was 96.0% which is also higher than 83.7% for the 70% ethanol extraction (Lee et al., 2015). The higher extract yield from the aqueous extraction of plants compared to the water-ethanol extraction may be because of higher polarity of deionized water and a shorter chain than ethanol (Pin et al., 2010).

1.14 Methods of preparing crude extracts from medicinal plants

Plant extraction can be described as the separation of medicinally or biologically active portions of plants (leaf, stem, root, etc.) using selective solvents through standard procedures (Nn, 2015). The main objective of extractions is to separate the soluble bioactive compounds/metabolites in plant materials from the insoluble cellular residue. The crude plant extracts obtained from solvent extractions contain a complex mixture or blend of phytochemicals/metabolites like alkaloids, flavonoids, glycosides, phenolics, and terpenoids (Nn, 2015). Some of the initially obtained crude plant extracts may be suitable for use as medicinal agents in the form of solution/fluid extracts while some plant extracts most likely



require further processing (Ballesteros et al., 2014; Nn, 2015). Methods to adopt in the extraction of medicinal plants depend on the type of solvents, the particle size of the plant tissues, the solvent-to-sample ratio, the length of the extraction period, and the temperature and pH of the solvent (Ballesteros et al., 2014; Nn, 2015). The different extraction methods include decoction, infusion, maceration, and percolation, among others. The more advanced extraction procedures such as sonication, microwave, and ultrasound-assisted methods of extraction are all extraction procedures that require good skill and technical know-how (Handa et al., 2008; Nn, 2015). However, this study only adopted a maceration method of extraction and therefore, will limit review to maceration, infusion, and decoction which are solid-liquid extractions, as well as their strengths and limitations.

1.15 Maceration, infusion, and decoction: merits and their demerits

Maceration can be described as a solid-liquid extraction (or shake/soft extraction) method. It could be regarded as a technique that has wide application in winemaking and the study involving medicinal plants (Handa et al., 2008; Nn, 2015). Maceration as an extraction technique involves the soaking of plant materials/samples, whether grainy or milled in a clean container with a solvent and allows the mixture to stand at room temperature for a minimum duration of three days with continuous agitation (Stéphane et al., 2021; Nn, 2015). The main purpose of the process is to soften and degrade the plant's cell wall to release soluble bioactive compounds. After a minimum of three days, the mixture is passed through a sieve, collecting the filtrate below the sieve, and leaving behind the cellular/insoluble residues. This method usually involves heat transfer via conduction and convection. The choice of solvent combination will most likely determine the type of bioactive compounds extracted from the samples (Handa et al., 2008; Nn, 2015). In the maceration, milled or unmilled plant materials are dissolved in a solvent for a defined period with continuous and fixed revolution speed/agitation until the soluble constituents are dissolved and removed from the cellular matrix. This method is relatively more suitable for thermo-labile drugs and phytochemicals (Ncube et al., 2008). The use of infusion and decoction on the other hand apply a similar principle as maceration. Both methods involve soaking in deionized water, however, the maceration period is longer while the infusion is shorter but for decoction; samples are heated in a specified amount of water ranging from a ratio of 1:4 to 1:16 for a particular period of time (Nn, 2015). A decoction method is more suitable for extracting



heat-stable phytochemicals/bioactive compounds such as those present in hard plant materials like tree bark and roots (Nn, 2015).

The maceration, infusion, and decoction techniques are the easiest and simplest methods of extraction from medicinal plants. However, proper recycling of organic waste may be a major challenge since a large volume of solvents is most often used and adequate handling of the waste is required (Handa et al., 2008; Nn, 2015). Alterations in temperature and choice of solvents enhanced the extraction process on medicinal plants and reduce the volume of the solvents needed for extraction (Stéphane et al., 2021; Handa et al, 2008). Heating *Centella asiatica* at 90°C increased the amount of polyphenols and improve their antioxidant activities but increase/decrease extract pH with prolonged extraction time (Nn, 2015). After the extraction of crude plant extracts from medicinal plants using a suitable method, it is important to further identify and quantify the available metabolites. This will help to get a better understanding of the type and amount of phytochemicals present in the crude plant extracts, and their antimicrobial, antioxidant, and antimethanogenic properties.

1.16 Metabolomics and plant metabolites

Metabolomics involves the identification and/or quantification of biologically active compounds in biological materials such as medicinal plants (Kumar et al., 2017). Natural products from plants/plant-derived materials are considered a useful source of valuable biologically active compounds in scientific studies (Salem et al., 2020). Plant extracts are usually comprised of several phytochemicals, whereby the biological activity of the extracts can be represented by synergism among various metabolites. Conversely, isolating every single metabolite from a medicinal plant extract is not usually feasible due to the complex biochemical nature and presence of most metabolites/secondary compounds at very low levels (Salem et al., 2020). Metabolomics in recent years has been considered an invaluable tool for the bioassay of several metabolites/phytochemicals from crude plant extracts giving rise to useful scientific research (Kumar et al., 2017; Salem et al., 2020). Metabolite profiling in large-scale studies has allowed many researchers to access the global data sets of metabolites of both plant and animal origins and their various pathways in a biological system (Kumar et al., 2017). Metabolites are an essential part of plant metabolisms as they affect plant biomass (Turner et al., 2016). In recent years, metabolomics study has been regarded as one of the main innovations in science and has given rise to accurate metabolite



identification and quantification in microbes, plants, and animals (Dam & Bouwmeester, 2016; Kumar et al., 2017). Metabolomics can identify and quantify a vast collection of metabolites from a single crude plant extract, hence allowing quick and accurate analysis of metabolites in a sample (Kumar et al., 2017).

1.17 Devices for metabolites Identification and quantification

Metabolite separation has helped to increase precision in metabolomics studies. Metabolites from plant extracts or natural products are identified and quantified using Gas Chromatography (GC), High-Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC), or Ultra Performance Liquid Chromatography Mass Spectrometry (UPLC-MS), while the MS device helps to provide additional information on the structures of the separated metabolites or bioactive compounds (Salem et al., 2020). There are a number of MS-based databases and software tools that are used for metabolites/bioactive compounds identification. These databases include the Golm Metabolome Database (GMD) which makes use of the GC retention indices, a decision tree search that provides information regarding the substructure of unknown metabolites/bioactive compounds, and METLIN, which is an MS/MS database that can predict the structures of metabolites with much higher accuracy (Murray et al., 2013; Salem et al., 2020).

1.18 Encapsulation of plant extracts

Plant extracts and essential oils are natural products that have several scientific and economic applications. The extractions of plant extracts and essential oils from plants are carried out by classical and innovative methods (Asbahani et al., 2015). Encapsulation is a technology that has increasing applications in animal nutrition. Encapsulation enables proper protection of sensitive biologically active compounds, especially during feed processing, and improves the condition of storage (Tolve et al., 2021). Encapsulation also helps to mask the bitter and unpalatable taste of bioactive compounds like tannin and alkaloids (Tolve et al., 2021). Several encapsulation methods/processes have been performed in recent times with the purpose of improving the efficacy of bioactive molecules, nanocrystals, vitamins, minerals, amino acids, oils, and also essential oils for different applications like *in vitro* diagnosis, therapy, cosmetics, textile, food, and in animal nutrition study (Belšćak-Cvitanović et al., 2011; Isailović et al., 2012; Rijo et al., 2014; Tolve et al., 2021). Essential oils and plantbased tannins encapsulation has led to several new formulations with new applications


(Asbahani et al., 2015; Ibrahim & Hassen, 2022; Tolve et al., 2021). This ensures the protection of fragile oil or tannin and controlled release. The most commonly prepared carriers are alginate beads, polymer particles, liposomes, and solid lipid nanoparticles (Belšćak-Cvitanović et al., 2011; Isailović et al., 2012; Asbahani et al., 2015). Sections 1.19 to 1.22 review the production, biosynthesis, features, advantages, and application of alginate beads.

1.19 Alginate and its Production

Alginate can be described as a polysaccharide that has many applications in the food/feed and drug manufacturing industries (Urtuvia et al., 2017). This polysaccharide has a chemical structure made up of subunits of (1-4)- β -D-mannuronic acid (M) and its C-5 epimer α -Lguluronic acid (G). The properties of an alginate molecule are mainly affected by the composition of the monomers and their molecular weight (Urtuvia et al., 2017). Alginate molecules are common in seaweed and can be commercially extracted from the seaweed in large quantities. In addition, alginate can also be produced from the bacteria Azotobacter vinelandii and Pseudomonas aeruginosa (Hay et al., 2013). Alginate with various molecular weights and reproducible physicochemical properties can be produced via the manipulation of culture conditions during fermentation (Hay et al., 2013; Urtuvia et al., 2017). Alginate can be produced from seaweeds through washing, dissolution, and filtration with additional treatments. The fresh or dry seaweeds will be properly washed in dilute acids to remove cross-linking ions; these ions will cause the alginate to become insoluble. After washing the seaweeds in dilute acids, they are further dissolved in dilute sodium hydroxide. A gelatinous solution of alginate with some cellular debris will then be produced which is further filtered to get rid of the cellular debris. Depending on the purity requirement, the solution may be treated further to remove colour leaving behind a clean alginate solution. The clean alginate solution is finally subjected to a controlled drying process and packaged in a clean and welllabeled stoppered container (Borowitzka et al., 2007; MacArtain et al., 2007; Corona et al., 2017).

1.20 Structure and description of alginate

Sodium alginate has been described as a polysaccharide or natural amylose carbohydrate. It is usually distilled from algae or seaweed. It has a wide application in food, cloths, medicine, dyeing, printing, paper manufacturing, and chemicals such as thickeners, emulsifiers,



stabilizers, and binders. It has a molar mass of 398.316 g mol⁻¹ and melting and boiling points are >300°C and 495.2°C respectively (Homayouni et al., 2007). The molecular formula and structure of sodium alginate are presented in Figure 1.2.



(C₆H₇O₆Na)n



1.21 Biosynthesis of alginate from bacteria

There are two major genera of bacteria that are known to produce or secrete alginate. These include *Azotobacter* and *Pseudomonas*. Most of the studies to reveal the mechanisms involving the biosynthesis of alginate from bacteria have been carried out on *Azotobacter vinelandii* and pathogenic bacteria *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Hay et al., 2014). These two major groups of bacteria have been found to utilize highly similar molecular mechanisms to synthesize alginate; however, the *Azotobacter* and *Pseudomonas* produce alginate for different purposes with differing material properties (Hay et al., 2013, 2014). Some *P. aeruginosa* strains have the capacity to secrete a large quantity of alginate to assist in the formation of thick highly structured biofilms (Nivens et al., 2001; Hay et al., 2009), whereas the *Azotobacter* produce stiffer alginate with high α -L-guluronic acid residue (Hay et al., 2009).

1.22 Features and practical applications of alginate encapsulating aqueous plant extracts

The features of alginate make it a good wall material for the encapsulation of aqueous extracts. Alginate has been used as a wall material for encapsulating plant extracts and other



natural products. Alginate molecules are large polymers with mechanical and hosting properties. These properties are mainly influenced by alginate compositions, the ratio, and the order of distribution of α -L-guluronic acid and 1,4-linked β -D-mannuronic acid residues (Hay et al., 2009). The alginate rich in guluronic residues belongs to the group of high-quality immobilization matrixes (Belšćak-Cvitanović et al., 2011). The department of United State Food and Drug Administration has established and approved alginate as an encapsulating or coating material with an optimum level of safety for consumption. (Hay et al., 2013). It is a commonly used material for the encapsulation of different bioactive compounds (e.g. tannins, probiotics, prebiotics, enzymes, yeast, etc.) in foods/feeds because it has several advantageous features. These features include non-toxicity, ease of production, good biocompatibility with natural products, thermally and chemically stable (Zohar-Perez et al., 2004; Belšćak-Cvitanović et al., 2011; Hay et al., 2013). Also, dried alginate forms can be used to improve the shelf life of products (Zohar-Perez et al., 2004). The encapsulation efficiency of alginate beads varies in the range of 50-99.9% depending on the method adopted (Chan et al., 2010; Belšćak-Cvitanović et al., 2011; Lević et al., 2015). The use of alginate as a coating material preserves the total antioxidant content of the core material/bioactive compounds. This phenomenon has been validated with Fourier transform infrared analysis, which revealed that there were no chemical interactions between extracted compounds and alginate (Belšćak-Cvitanović et al., 2011). The addition of a filler substance, such as inulin (Isailović et al., 2012) and chitosan (Belšćak-Cvitanović et al., 2011) in the dried product reduced alginate roundness distortion and improved the retention of the physicochemical properties of the products during the process of drying. Thyme polyphenolic compounds had been reported to be chemically stable and the antioxidant activity was preserved when the product was immobilized with calcium alginate. This has helped to prevent the excessive leakage of bioactive compounds like polyphenols and then achieve desirable release profiles (Belšćak-Cvitanović et al., 2011).

Conclusions

In conclusion, commitment to climate-smart livestock production is important in agriculture for the provision of animal protein, enhancing adaptability and sustainability of animal production and the environment. The crude plant extracts are good agents for methane inhibition with no adverse effect on animal performance when fed at the right dosage. However, the phrase "right dosage" is still subjective in the application of plant extracts as



alternative rumen modifiers since previous researchers reported some variations in animal performance resulting from variations in the concentration of plant bioactive compounds and methane inhibition of plant extracts. Different extraction solvents were used for various plant materials in previous research with differing results reported on the yield and chemical composition of plants' bioactive compounds. Water as an extraction solvent could influence positively the yield and phytochemicals constituents of medicinal plant extracts, especially when combined with organic solvent in the right proportion. This right proportion for the combination of extraction solvents has not been fully established. Furthermore, proper identification and quantification of plant secondary metabolites, especially those associated with methane inhibitors are important for the standardization of plant extracts consistent in reducing methane production. Precise identification and quantification of plant secondary metabolites is a major research gap and this led to the working hypotheses of this study. Also, the antimicrobial, antioxidant, and antimethanogenic properties and chemical activities of crude plant extracts or natural products had been reported to be positively affected by encapsulation with good bio-compatible materials such as alginate, etc. From the document works of literature, the potential of alginate as an encapsulating material for plant extract with the purpose of providing a co-benefit in reducing methane in ruminants has not been explored, hence motivating the current research objectives and working hypotheses.

General objective

The general objective of this study is to optimize plant extract yields and develop alginate encapsulated plant extracts as dietary additives to modulate rumen fermentation and reduce enteric methane emission without affecting negatively the growth performance of South Africa Mutton Merino lambs.

Specific objectives

- To evaluate the effect of three different proportions of aqueous-methanol extractions (70, 85, and 100% CH₃OH) on yields and phytochemical constituents of *A. vera*, *J. curcas*, *M. oleifera*, and *P. betle* leaf extracts.
- To evaluate the effect of three different aqueous-methanol extracts of *A. vera, J. curcas, M. oleifera*, and *P. betle* on rumen *in vitro* gas production and organic matter digestibility of *Eragrostis curvula* hay.



- To evaluate alginate and chitosan as wall material for encapsulation of medicinal plant extracts and characterize alginate-chitosan encapsulated plant extract in terms of morphology and particle density.
- To comparatively evaluate the efficacy of the crude plant extract versus alginatechitosan encapsulated plant extracts on *in vitro* gas production and organic matter digestibility of *E. curvula* hay.
- To evaluate the effect of alginate encapsulated *M. oleifera* plant extracts additives on enteric methane production, feed intake, and apparent digestibility; nitrogen utilization, weight gain, and rumen fermentation parameters in South African Mutton Merino lamb.

Working hypotheses

 H_0 : The aqueous-methanol extractions (70, 85, and 100% CH₃OH) have no effect on yields and phytochemical constituents of *A. vera*, *J. curcas*, *M. oleifera*, and *P. betle* leaf extracts.

H_o: The aqueous-methanol extracts of *A. vera, J. curcas, M. oleifera*, and *P. betle* have no effect on rumen *in vitro* gas production and organic matter digestibility of *E. curvula* hay.

H₀: The encapsulation of *A. vera*, and *M. oleifera* extract with alginate or alginatechitosan has no effect on micro-particle morphology and particle density on the products.

 H_0 : The alginate and alginate-chitosan encapsulation of *A. vera,* and *M. oleifera* extracts have no effects on *in vitro* gas production and organic matter digestibility of *E. curvula* hay.

 H_0 : The alginate encapsulated *M. oleifera* plant extracts additive has no effect on enteric methane production, feed intake, and apparent digestibility; nitrogen utilization, weight gain, and rumen fermentation parameters in South Africa Mutton Merino lamb.

List of experiments undertaken

The Antimethanogenic Potentials of Plant Extracts; Their Yields and Phytochemical Compositions as Affected by Extractive Solvents



✤ Characterization and *in vitro* methane inhibition of *A. vera* and *M. oleifera* plant extracts encapsulated with alginate or alginate-chitosan wall materials

✤ Effect of alginate encapsulated *M. oleifera* plant extract additives on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, methane and rumen fermentation of South African Mutton Merino lamb



CHAPTER TWO

The antimethanogenic potentials of plants extracts; their yields and phytochemical compositions as affected by extractive solvents

Abstract

Plant phytochemicals are an important area of study in ruminant nutrition, primarily due to their antimethanogenic potential. Plant extract yields, their bioactive compounds, and their antimethanogenic properties are largely dependent on the nature of the extractive solvents. This study evaluated the yields and phytochemical constituents of four plant extracts, as affected by the aqueous-methanolic (H₂O-CH₃OH) extraction and their antimethanogenic properties on the in vitro methane production. The plant extracts included Aloe vera, Jatropha curcas, Moringa oleifera, and Piper betle leaves with three levels of extractions (70, 85, and 100% CH₃OH). The crude plant extract yields increased with the increasing amount of water. M. oleifera crude extracts yields (g/10 g) increased from 3.24 to 3.92, A. vera, (2.35 to 3.11) J. curcas (1.77 to 2.26), and P. betle (2.42 to 3.53). However, the identified and quantified metabolites showed differing degrees of solubility unique to the plant leaves in which they exist, while some of the metabolites were unaffected by the extraction solvents. The methane mitigating potentials of these extracts were evaluated as additives on *Eragrostis curvula* hay at a recommended rate of 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM. The plant extracts exhibited antimethanogenic properties to various degrees, reducing (p < 0.05) in vitro methane production in the tested hay, A. vera, J. curcas, M. oleifera, and P. betle reduced methane emission by 6.37-7.55%, 8.02-11.56%, 12.26-12.97, and 5.66-7.78 respectively compared to the control treatment. However, the antimethanogenic efficacy, gas production, and organic matter digestibility of the plant extracts were unaffected by the extraction solvents. Metabolites, such as aloin A, aloin B, and kaempferol (in A. vera), apigenin, catechin, epicatechin, kaempferol, tryptophan, procyanidins, vitexin-7-olate and isovitexin-7olate (in J. curcas), alkaloid, kaempferol, quercetin, rutin and neochlorogenic acid (in M. oleifera) and apigenin-7,4'-diglucoside, 3-p-coumaroylquinic acid, rutin, 2-methoxy-4vinylphenol, dihydrocaffeic acid, and dihydrocoumaric acid (in P. betle) exhibited a methane reducing potential and hence, could be regarded as promising plant secondary metabolites for methane inhibition.

Keywords: plant extracts, methanolic extractions, metabolomics, methane, in vitro



2.1 Introduction

One of the significant atmospheric methane contributors is ruminant animals. Methane emission contributes to the global warming effect and thus remains a topic of great interest, globally (Broucek, 2018). The contribution of enteric methane emission to total methane production from agricultural sources is quite significant (Jiménez-Ocampo et al., 2019). The need to find solutions to reduce enteric methane emissions without compromising the performance and welfare of ruminants becomes inevitable. Many efforts, such as the supplementation of diets with concentrates (Broucek, 2018) and lipids (Ungerfeld, 2015), the use of probiotics and prebiotics (Mwenya et al., 2004), as well as the addition of medicinal plant extracts (Akanmu & Hassen, 2018; Goel et al., 2008; Patra & Yu, 2013), have been used to mitigate enteric methane production. However, antimethanogenic plant-based compounds, such as tannins, saponins, nitrates, and halogenated aliphatic hydrocarbons have been reported to limit some useful rumen microbial activities and reduce the animal performance, especially when added at higher doses, to achieve effective methane mitigation (Patra & Yu, 2013). These adverse effects and toxicities may be averted through the use of multiple antimethanogenic compounds that may exert synergistic actions when used at appropriate doses, to inhibit the methanogenic archaea and other rumen protozoa that promote the methane production in an additive or complementary manner (Patra et al., 2017). Some medicinal plants and their extracts, such as Aloe vera, Jatropha curcas, Moringa *oleifera*, and *Piper betle* have been reported to potentially modulate the rumen environment, reduce methane emissions, and have antimicrobial activities (Ratshilivha et al., 2014; Akanmu & Hassen, 2018). This may be due to the combined activity of multiple bioactive compounds in the plant extracts. The abundance of medicinal plants/herbs in Africa has deepened the efforts of researchers to exploit plant-based compounds as potential natural alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters to enhance livestock productivity (Makkar et al., 2007), including the decreased methane emission (Soliva et al., 2004; Akanmu & Hassen, 2018).

The characteristics, antioxidant, antimicrobial, and chemical constituents of *A. vera, J. curcas, M. oleifera,* and *P. betle* have been discussed in the previous study (Akanmu & Hassen, 2018). *A. vera* leaf is a rich source of anthraquinone, a phenolic compound that has stimulating effects on the bowels and antibiotic properties (Kedarnath et al., 2012). It contains saponins, which are soapy substances found in the gel and capable of cleansing. It



exhibits antimicrobial activity against bacteria (Kedarnath et al., 2012) and shows antiinflammatory action, with a wide range of antimicrobial activity (Aysan et al., 2010). J. curcas is an ideal biodiesel crop in most arid areas of Asia, South America, and Africa, because of its high oil (43-61%) seed kernel (Huang et al., 2014). Traditionally, Jatropha plants have been used to produce oil, soap, and medicinal compounds (Huang et al., 2014). The various parts of the *M. oleifera* tree have been established as being good sources of glucosinolates, flavonoids, and phenolic acids (Amaglo et al., 2010; Coppin et al., 2013). Among the flavonoid compounds, flavonol glycosides of quercetin > kaempferol > isorhamnetin had been reported to be predominantly present in various parts of the tree, except in the roots and seeds (Coppin et al., 2013). P. betle is an evergreen perennial creeper (Emon et al., 2020). Traditional healers used the betle leaf to treat halitosis, boils and abscesses, constipation, swelling of the gums, cuts, and injuries. In the South East Asia region, P. betle was among the plants that have been used to control caries and periodontal diseases (Fathilah, 2011) and to treat bad breath. Fathilah (2011) reported that the crude aqueous extract of the *P. betle* leaves exhibits antibacterial activities towards *Streptococcus* mitis, Streptococcus sanguis, and Actinomyces viscosus, some of the early colonizers of dental plaque. Although the betle leaf has been tested *in vitro* for enteric methane emission in ruminants (Akanmu & Hassen, 2018), the characteristics and properties of this plant make it a unique medicinal plant to further investigate.

The solvent extraction technique is significant in the determination of crude plant extract yield and the concentration of bioactive compounds in plant extracts. Increasing the efficiency of solvents in the extraction of plant-based compounds in medicinal plants requires the choice of the right combination of extraction medium (Sultana et al., 2009; Ballesteros et al., 2014; Nn, 2015). This may be because some bioactive compounds in plant materials are relatively hydrophobic and others hydrophilic. It has also been stated that no universal extraction method is ideal and each extraction procedure is unique to the targeted plant compounds (Nn, 2015). Water is a universal solvent, used to extract plant products with antimicrobial activity. Though plant extracts from organic solvents give more consistent antimicrobial activity, compared to water extract, water-soluble phenolics are mostly important as antioxidant compounds (Das et al., 2010). In order to extract the different phenolic compounds from plants with a high degree of accuracy, various solvents of different polarities have to be used (Wong et al., 2006). Studies had shown that highly polar solvents,



such as methanol, have high effectiveness as antioxidants (Bidie et al., 2011) and antimicrobial resistance (Akanmu & Hassen, 2018). However, the yields/concentrations of biologically active compounds in plant extracts could be increased further by the addition of a more polar solvent, such as water. The higher concentrations of bioactive flavonoid compounds were recorded with aqueous alcohol (30:70), due to its higher polarity than pure alcohol (Bimakr et al., 2011).

Solvents with different polarities have been used to obtain extracts in plant-based materials and different results concerning the yields and antimicrobial efficacy were reported. Hence, this study investigated the effect of an extraction efficiency of various aqueous-methanol concentrations on yields, phytochemical constituents, and the antimethanogenic potential of *A. vera, J. curcas, M. oleifera,* and *P. betle* leaf extracts. It is hypothesized that the use of different proportions (70%, 85, and 100% methanol) of aqueous-methanol solvent extractions may have a useful effect in improving the crude plant yields, phytochemical concentrations, and subsequently the methane mitigation potential of *A. vera, J. curcas, M. oleifera*, and *P. betle* leaf extracts.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Study area and collection of the plant materials

The study was conducted at the departmental laboratory of the Department of Animal and Wildlife Sciences, University of Pretoria, South Africa, following its ethical approval (NAS336/2019). The *Moringa oleifera* leaves (A11NA) used in this study were harvested fresh from two year old growing and blooming trees at Lefakong farm in Pretoria North at 399 Thabaya Batho Boplaas, South Africa, while *Piper betle* leaves (cultivar Marakodi) of eight month old plants were collected from a farm in Durban at Tongaat Kwazulunata, South Africa. In the month of March, Pretoria has a maximum day temperature of 27.7°C and as low as 14.4°C at night. The rainfall is moderate with an average of 72 mm, 62% humidity, and 255 h sun during the whole month. In the month of May, Durban has maximum day temperature of 26°C and 14°C at night. *Jatropha curcas* (IARJAT-S1) from three year old trees and *Aloe vera* (Taxon A) leaves of six month old were way billed via air in to South Africa. They were harvested in Kaduna state, a northwestern region in Nigeria, with the permission of the Department of Agriculture (P0095290), South Africa. Kaduna state is located 586 meters above sea level with average yearly temperature of 28.46°C and about 93



mm rain fall. All leave samples were collected between the month of March and June from five to ten plants of the sample species. The plants were transported to the laboratory in ice boxes.



Plant leaves from which the crude plant extracts collected

2.2.2 Methanolic extraction

Moringa oleifera, *Jatropha curcas*, *Aloe vera*, and *Piper betle* aqueous-methanolic extracts were prepared using methanol (CH₃OH) at 70, 85, and 100% concentrations as a modification to the previous method (Akanmu & Hassen, 2018). The plant materials were first freeze-dried for 96 h and stored in plastic bags pending further use. Dried samples of each plant leaf were milled through a 1 mm sieve and extracted by dissolving 10 g of milled dried leaf material into a 300 mL extraction bottle containing 200 mL (1:20 *w/v*) aqueous methanol [70% (3 mL H₂O: 7 mL CH₃OH), 85% (1.5 mL H₂O: 8.5 mL CH₃OH), and 100% (CH₃OH only)]. The extraction bottles were arranged into an Incoshake incubator and agitated at 130 rpm and 20 °C for 96 h. Extracts from each bottle were filtered by squeezing through a sieve with a 150 µm aperture. The filtrate was placed in a fume cubicle for 24 h until partially dried. The semi-dried extracts were freeze-dried for 72 h. All freeze-dried extracts were stored in plastic bottles at 4 °C until further use.

2.2.3 Ultra-performance liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (UPLC–MS) analysis of the bioactive molecules in plant extracts

The phytochemical identification of the crude extracts was carried out using ultraperformance liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (UPLC–MS). A Waters Synapt G2 Quadrupole time-of-flight (QTOF) mass spectrometer (MS) connected to a Waters Acquity ultra-performance liquid chromatograph (UPLC) (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) was used for the high-resolution UPLC–MS analysis. Electrospray ionization was used in negative mode with a cone voltage of 15 V, a desolvation temperature of 275 °C, a desolvation gas at 650 L/h, and the rest of the MS settings optimized for the best resolution and sensitivity. Data



were acquired by scanning from m/z 150 to 1500 m/z in resolution mode, as well as in the MSE mode. In the MSE mode, two channels of MS data were acquired, one at a low collision energy (4 V) and the second using a collision energy ramp (40-100 V), to obtain the fragmentation data. Leucine enkaphalin was used as the lock mass (reference mass) for accurate mass determination, and the instrument was calibrated with sodium formate. The separation was achieved on a Waters HSS T3, 2.1 × 100 mm, 1.7 µm column. An injection volume of 2 µL was used, and the mobile phase consisted of 0.1% formic acid (solvent A) and acetonitrile containing 0.1% formic acid as solvent B. The gradient started at 100% solvent A for 1 min and changed to 28% B over 22 min in a linear way. It then went to 40% B over 50 s and a wash step of 1.5 min at 100% B, followed by re-equilibration to the initial conditions for 4 min. The flow rate was 0.3 mL/min, and the column temperature was maintained at 55 °C. The identification was performed, based on its measured mass, compared to the theoretical mass (<5 ppm), the molecular formula, and the characteristic fragments for each compound, finding the differences and similarities between the samples analysed. The library database was used to identify compounds present in the crude extracts. Data was reprocessed using MSDIAL and MSFINDER (RIKEN Center for Sustainable Resource Science: Metabolome Informatics Research Team, Kanagawa, Japan) to utilise the fragmentation data contained in the Waters MSe acquisition (Tsugawa et al., 2015). The peak height data from MSDial was used to determine the mean abundance of the identified metabolites (Yu et al., 2020).

2.2.4 Buffer mineral solution, collection of the rumen fluid from donor steer, and the in vitro gas production

The in vitro gas production studies were carried out following the procedure of Menke et al. (1979), with the modifications detailed in Adejoro & Hassen (2018). The prepared buffer solution was preserved in a water bath at 39 °C and constantly purged with CO_2 until the solution turned colourless. The rumen fluid was collected from three rumen-cannulated Holstein breed of cattle fed Lucerne hay (*Medicago sativa*) ad libitum. A 40 mL prepared solution of rumen fluid was used to incubate 400 mg of the substrate in a 120 mL in vitro bottle in triplicates and four successful runs known as biological replicates were conducted. Gas pressure was taken at 2, 4, 8, 12, 24, and 48 h after the commencement of the incubation, while gas samples were taken inside Hamilton syringes for the analysis of methane concentration. Three blanks were included to correct the methane produced from the



inoculum in each run. Methane concentration was analysed with gas chromatography (8610C BTU Gas Analyser GC System; SRI Instruments GmbH, Bad Honnef, Germany). The GC was pre-equipped with a solenoid column, packed with silica gel and a flame ionization detector (FID). Methane concentration values were related to the total gas production, in order to estimate its concentration. Methane concentration was subsequently converted to mass values (Adejoro & Hassen, 2018). Eragrostis hay of known chemical composition was used as a substrate and incubated with the crude extracts of four medicinal plants prepared using different percentages of methanol/aqueous solvent extraction (70, 85, and 100%). Plant extracts were reconstituted in distilled water and added to the test the feed at 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM. For the control treatment, there was an equal amount of distilled water without plant extracts.

2.2.5 Determination of the in vitro organic matter digestibility (IVOMD)

Extracts of *Aloe vera, Jatropha curcas, Moringa oleifera,* and *Piper betle* were evaluated as additives to 1 mm particle size Eragrostis hay substrate using the IVOMD procedure (Akanmu & Hassen, 2018). Briefly, the first stage involved a 48h rumen degradation phase, followed immediately by another 48h acid-pepsin digestion phase. During the first phase, 200 mg of the feed samples were incubated in triplicate under anaerobic conditions with 20 mL of rumen liquor for 48h at 39 °C with the inclusion of blanks and standards in every batch of incubation. This was followed by a 48h acid-pepsin digestion phase at 39 °C under anaerobic conditions. Following 96 h of incubation, the residual plant materials were collected and oven-dried at 105 °C for 18h. The ash contents were determined by combustion in a muffle furnace at 250 °C for 2h and later at 600 °C for 4h, and the in vitro organic matter digestion was estimated.

2.2.6 Chemical analyses

The feed sample, *Eragrostis curvula* hay, was analysed for the dry matter (DM) and total ash (Thiex et al., 2012). The ether extract was determined using the ether extraction in the Tecator Soxtec (HT6) system (McCormick, 2014). Neutral detergent fibre (NDF), acid detergent fibre (ADF), and acid detergent lignin (ADL) contents were determined using an ANKOM200/220 fibre analyser (ANKOM Technology, Fairport, NY, USA), as described (Van Soest et al., 1991), nitrogen (Sáez-Plaza et al., 2013) (FP2000 Nitrogen/Protein Analyser, Leco Instrumente GmbH, Kirchheim, Germany), and the crude protein was obtained by multiplying nitrogen by 6.25.



2.2.7 Statistical analysis

The crude extract yield of the plant samples was evaluated in triplicate, and the data collected were analysed using the GLM procedure of SPSS (version 20) with the model Yij = μ + Tj + eij. where Yij is the mean of the individual observations (crude extract yield), μ is the overall mean, Tj is the treatment effect (extraction solvent), and eij is the residual error. The means were separated using the Tukey test, and the significance was declared at *p* < 0.05. For the in vitro gas production study, individual bottles within each run served as analytical replicates, while each run represented a statistical replicate. Data were analysed using the GLM procedure in SPSS software (version 20) with the model Yij = μ + Bi + Tj + eij. Where Yij = mean of the individual observation (gas production), μ = overall mean, Bi = block effect (replicate), Tj = treatment effect, and eij = residual error. Mean separations were performed using the Tukey test, and the significance was declared at *p* < 0.05. The principal component analysis was carried out using the PAST 4 software, version 4.11.

2.3 Results and Discussion

2.3.1 The yield of plant crude extracts

The crude extract yields (Table 2.1) from the medicinal plants were influenced by the treatment solvents with visible trends and increased with a decrease in the amount of methanol (CH_3OH) solvents, replaced by an equivalent amount of distilled water (H_2O) in the mixture for all of the plant samples. The yields of the M. oleifera crude extracts increased from 3.24 to 3.92 g/10 g, A. vera (2.35 to 3.11 g/10 g), J. curcas (1.77 to 2.26 g/10 g), and P. betle (2.42 to 3.53 g/10 g). For A. vera and M. oleifera, the 70% CH₃OH are statistically higher (p < 0.05) than the 85% and 100% CH₃OH while J. curcas and P. betle are significantly higher at 70% CH₃OH than 100% CH₃OH. These results are within the average value of the 30% extract yields of green tea earlier reported (Perva-uzunalic et al., 2006). The extraction procedures and solvent type play a critical role in the determination of crude extract yields and the concentration of bioactive compounds in medicinal plants (Nn, 2015). The results of this study show that the four plants used in the study are probably watersoluble, with M. oleifera having more relatively hydrophilic phytochemicals than A. vera, J. curcas, and P. betle. The increase in yield of plant crude extracts with increased distilled water in the solvent mixtures could mean that most bioactive compounds in the plant leaves are hydrophilic and could easily leach out, preferentially, in the presence of polar solvents. To increase the efficiency of the extraction in medicinal plants, the use of solvents with



different polarities is critical (Wong & Kitts, 2006). The combination of CH₃OH and H₂O as extraction solvents in this study could have softened the plant samples in the mixture better than pure CH₃OH and promoted the rapid physiological absorption of the extracts due to the higher polarity of H₂O (VegaArroy et al., 2017; Nn, 2015; Quispe et al., 2018).

		2			7 1
Leave extract	70% CH ₃ OH	85% CH ₃ OH	100% CH ₃ OH	SEM	<i>p</i> -value
A. vera	3.11 ^A	2.42 ^B	2.35 ^B	0.10	0.009
J. curcas	2.26 ^A	2.06 ^{AB}	1.77 ^в	0.05	0.006
M. oleifera	3.92 ^A	3.38 ^B	3.24 ^в	0.12	0.013
P. betle	3.53 ^A	3.07 ^A	2.42 ^B	0.14	0.002

Table 2.1 Effects of the solvent extraction on the yield of crude extracts (g/10 g) dry sample

SEM = standard error of means, *p*-value = probability value, uppercase letters compare the means of the extract yield among all solvent extraction techniques of each plant material across the row. Means with different letters across the row for each parameter are significantly (p < 0.05) different.

2.3.2 Phytochemical identification and the concentration of plant metabolites

2.3.2.1 Aloe vera

The study reveals the presence of bioactive compounds in the aqueous-methanolic extraction of A. vera with a detailed characterisation of the identified compounds (Table 2.2). The concentrations (mg L⁻¹) of aloesin, nataloin A, nataloin B, 10-hydroxyaloin A, 10hydroxyaloin B, and caffeoyl ester of aloesin were more abundant at 100% methanol extraction than at 70% methanol extraction, indicating they were relatively less watersoluble. While kaempferol-7-O-glucoside and 3-p-coumaroylquinic acid were relatively hydrophilic, the extraction solvents had no clear effect on the abundance of aloin A, aloin B, and aloe emodins as the concentrations of these metabolites were likely affected by the relative solubility behaviour of other metabolites in the crude plant extracts. Aloin A, aloin B, and aloe-emodin have been reported in a few aloe species crude extracts (Logaranjan et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2013; Kanama et al., 2015; El Sayed et al., 2016). Kaempferol, 10hydroxyaloin A and B, and caffeoyl ester of aloesin and aloesin have also been identified in the solvent extracts of the aloe species (Wu et al., 2013; El Sayed et al., 2016). Quispe et al. (Quispe et al., 2018) reported the presence of aloin A, aloin B, aloe emodin diglucoside, 10hydroxyaloin A, 6-malonylnataloin A (nataloin A), and caffeoyl ester of aloesin in A. vera aqueous extracts. Additionally, 6-malonylnataloin A and B, aloinoside A/B, and aloeresin have been identified in three to six species of aloe (El Sayed et al., 2016). From the few



identified metabolites in *A. vera*, kaempferol-7-*O*-glucoside and 3-*p*-coumaroylquinic acid were relatively water-soluble and had a direct relationship with the crude plant extracts (in Table 2.1) while other metabolites were either hydrophobic or unclearly affected by the extraction solvents. The possible reason is that there are other unidentified metabolites for which a relative solubility is yet to be understood. However, this study focused more on the metabolites in crude plant extracts capable of reducing the enteric methane production and how they are influenced by the extraction of solvents. The principal constituent of the compounds in *Aloe vera* is anthraquinone/anthrone with a broad spectrum of biological activities, such as anticancer, anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, diuretic, vasorelaxing, and phytoestrogen indicating their possible clinical use in several diseases (Chien et al., 2014).

RT (min)	Molecular Formula	Measured Mass (<i>m</i> / <i>z</i>)	Error <i>m/z</i> (ppm)	MS Fragment	UVmax (nm)	n) Compound Classification of the Compounds		70%	85%	100%
10.94	$C_{16}H_{18}O_8$	337.0928	-0.3	273,245,202	309	3-p-coumroyl quinic acid	Phenolic acid	7.65	8.42	2.40
11.64	$C_{19}H_{22}O_{9}$	393.1185	-0.3	273245202	296	Aloesin	Chromone (<i>C</i> -glycosylated chromone)	59.51	281.4 6	293.30
14.02	C ₂₇ H ₃₀ O ₁₅	593.1526	-0.7	473,383,353	332	Aloe emodin-diglucosid	Anthrone (Anthracene compound)	5.04	30.51	25.99
15.15	$C_{27}H_{30}O_{15}$	593.1455	-6.1	431,311,297, 283,282,269	269,335	Aloe emodin-diglucoside isome	Anthrone (Anthracene compound)	28.45	92.67	91.18
16.25	$C_{21}H_{20}O_{11}$	448.1304				Kaempferol-7- <i>O</i> - glucoside	Flavonoid (C-glycosylated flavoinoid)	8.32	6.50	5.22
16.66	$C_{21}H_{22}O_{10}$	433.1138	1.6	313,270	304	10-hydroxyaloin B	Anthrone	1.45	60.38	74.93
16.89	$C_{21}H_{22}O_{10}$	433.1133	0.9	313,270	305	10-hydroxyaloin A	Anthrone	0.91	58.23	70.58
18.61	$C_{24}H_{26}O_{12}$	505.1343	-1.6	343,297,257	264,301	6-Malonylnataloin B (nataloin B)	Anthrone	3.04	77.87	83.30
19.24	$C_{24}H_{26}O_{12}$	505.1355	-4.4	343,325,297, 257	264,301	6-Malonylnataloin A (nataloin A)	Anthrone	1.97	55.97	59.22
20.16	$C_{29}H_{30}O_{12}$	569.1669	0.2	407,243,161	300	Caffeoyl ester of aloesin	Chromone	3.14	43.32	44.84
21.01	C ₂₁ H ₂₂ O ₉	417.1194	0.0	297	297,354	Aloin B	Anthrone (Anthracene compound)	123.34	275.7 5	265.68
21.84	$C_{21}H_{22}O_9$	417.1176	-2.4	297	297,354	Aloin A	Anthrone (Anthracene compound)	163.05	310.3 8	303.57

Table 2.2 Identification and mean abundance of the phytochemicals (mg L^{-1}) in *Aloe vera* extracts using 70%, 85%, and 100% aqueous-methanol

2.3.2.2 Jatropha curcas

The principal components of the phenolic compounds identified in the J. curcas leaf extract (Table 2.3) in this study are flavonoids with a few procyanidin compounds. The concentration (mg L^{-1}) of vitexin-7-olate, isovitexin-7-olate, kaempferol-7-O-glucoside, apigenin-7-O-rutinoside, and apigenin-6-C-arabinosyl-8-C-arabinoside were not affected by the extraction solvents. The concentration of catechin, epicatechin, and procyanidins are affected by the extraction solvents, with the greater concentration at 100% methanol extraction, and the lowest at 70% methanol extraction. However, the difference in the concentration of catechin, tryptophan, and procyanidin dimer B1 is relatively small. Catechin and epicatechin are phytochemicals mostly reported in Jatropha, in recent times; they were identified in methanolic extracts of J. curcas and J. cinerea kernel meal (Vega-Arroy et al., 2017), catechin in the methanol extracts of the J. curcas leaf (Rejila et al., 2012), and catechin and its derivatives were reported in the J. macrantha stems (Benavides et al., 2006). Catechin and epicatechin have been reported to exhibit methane reducing properties (Vega-Arroy et al., 2017). Vitexin-7-olate and isovitexin-7-olate have been detected in the ethanolic extracts of the J. curcas leaves (Huang et al., 2014) and the crude leaf extracts of J. gossipifolia (Pilon et al., 2013). Other similar compounds that have been reported in Jatropha, include apigenin and its glycosides in J. platyphylla (Ambriz-Pérez et al., 2016) and kaempferol in J. curcas (Diwani et al., 2009), however, procyanidin dimers B1, B2, and procyanidin trimer C1 and C2 have not been reported in any species of the Jatropha plants. Most of the plant compounds identified in J. curcas have therapeutic activities. For example, apigenin has anticancer, anti-depressing, antidiabetic, and health-promoting properties with learning and memory-enhancing activities (Salehi et al., 2019), while procyanidins reportedly exhibited antioxidant, anticancer, anti-inflammatory, immunosuppressive, and antiallergy activities with protection against chronic diseases and metabolic disorders (Chen et al., 2022; Dasiman, 2022). Vitexin and isovitexin both possess antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antidiabetic, anticancer, and neuroprotective properties (Azubuike-osu et al., 2021).

RT (min) Molecular		ecular Measured Mass		MS Frogmont	UVmax	Compound	Classification of	70%	8504	100%
KI (IIIII)	Formula	(m/z)	(ppm)	Mis Flagment	(nm)	Compound	the Compounds	70%	83%	100%
7.73	$C_{45}H_{38}O_{18}$	865.2037	3.7	577,407,289,125	279	Procyanidin trimer C1	Flavonoid	10.54	30.67	34.64
8.98	$C_{11}H_{12}N_2O_2$	203.0821	-0.3	149	279	Tryptophan	Amino acid	43.36	46.64	49.83
10.4	$C_{30}H_{26}O_{12}$	577.1321	-4.9	407,289,125	279	Procyanidin dimer B	Flavonoid	96.38	104.34	109.56
10.78	$C_{30}H_{26}O_{12}$	577.1322	-4.9	407,289,125	279	Procyanidin dimer B2	Flavonoid	49.05	95.19	99.05
11.06	$C_{15}H_{14}O_{6}$	289.0712	-1.0	245,203,151,103	279	Catechin	Flavonoid	292.48	298.98	312.01
11.44	$C_{45}H_{38}O_{18}$	865.1969	-1.3	577,407,289,125	279	Procyanidin trimer C2	Flavonoid	56.84	72.59	74.58
13.16	$C_{15}H_{14}O_{6}$	289.0716	-1.4	245,203,151,103	279	Epicatechin	Flavonoid	101.19	125.93	143.53
15.47	$C_{26}H_{28}O_{14}$	563.1395	-2.1	443,383,353	271,335	Apigenin-6-C- arabinosyl-8-C- arabinoside	Flavonoid (C-glycosylated flavoinoid)	141.07	137.38	137.52
15.69	$C_{21}H_{20}O_{11}$	448.093	0.7	357,327,300	269,349	Kaempferol-7- <i>O</i> - glucoside	Flavonoid	7.89	6.31	6.37
16.91	$C_{21}H_{20}O_{10}$	431.0966	-1.9	341,311,283	268,335	Vitexin-7-olate	Flavonoid (C-glycosylated flavoinoid)	142.42	143.18	144.79
17.44	$C_{21}H_{20}O_{10}$	431.097	-2.1	341,311,283	271,335	Isovitexin-7-olate	Flavonoid (C-glycosylated flavoinoid)	188.89	187.05	190.77
19.81	$C_{27}H_{30}O_{14}$	577.1558	0.7	269	267,335	Apigenin-7-O-rutinoside	Flavonoid (O-glycosylated flavoinoid)	78.32	77.60	80.49

Table 2.3. Identification and the mean abundance of phytochemicals (mg L^{-1}) in *Jatropha curcas* extracts using 70%, 85%, and 100% aqueous-methanol.

RT = retention time

2.3.2.3 Moringa oleifera

The phenolic profile of the *M. oleifera* leaf extracts shown in Table 2.4 consists of phenolic, flavonoid, and polyamine alkaloid compounds. These include chlorogenic acid, neochlorogenic acid, 3-p-coumaroylquinic acid, feruloylquinic acid, rutin, quercetins, kaempferols, and alkaloids. The concentrations of these metabolites in moringa leaf extracts were not affected by the extraction solvents, except the alkaloids. The principal compound present in the M. oleifera leaf extract observed in this study was the flavonoids, which validated a previous report (Amaglo et al., 2010). A number of similar quercetin and kaempferol derivatives and isomers, such as kaempferol-3-O-glucoside, kaempferol-3-Orutinoside, kaempferol-3-O-acetyl-glucoside, and rutin, have been previously reported in M. oleifera leaves (Bennett et al., 2003; Amaglo et al., 2010), while some flavonoids, such as kaempferol and its derivatives (Rocchetti et al., 2019), have been detected. Chlorogenic acid (5-caffeoylquinic acid) and neochlorogenic acid (3-caffeoylquinic acid) have been reported to be present in *M. oleifera* leaf extracts (Amaglo et al., 2010; Nouman et al., 2016). Feruloylquinic acid. quercetin-3-O-acetyl-glucoside (quercetin-3-acetyl-glucoside), cinnamoylquinic acid (3-p-coumaroylquinic acid), kaempferol-3-O-glucoside, and quercetin-3-O-hexoside and their isomers have also been reported (Nouman et al., 2016). A phytochemical screening study by Onyekaba et al. (2013) revealed that flavonoids, terpenoids, phenolics, and alkaloids characterizing the M. oleifera leaf extracts possessed a marked antibacterial potential against E. coli and Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and this strong antibacterial activity probably needs to be explored in the methane studies. This study also confirms the presence of polyamine alkaloids in *M. oleifera*, which is also in tandem with the earlier findings of Leone et al. (2016). Alkaloids have muscle relaxant, antioxidant, anticancer, antimicrobial, and amoebicidal properties (Kaur et al., 2015). Kaempferol has been widely used in treating cancer, cardiovascular diseases, metabolic complications, and neurological disorders (Hussain et al., 2022). Quercetin is another flavonoid with a wide variety of biological activities, such as antioxidant, broad-spectrum antibacterial, and antiparasitic properties, cardiovascular protection, anti-immunosuppression treatment, and reduce the toxicity of mycotoxins (Yang et al., 2020), while rutin has been reported as a strong antioxidant with cancer preventive properties (Satari et al., 2021). Chlorogenic acid has liver and kidney protective properties, antioxidant, anti-tumor, antibacterial, and antiinflammatory, as well as regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism (Wang et al., 2022).

RT (min)	Molecular Formula	Measured Mass (<i>m/z</i>)	Error <i>m/z</i> (ppm)	MS Fragment	UVmax (nm)	Compound	Classification of the Compounds	70%	85%	100%
9.29	$C_{16}H_{18}O_9$	353.0864	-2.5	191,179,135	325	neochlorogenic acid	Phenolic acid	203.93	205.09	198.07
10.85	$C_{16}H_{18}O_8$	337.0922	-0.3	191,173,163	305	3-p-coumaroylquinic acid	Phenolic acid	108.21	110.85	107.67
11.72	$C_{16}H_{18}O_9$	353.088	-1.4	191	325	chlorogenic acid	Phenolic acid	30.44	47.73	19.94
12.11	$C_{17}H_{20}O_9$	367.1014	-1.9	193,134	323	Feruloylquinic aci	Phenolic acid	39.14	0	0
12.57	$C_{39}H_{19}NO_7$	612.1063	-1	97	344	Alkaloid	Alkaloid	142.73	265.40	272.63
13.99	C ₂₇ H ₃₀ O ₁₅	593.1519	2.5	473,383,353,29 7	270,334	Kaempferol-3- <i>O</i> -rutinoside (isomer)	Flavonoid (<i>O</i> - glycosylated flavoinoid)	77.03	78.23	64.81
17.08	$C_{27}H_{30}O_{16}$	609.1464	-0.3	300,271,255	256,354	Rutin	Flavonoid	102.18	105.07	101.61
17.56	$C_{21}H_{20}O_{12}$	463.0873	-0.2	300,271,255	351	Quercetin-3-O-hexoside	Flavonoid (<i>O</i> - glycosylated flavoinoid)	94.24	94.18	89.58
18.36	$C_{23}H_{22}O_{13}$	505.0983	0.2	300,271,255	354	Quercetin-3- <i>O</i> -(6"- acetyl- glucoside	Flavonoid (<i>O</i> - glycosylated flavoinoid)	84.60	82.54	86.07
18.71	C ₂₇ H ₃₀ O ₁₅	593.151	-1.9	285,271,255	265,348	Kaempferol-3-O-rutinoside	Flavonoid (<i>O</i> - glycosylated flavoinoid)	79.98	82.57	85.09
19.18	$C_{21}H_{20}O_{11}$	448.0924	-0.7	285,255,227	265,348	Kaempferol-3-O-glucoside	Flavonoid (<i>O</i> - glycosylated flavoinoid)	146.74	146.99	157.28
20.31	C ₂₃ H ₂₂ O ₁₂	489.1047	3.5	285,255	265,348	Kaempferol-3-O-acetyl- glucoside	Flavonoid (<i>O</i> - glycosylated flavoinoid)	108.11	115.14	108.24

Table 2.4. Identification and mean abundance of phytochemicals (mg L^{-1}) in *Moringa oleifera* extracts using 70%, 85%, and 100% aqueous-methanol

RT = retention time

2.3.2.4 Piper betle

The phenolic profile of the P. betle leaf extract is presented in Table 2.5. In contrast to Jatropha curcas, the principal components of the phenolic compounds in the P. betle leaf extract identified in this study are phenolic acids with a few flavonoids. Phenolic acids consist of coumaric acid and its derivatives and compounds of caffeic acid, while the flavonoids are rutin and apigenin-7,4'-diglucoside. The relative metabolite concentrations (mg L^{-1}) of 100% methanol extraction were low for coumaric acid, 3-p-coumaroylquinic acid, dihydrocaffeic acid, and dihydrocoumaric acid while 70% and 85% methanol extractions recorded higher concentrations, indicating that these metabolites were relatively more water-soluble. On a contrary, rutin, apigenin, and methoxy-4-vinylphenol are relatively less water-soluble and had a higher concentration at 100% methanol extraction. Similar compounds were noted by Lee et al. (2015), who investigated the antimicrobial, antifungal, and antioxidant activities of the P. betle leaf. Rutin and coumaric acid (chavibetol) have been reported to be present in chloroform extracts of the P. betle leaf (Yazdani et al., 2013), while Purba and Paengkoum (2019) identified compounds, such as rutin, coumaric acid, caffeic acid, and apigenin in different solvent extracts of P. betle. Caffeic acid is abundant in coffee and tea with good antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, anticancer, and neuroprotective properties (Alam et al., 2022), while coumaric acid possesses bioactivities, such as antioxidant, antiinflammatory, analgesic, and antimicrobial, prevent liver damage and exhibit an amoebostatic activity against Entamoeba histolytica (Rubí et al., 2021).

DT (min)	Molecular	Measured	Error m/z	MS Encomont	IWmor (nm)	Compound	Classification of	700/	950/	1000/	
KI (IIIII)	Formula	Mass (m/z)	(ppm)	NIS Fragment	U v max (mm)	Compound	Compounds	70%	83%	100%	
7.45	CutturOur	357 0825	0.8	3/15 1.05	376	Dihydrocaffeic acid 3'-O-βD-	Phenolic acid	3/1 36	54 73	11 62	
7.45	C151118O10	337.0023	0.0	545,175	520	glucuronide	Thenone dela	54.50	54.75	4.02	
8 35	$C_{15}H_{10}O_{10}$	357 0829	2.0	195 129 75	325	Dihydrocaffeic acid 4'-O-βD-	Phenolic acid	25 14	27 52	21.13	
0.55	C151118O10	337.0027	2.0	175,129,75	525	glucuronide	Thenone dela	23.14	21.32	21.13	
9.91	$C_{15}H_{10}O_{0}$	341 0859	0.6	195 163 119	312	Dihydro- <i>m</i> -coumaric acid 3'-O-	Phenolic acid	98.09	101 57	88 52	
9.91	015111809	541.0057	0.0	β - <i>D</i> -glucuronide		Thenone dela	90.09	101.57	00.52		
10 39	C_{1}	15H10Ω0 341 0862	C ₁₅ H ₁₈ O ₉ 341.0862	$C_{15}H_{18}O_{9} = 341.0862 = -3.2$	195 163	308	Dihydro- <i>p</i> -coumaric acid 4'-O-	Phenolic acid	52.65	50.67	30.85
10.57	10.37 C15111809		5.2	175.105	500	β - <i>D</i> -glucuronide	Thenone dela	52.05	50.07	50.05	
13.72	$C_{16}H_{18}O_8$	337.0925	-0.3	191,173,163	305	3- <i>p</i> -coumaroylquinic acid	Phenolic acid	96.74	106.49	91.72	
14.05	$C_9H_8O_3$	163.04	-0.5	163	339	Coumaric acid	Phenolic acid	155.02	190.66	12.17	
15.03	$C_{16}H_{18}O_8$	337.0929	1.8	191,173,163	305	3-p-coumaroylquinic	Phenolic acid	128.56	129.21	105.34	
15 51	$C_{27}H_{20}O_{16}$	609 1448	18	489,429,357,	348	Rutin	Flavonoid	73 76	98 27	103 70	
10.01	02/1130010	00,11,110	1.0	327,309	510		The officia	10110	<i>y</i> 0.27	100170	
							Flavonoid (O-				
16.42	$C_{27}H_{30}O_{15}$	593.1487	487 -1.7	413,293	268,334	Apigenin-7,4'-diglucoside	glycosylated	83.36	118.99	128.32	
							flavoinoid)				
22.12	$C_{9}H_{10}O_{2}$	149.0603				2-Methoxy-4-vinylphenol	Phenolic acid	675.93	775.91	814.11	

Table 2.5. Identification and mean abundance of phytochemicals (mg L^{-1}) in the *Piper betle* extracts using 70%, 85%, and 100% aqueous methanol

RT = retention time.

2.3.3 In vitro organic matter fermentation

This section evaluated the antimethanogenic potentials of three different combinations (70, 85, and 100%) of two extractive solvents (CH₃OH and H₂O) of A. vera, J. curcas, M. oleifera, and P. betle on Eragrostis curvula hay. The substrate, E. curvula hay, used in this study had 92% DM while crude protein, ash, and ether extract, respectively, contained 5.12, 9.1, and 1.3% of DM. The NDF, ADF, and ADL contents were 75.5, 44.5, and 8.1% of DM, respectively. The high content of NDF, ADF, and ADL in the feed causes an increase in the amount of methane (CH₄) formed in the rumen fermentation. The CH₄ emission, total gas production, and organic matter digestibility of E. curvula hay are presented in Table 2.6, while the principal component analysis (PCA) of the CH₄ emission, total gas production, and organic matter digestibility of E. curvula hay fermented with crude plant extracts of A. vera, J. curcas, M. oleifera, and P. betle are presented in Figure 2.1 while the correlation results are illustrated in Table 2.7. The plant extracts reduced (p < 0.05) in vitro the methane production in the tested hay. Aloe vera, Jatropha curcas, Moringa oleifera, and Piper betle reduced the methane emission by 6.37-7.55%, 8.02-11.56%, 12.26-12.97, and 5.66-7.78, respectively, compared to the control treatment. However, the extraction solvents did not affect the antimethanogenic efficacy, gas production, and organic matter digestibility of the crude plant extracts. The aqueous-methanolic extractive solvents were observed to increase (p < 0.05) the crude extract yields of the test leaves, compared to the pure methanolic extraction (Table 2.1); however, these yields did not affect the methane-reducing potentials of the leaf extracts. This may be due to the little variation in the physical and chemical activities of the two combined solvents (CH₃OH and H₂O). The use of different solvents to obtain extracts in plants increased the variation in bioactive compounds in the crude extracts, compared to the proportionate mixing of the two solvents (Math et al., 2011). According to Sabandar et al. (2013), the variation in the antimicrobial activity of the J. unicostata extract was higher between the solvents chloroform and methanol, compared to their proportionate combinations. The little intra-variation in the solvent properties, the little/no difference in the concentration of the methane-reducing metabolites, and the patterns in which the metabolites in the crude plant extracts affect fermentation could probably be responsible for the nonsignificant variation in the methane production between extraction solvents. For example, in the PCAs of A. vera (Figure 2.1A), aloin A, aloin B, and kaempferol were metabolites associated with the CH₄ reduction. The 70% methanol extraction of Aloe vera had a higher concentration of kaempferol but a lower concentration of aloin A and aloin B, while the 85%



and 100% methanol extractions had a higher concentration of aloin A and aloin B, but lower kaempferol (Table 2.2). In J. curcas (Figure 2.1B), catechin, apigenin, kaempferol, vitexin-7olate, and isovitexin-7-olate were more associated with methane reduction in the 70% methanol extraction, while epicatechin, tryptophan, procyanidin dimer B1, and procyanidin trimer C2 were more associated with methane reduction in 85% and 100% methanol extraction. Furthermore, the differences in the concentrations (Table 2.3) of catechin, vitexin-7-olate, isovitexin-7olate, apigenin, kaempferol, and procyanidin dimer B1 in the crude plant extracts of J. curcas, were very small and not affected by the extraction solvents. In M. oleifera (Figure 2.1C), kaempferol, quercetin, rutin, neochlorogenic acid, and 3-pcoumaroylquinic acid had more associative effects for the CH₄ reduction in the 85% and 100% methanol extractions while alkaloid was more associated with the CH₄ reduction in the 70% methanol extraction. In addition, the percentage difference in the concentrations of these antimethagenic metabolites (Table 2.4) in the crude plant extracts was little and not influenced by the extraction solvents. In P. betle (Figure 2.1D), apigenin, rutin, and 2metoxy-4-vinylphenol were more associated with the CH₄ reduction in 100% methanol extraction while 3-p-coumaroylquinic acid, dihydroxycaffeic acid, and dihydroxycoumaric acid were more associated with CH₄ mitigation in the 70% and 85% methanol extractions. While the concentrations of rutin, apigenin-7,4'-diglucoside, and 2-metoxy-4-vinylphenol were low in the crude plant extract with the 70% methanol extraction, this could probably be balanced with other methane-reducing metabolites which were relatively higher in concentration. These associations of the metabolites with methane inhibition are further corroborated by the correlation results (Table 2.7). The primary objective of identifying the metabolites in the crude plants' extracts is to establish or validate their antimethanogenic potentials. Some of the metabolites of A. vera, J. curcas, M. oleifera, and P. betle extracts identified in this study have been reported to possess antimicrobial activities with good antimethanogenic properties. The presence of alkaloids, flavonoids, and phenols in plant extracts had been attributable to reducing the enteric methane in ruminants (Agidigbi et al., 2014; Akanmu et al., 2018). Furthermore, alkaloids, due to their bitter taste (Gautam et al., 2007; Ojiako, 2014) in moringa, could create an undesirable condition for some ruminal microbes. Flavonoids have been evaluated for rumen methanogenesis (Patra & Saxena, 2010). Oskoueian et al. (2013) reported that the inclusion of flavone, myricetin, naringin, rutin, quercetin, or kaempferol decreased the *in vitro* methane emission by 5 to 9 mL g⁻¹ DM



while catechin reduced methane production both in vitro (Becker et al., 2014) and in vivo (Aemiro et al., 2016). All the flavonoids, when fed at 0.2 g kg⁻¹ DM, noticeably decreased the relative abundances of the hydrogenotrophic methanogens. Flavonoids have been reported to directly suppress methanogens (Oskoueian et al., 2013; Seradj et al., 2014) and also likely act as H₂ sinks via the cleavage of the ring structures (e.g., catechin) and the reductive dihydroxylation (Becker et al., 2014). The anthraquinones and flavonoids (Kedarnath et al., 2012) in A. vera had been reported to exhibit strong antimicrobial activities against bacteria and fungi, while an early study revealed that acetone and methanolic extraction of aloe (Sirohi et al., 2009) and the pure methanolic extraction of aloe (Akanmu & Hassen, 2018), reduced in vitro the methane production. The aqueous extraction of P. betle showed the presence of alkaloids, phenolic compounds, and alcoholic compounds with a good antimicrobial function (Pin et al., 2010) and effective inhibitory action against microorganisms (Dwivedi et al., 2014). According to Santra et al. (2012), the ethanolic extracts of J. gossipifolia reduced in vitro methane production by 31% and also inhibited the growth of the rumen protozoal population, due to the presence of phenolic compounds in the extracts. The antimethanogenic property of 3-p-coumaroylquinic acid, dihydroxycaffeic acid, and dihydroxycoumaric acid had been previously reported in compounds with similar chemical activities, such as cinnamic acid, caffeic acid, and coumaric acid, respectively (Jin et al., 2020). The use of 2mM of cinnamic acid, caffeic acid, and coumaric acid decreased the *in vitro* methane production without reducing the organic matter digestion (Jin et al., 2020), while the use of caffeic acid reduced the *in vitro* methane production (Jayanegara, 2009). The reduction in enteric methane (p < 0.05) observed in this study for all of the treatment plant extracts is consistent with previous findings (Akanmu & Hassen, 2018), except for P. betle, which increased methane in a previous study (Akanmu & Hassen, 2018) against the reduction (p < 0.05), observed in this study. Plant extracts have a complex blend of bioactive components with many variations in their composition, due to biological factors, production techniques, and storage conditions (Ojiako, 2014), while parameters that affect the efficacy of the plant extracts are genetic variations of the plant, the age of the plant, dosage, extraction technique, harvest time, and compatibility with other ingredients (Gautam et al., 2007). All these conditions will probably impose variations on the parameters of interest.

Extract (50 mg l_{ro}^{-1} DM)	CH4	TCD mL a^{-1} DM	$CII 4/TCD (> 10^{-3})$	$WOMD$ (a $la^{-1}DM$)	TGP/IVOMD (mL	CH4/IVOMD (mL
Extract (30 mg kg DM)	$\frac{(mL g^{-1} DM)}{(mL g^{-1} DM)}$		CH4/10P (×10)	IVOMD (g kg DNI)	$kg^{-1} DM$)	kg^{-1} DM)
Control	4.24 ^A	166.50 ^B	25.64 ^A	608.41	273.97	6.96 ^A
Aloe vera 70%	3.97 ^B	170.49 ^A	23.39 ^B	607.40	280.91	6.54 ^B
Aloe vera 85%	3.92^{B}	167.73 ^{AB}	23.49 ^B	608.43	275.44	6.44 ^B
Aloe vera 100%	3.94 ^B	167.72^{AB}	23.68 ^B	604.08	277.10	6.53 ^B
SEM	0.05	1.10	0.41	10.39	3.82	0.12
<i>p</i> -value	0.01	0.04	0.01	0.97	0.35	0.04
Control	4.24 ^A	166.50	25.64 ^A	608.41	273.97	6.96 ^A
Jatropha curcas 70%	3.79 ^B	169.93	22.52 ^B	616.17	275.20	6.15 ^B
Jatropha curcas 85%	3.90 ^B	172.30	22.78^{B}	604.03	284.89	6.45 ^B
Jatropha curcas 100%	3.75 ^B	164.91	22.95 ^B	608.37	271.01	6.16 ^B
SEM	0.14	2.78	0.45	9.79	8.32	0.13
<i>p</i> -value	0.04	0.13	0.003	0.63	0.41	0.04
Control	4.24 ^A	166.50	25.64 ^A	608.41	273.97	6.96 ^A
Moringa oleifera 70%	3.70 ^B	165.46	22.69 ^B	608.67	271.95	6.09 ^B
Moringa oleifera 85%	3.71 ^B	165.23	22.73 ^B	613.33	269.55	6.07^{B}
Moringa oleifera100%	3.69 ^B	165.65	22.55 ^B	613.00	270.02	6.02 ^B
SEM	0.08	2.42	0.38	6.40	2.41	0.12
<i>p</i> -value	0.002	0.95	0.001	0.87	0.35	0.001
Control	4.24 ^A	166.50	25.64 ^A	608.41	273.97	6.96 ^A
Piper betle 70%	3.97 ^B	168.42	23.65 ^B	614.72	274.19	6.47^{B}
Piper betle 85%	4.00^{B}	171.89	23.41 ^B	609.29	282.45	6.57 ^B
Piper betle 100%	3.91 ^B	166.36	23.66 ^B	613.97	270.92	6.37 ^B
SEM	0.06	2.18	0.43	6.08	3.87	0.09
<i>p</i> -value	0.03	0.15	0.01	0.74	0.09	0.02

Table 2.6. Methane, TGP, IVOMD and their relative estimation on Eragrostis hay, as affected by the plant extract yields of three different % solvent CH₃OH:H₂O (70, 85, and 100%) combinations

SEM: standard error of mean, CH₄: methane TGP: total gas production, IVOMD: in vitro organic matter digestibility. A-C: The letters compare the means of extraction solvents for each plant species. The means with different letters within the column are significantly different (p < 0.05).



Component 2 (3.24)





(B)





(D)

Figure 2.1. Principal component analysis plot 1 vs. plot 2 of all fermentation parameters of *Eragrostis curvula* hay fermented with three different aqueous-methanol (70, 85, and 100%) extractions of *Aloe vera* (A), *Jatropha curcas* (B), *Moringa oleifera* (C), and *Piper betle* (D) leaf extracts (letters in the figures interpreted in Table 2.7)



Table 2.7. Correlation showing the effects of extraction solvents, extract yields and phytochemicals of plant extracts on CH₄ emission, TGP, and IVOMD of *Eragrostis curvula* hay

Variable/metabolites	%CH ₄ -Re	TGP	CH ₄ /TGP	OMD	TGP/OMD	CH ₄ /OMD	EY
%CH ₄ -Re (percentage methane	1						
reduction)	1						
TGP (total gas production)	.544	1					
CH ₄ /TGP	980**	698	1				
OMD (organic matter digestibility)	385	071	.344	1			
TGP/OMD	.537	.973*	686	283	1		
CH ₄ /OMD	997**	538	$.977^{*}$.316	514	1	
Extract Yield (EY)	750	.997*	815	.368	.927	.506	1
Aloe vera (Alo)							
Aloin A (AA)	.930*	.205	841	487	.226	924*	992*
Aloin B (AB)	$.900^{*}$.128	798	477	.149	895	990*
Aloe emodin (AE)	.815	041	685	461	018	811	990*
Aloesin (Alos)	.771	104	633	516	063	762	999*
Caffeoyl ester of aloesin (Ce)	.698	213	546	494	170	691	999*
3-p-coumaroylquinic acid (Ci)	.769	.681	816	.262	.538	807	.470
Hydroxyaloin A (HA)	.693	987	.861	444	893	433	997*
Hydroxyaloin B (HB)	.654	246	499	591	174	637	995*
Kaempferol hexoside	.901*	.845	967*	193	.805	904*	.943
Nataloin A (NA)	.677	239	521	502	193	668	999*
Nataloin B (NB)	.678	237	522	509	189	669	1.00**
Jatropha curcas (Jat)							
Apigenin (Api)	$.960^{*}$.386	995**	.133	.249	935*	.788
Catechin (Ca)	.964*	.342	985**	.085	.230	932*	996*
Epicatechin (Epi)	.935*	.220	923*	084	.193	883	980
Kaempferol hexoside	$.955^{*}$.406	994**	.304	.198	952*	.788
Procyanidin dimer B1 (PDB1)	$.957^{*}$.325	975*	.035	.235	920*	975
Procyanidin dimer B2 (PDB2)	.809	.211	810	345	.295	729	847
Procyanidin trimer C1 (PTC1)	.716	.086	687	470	.239	623	889
Procyanidin trimer C2 (PTC2)	.923*	.309	940*	095	.275	870	864
Tryptophan (Try)	$.960^{*}$.311	973*	.038	.222	923*	994*
Vitexin-7-olate (V)	$.960^{*}$.372	99 1 ^{**}	.104	.248	931 [*]	995*
Isovitexi-7-olate (Ivi)	.963*	.367	992**	.116	.240	935*	594
Moringa oleifera (Mor)							
Alkaloids (A)	.979*	943*	977*	.458	756	971 [*]	.997*
chlorogenic acid (Cl)	.793	956*	791	.669	797	795	.140
3- <i>p</i> -coumaroylquinic acid (Ci)	.998**	958*	997**	.612	864	997**	083
Feruloylquinic acid (F)	.325	301	318	530	.191	288	.961
Kaempferol (K)	.998**	955*	998**	.616	867	998**	534
neochlorogenic acid (N)	.997**	959*	997**	.597	854	996**	.605
Quercetin (Q)	.998**	952*	998**	.590	851	997**	.999*
Rutin (R)	.997**	959 [*]	997**	.613	865	997**	088



Table 2.7 Cont'd. Correlation showing the effects of extraction solvents, extract yields and phytochemicals of plant extracts on CH₄ emission, TGP, and IVOMD of *Eragrostis curvula* hay.

Piper betle (Pip)							
Apigenin	.944*	.495	948*	.516	.195	916*	911
chlorogenic acid (Cl)	.629	.831	842	.314	.617	592	.854
3-p-coumaroylquinic acid (Ci)	.918*	.626	995**	.588	.315	893	.772
Coumaric acid (Cu)	.389	.894	668	.078	.767	344	.817
Dihydrocaffeic acid (Dca)	.893	.692	986**	.440	.408	855	170
Dihydrocoumaric acid (Dcu)	.892	.646	985**	.581	.340	869	.894
Methoxy-4-vinylphenol (Met)	$.972^{*}$.506	986**	.612	.184	951 [*]	939
Rutin (R)	$.954^{*}$.510	966*	.543	.203	927*	900

*correlated at p<0.05, **correlated at p<0.01

2.4 Conclusions

The crude extract yields of the four plant leaves used in this study increased with an increase in the amount of distilled water in the extraction solvents, as a replacement for methanol. M. oleifera crude extracts yields (g/10 g) increased from 3.24 to 3.92, A. vera, (2.35 to 3.11) J. curcas (1.77 to 2.26), and P. betle (2.42 to 3.53). However, the identified metabolites showed differing degrees of solubility unique to their plant leaves while most of the metabolite yields were unaffected by the extraction solvents. Although the A. vera, J. curcas, M. oleifera, and *P. betle* leaf extracts reduced the *in vitro* methane gas emission at the dosage of 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM of E. curvula hay, decreasing the methane emission by 6.37-7.55%, 8.02-11.56%, 12.26–12.97, and 5.66–7.78, respectively, compared to the control treatment, the extraction solvents did not affect their methane reducing potential, total gas production, and organic matter digestibility. Furthermore, aloin A, aloin B, and kaempferol (in A. vera), apigenin, catechin, epicatechin, kaempferol, tryptophan, procyanidins, vitexin-7-olate, and isovitexin-70late (in J. curcas), alkaloid, kaempferol, quercetin, rutin and neochlorogenic acid (in M. oleifera) and apigenin-7,4'-diglucoside, 3-p-coumaroylquinic acid, rutin, 2-methoxy-4vinylphenol, dihydrocaffeic acid, and dihydrocoumaric acid (in P. betle) exhibited the methane reducing potential and hence, are promising plant secondary metabolites for methane inhibition.



CHAPTER THREE

Characterization and *in vitro* methane inhibition of *Aloe vera* and *Moringa oleifera* plant extracts encapsulated with alginate or alginate-chitosan wall materials

Abstract

The methane-reducing potential of Aloe vera and Moringa oleifera extracts still necessitates further investigations due to the bitter taste of the extracts and the loss of efficacy over time. Encapsulation of plant bioactive compounds with an inert material will assist to reduce the bitter effects of plants' phytochemicals like alkaloids, and flavonoids, to improve particle density and particle distribution and to facilitate better delivery of bioactive compounds in the rumen medium. Alginate is a good encapsulant (or a wall material) commonly used mainly for encapsulation due to its biocompatibility and low density, among other factors. This study was conducted in two phases. In the first phase of this study, A. vera and M. oleifera plant extracts were encapsulated with alginate or alginate and chitosan and evaluated in terms of microscopic morphological characteristics and particle density. Whereas in the second phase, using in vitro gas production studies the potential of A. vera and M. oleifera plant extracts encapsulated or non-encapsulated products were evaluated as dietary additives to inhibit in vitro methane production from Eragrostis curvula hay substrate. In the first study, electron microscope scanning of the freeze-dried alginate or alginate encapsulated plant extracts of A. vera and M. oleifera revealed morphologically spongy and skin-like appearances while the electron microscope of chitosan revealed scatter particle distribution of different sizes with irregular shape. A change in particle density was recorded for the encapsulated plant extract products compared to the non-encapsulated product due to the inclusion of alginate or alginate-chitosan wall material. The particle density for the encapsulated products range from 4.94 g/10 mL (recorded in alginate) to 8.71 g/10 mL (recorded in chitosan). In the *in vitro* gas production study, the inclusion of both the encapsulated and non-encapsulated plant extract of A. vera or M. oleifera additives significantly (p < 0.05) reduced methane emissions compared to the control group. No adverse effect was observed due to the inclusion of the wall materials in terms of in vitro organic matter digestibility and total gas production. However, the encapsulated A vera plant extracts resulted in a higher methane inhibition of 30.72% (for alginate-extract encapsulated) and 23.09% (for alginate-extract-chitosan encapsulated) against 17.55% reduction recorded for the raw extracts. Similarly, the



encapsulated *M. oleifera* plant extracts inhibited methane by 30.02% (alginate-extract encapsulated) and 30.48% (alginate-extract-chitosan encapsulated) against 19.4% recorded for in *M. oleifera* raw extracts. It is observed that alginate and chitosan also had methane-reducing effects when tested as additives without the plant extracts. However, the differences in particle densities of the micro-particles from the encapsulated and non-encapsulated plant extract additives did not affect their methane inhibition. Thus the wall materials (alginate or alginate-chitosan) generally improved the *in vitro* methane inhibition of encapsulated plant extracts mainly by intensifying the inhibition of methane directly and indirectly by improving the distribution of bioactive compounds in the rumen for effective delivery to the target rumen methanogens. Bioactive compounds like alkaloid, coumaric acid, kaempferol, neochlorogenic acid, quercetin, and rutin (in *M. oleifera*), and aloin A, aloin B, aloesin and aloe-emodin (in *A. vera*) were associated with the reduction in methane emission. *In vivo* animal evaluation studies are recommended to validate the methane inhibition efficacy of the encapsulated plant extract products and their effect on animal performance and the quality of the target animal product.

Keywords: A. vera, M. oleifera, encapsulation, morphology, density, phytochemicals, in vitro

3.1 Introduction

Reducing enteric methane emission in ruminants presents two major merits: firstly, it provides a climate-smart atmosphere (Lassey, 2008; Benchaar et al., 2011), and secondly, increasing the efficiency of production in livestock systems, especially those that include ruminants. The conditions within the rumen are favorable for hydrogenotrophic methanogens (Methanobrevibacter, Methanomicrobium, Methanosphaera, Methanosarcina, Methanobacterium, and rumen cluster C) that reduce CO₂ with metabolic H₂ produced (87–90% in the rumen) during anaerobic fermentation of glucose, which results in the synthesis of CH₄ (Hill et al., 2016; Mirzaei-Aghsaghali et al., 2016). Over the last decade, strategies have been put in place to intensively reduce methane emissions by several research groups. These strategies include the inoculation of exogenous bacterial strains (Lee et al., 2013), vaccine development, biological control, prebiotics, probiotics (Takahashi, 2014), defaunation (protozoa or methanogens), and the identification of natural compounds in plants used as feed



additives (Patra, 2013; Akanmu & Hassen, 2018). Dietary manipulation in ruminants is important because the ruminant's diet has a strong influence on methane emission (Wallace et al., 2014; Broucek, 2018); therefore, in the last decade, more intensive research on natural compounds for livestock has increased intending to reduce rumen CH₄ without negatively affecting rumen fermentation and energy utilization mainly on *in vitro* trials (Bodas et al., 2008; Patra et al., 2011). The conditions for using natural compounds are that they should be safe for use in animals and humans, be effective in the long-term with different feedstuffs, have a low cost to mitigate emissions in ruminants, and increase productivity in the livestock system (Jiménez-Ocampo et al., 2019).

The efficacy of plants' extracts could be enhanced by the use of wall materials which probably provide multiple benefits such as protective roles to bioactive compounds in the extracts when used as wall material, overcoming bitter test of some of the bioactive compounds, slow release of the bioactive compounds, ease of administration as part of the feed mixing and in certain cases an additional benefit of methane inhibition due to the inherent characteristics of the wall material. This protection has been used to enhance action duration and reportedly provided a controlled release for tannin-based additives (Adejoro & Hassen, 2018). Recent studies have suggested that encapsulation techniques/use of wall materials may help mask or reduce the negative bitter effects associated with plants' phytochemicals like tannins in the feed or food industry (Adejoro & Hassen, 2018). This may be the reason why Akanmu & Hassen (2018) recommended that plant extracts such as *Aloe vera* and *Moringa oleifera* be encapsulated for ease of administration by farmers to ruminant animals. This may help to avoid the stress associated with drenching ruminants while using liquid extracts to reduce methane emissions.

Alginate (or hydrogel) is a wall material widely used in the food and drug industries. It has numerous benefits as it possesses attributes such as bio-compatibility, low density, ease of production, non-toxicity, and chemical and thermal stability (Belšćak-Cvitanović et al., 2011; Rijo et al., 2014; Asbahani et al., 2015; Hecht et al., 2016). Heavier particle-density compounds are likely to settle down in the rumen fluid and possibly have limited mobility, leading to uneven distribution of metabolite (Golchin-Gelehdooni, 2011; Moyo & Nsahlai, 2018). The low density of alginate if used as wall material could probably help to increase particle mobility and better delivery of metabolites to the target sites in the rumen. Chitosan is a non-toxic material with antimicrobial activity and also possesses antimethanogenic



properties (Jiménez-Ocampo et al., 2019). It is reported to have a moderate to strong enteric methane mitigating potential (Goiri et al., 2010) and decreased rumen protozoa population (Jiménez-Ocampo et al., 2019). While crude extracts from a medicinal plant may likely target rumen methanogens (Islam et al., 2019) and/or possibly ciliate protozoa, chitosan inhibition effects are more related to reducing protozoa associated with methanogens (Jiménez-Ocampo et al., 2019), and/or by acting as an alternative H₂ sink (Goiri et al., 2010), as they redirect the utilization of H₂ to biohydrogenation process thereby limiting its supply for methanogenesis. Also, chitosan has been described as a good delivery material for food and drug (Li et al., 2018) while the polyphenolic antioxidant of medicinal plants has been enhanced with alginate-chitosan encapsulation (Belšćak-Cvitanović et al., 2011). Hence, the combination of medicinal plant extracts and chitosan are most likely will have an additive effect or a synergy in the inhibition of enteric methane production.

In some previous studies (Akanmu & Hassen, 2018; Ibrahim et al., 2022), the methanolic extraction of *A. vera* and *M. oleifera* leaves exhibited good antimethanogenic properties but the use of wall material to help increase particle mobility and longer residence time in the rumen medium for better delivery of metabolites to the target rumen microbes becomes an area of research interest that received little attention. Therefore, the current study was conducted to evaluate the morphological attributes, particle density, and methane inhibition potential of chitosan, and alginate-chitosan wall material used to encapsulate *A. vera* and *M. oleifera* extracts. It is hypothesized that the particle density and methane inhibition of alginate or alginate-chitosan as wall material.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Study site and research ethics

The study was carried out in the Nutrilab of the Department of Animal Sciences, University of Pretoria, Pretoria South Africa, following its ethical approval (NAS336/2019).

3.2.2 Plant collection, extraction procedure, phytochemical identification, and quantification

Fully matured *A. vera* (Taxon A) leaves were harvested and imported from Nigeria with the permit number (P0095290) while the *M. oleifera* (A11NA) leaves were collected fresh from multiple plants at a farm in Pretoria North, South Africa. The leaves were freeze-dried for 96 h and stored in plastic bags. The *A. vera* and *M. oleifera* leaf extracts were obtained with



aqueous methanol using the maceration method (Ibrahim et al., 2022). Dried samples of each plant leaf were milled through a 1 mm sieve and extracted by dissolving 10 g of milled dried leaf material into a 300 mL extraction bottle containing 200 mL (1:20 w/v) aqueous methanol ($30\%H_2O:70\%CH_3OH$). The bottles were placed into an Incoshake and agitated at 130 rpm and 20°C for 96 h. The extracts were filtered by squeezing through a sieve with a 150 µm aperture. The filtrates were placed in a fume cubicle for 24 h until partially dried. The semi-dried extracts were freeze-dried for 72 h and stored in plastic bottles at 4°C until further use. The phytochemical identification and quantification of metabolites used in the computation of principal component analysis (Figure 5) were obtained following approved procedures (Tsugawa et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2020). The metabolites data used to compute the principal component analysis (PCA) in this study was obtained from a parallel study that used the same extraction and was reported in a previously published study (Ibrahim et al., 2022).

3.2.3 Chemicals, preparation of alginate and freeze-dried encapsulated plant extracts

Low-viscosity sodium alginate and Chitosan (molecular weight: 100,000–300,000) were obtained from Acros organic (New Jersey, USA). Alginate-extract beads were produced following the methods described by Rijo et al. (2014) with some modifications. Briefly, 1 g of sodium alginate powder was dissolved in 100 mL of distilled water contained in a 300 mL beaker and properly homogenised. 0.4 g of dried chitosan was added to the mixture and further homogenised. 1 g of dried crude extracts was added to the mixture and thoroughly mixed to obtain an alginate-chitosan-extract (at a ratio of 2.5:1:2.5) solution. The formed encapsulated mixtures were thoroughly mixed. Another encapsulated mixture was also produced with sodium alginate and plant extracts at a ratio of 1:1. The two forms of encapsulated mixtures produced (alginate-extracts and alginate-chitosan-extract mixtures) were frozen at - 80°C for 12 h before freeze-drying (- 50 °C at a pressure of 1.1 Pa) for 4 days (GAMMA Martin Christ, GmbH, Osterode am Harz, Germany). The freeze-dried encapsulates were properly stored in sterile sample bottles at 4°C pending further analysis.

3.2.4 Morphological characterisation of alginate-chitosan encapsulated A. vera and M. oleifera micro-particles using scanning electron microscopy

The morphology of micro-particles was evaluated by scanning with an electron microscope (Aylor et al., 2009). Freeze-dried beads each of empty alginate, alginate-extract, and alginate-chitosan-extract of *A. vera* and *M. oleifera* plants were mounted on a slide with double-sided


tape and coated with carbon before sputtering with gold under an argon atmosphere using an Emitech K950X (Ashford, UK) vacuum carbon evaporator. The structure of gold-sputtered encapsulates was then viewed for their micro-particles under a Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope (FE-SEM), ZEISS ULTRA PLUS (JEOL, Tokyo, Japan).

3.2.5 Particle density determination for alginate, chitosan, raw, and encapsulated plant extracts

The weight of an empty 2 ml vial was measured and recorded. Later, distilled water was filled into the 2 ml vial and the weight was also measured and recorded as a standard reference to evaluate the density of each variable. The milled powder of each material was carefully filled into the 2 ml space vial and the weight was measured. The formula d=(m-a)/(v-a) was used to estimate the particle density of each variable. Where 'd' is the particle density, 'a' is the weight of the empty vial, 'm' is the weight of each variable plus the empty vial and 'v' is the weight of distilled water representing the space volume of the vial plus the weight of the empty vial. Measurements were carried out five different times to get an average value and recorded in milligrams. The obtained values were then converted to g 10 mL⁻¹. The results are presented in Figure 3.2.

3.2.6 Buffer mineral solution, rumen fluid collection, and in vitro gas study

In vitro gas production studies were carried out in line with the procedure of Menke et al. (1979), with the modifications detailed (Adejoro & Hassen, 2018). The buffer mineral solution was prepared and preserved in a water bath at 39°C and continuously purged with CO₂ until the solution turned colourless. Rumen fluid was taken from three rumen-cannulated Holstein breeds of cattle fed Lucerne hay (*Medicago sativa*) ad libitum. 40 mL of prepared solution of rumen fluid was used to incubate 400 mg of *Eragrostis curvula hay* in a 150 mL serum bottle in triplicates and four different runs (biological replicates) were conducted. Gas pressure was taken at 2, 4, 8, 12, 24, and 48 h after the commencement of incubation, while gas samples were taken inside Hamilton syringes for the analysis of methane concentration. Three blanks were included to correct the methane produced from the inoculum in each run. Methane concentration was analysed with gas chromatography (8610C BTU Gas Analyser GC System; SRI Instruments GmbH, Bad Honnef, Germany). The GC was pre-equipped with a solenoid column, packed with silica gel and a flame ionization detector (FID). Methane concentration values were related to the total gas production in order to estimate its



concentration. Methane concentration was subsequently converted to mass values (Adejoro and Hassen, 2018). *E. curvula* hay of known chemical composition was used as substrate and incubated with the *A. vera* and *M. oleifera* crude extracts, alginate, chitosan, and encapsulated extracts of *A. vera* and *M. oleifera* each at 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM. For the control treatment, an equal amount of distilled water was added without plant extracts.

3.2.7 Evaluation of in vitro organic matter digestibility

The *in vitro* organic matter digestibility of *A. vera* and *M. oleifera* crude extracts, alginate, chitosan, and encapsulated extracts of *A. vera* and *M. oleifera* each at 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM were evaluated as additives to *E. curvula* hay substrate as previously described (Akanmu and Hassen, 2018). Briefly, the first phase consisted of 48 h rumen degradation and was followed immediately by an additional 48 h acid-pepsin digestion phase. During the first phase, 200 mg of feed samples were incubated in triplicate under anaerobic conditions with 20 ml of rumen liquor for 48 h at 39°C with the inclusion of blanks and standards in every batch of incubation. This was followed by a 48 h acid-pepsin digestion phase at 39°C under anaerobic conditions. Following the 96 h incubation, the residual plant materials were collected and oven-dried at 105°C for 18h. The ash contents were evaluated by combustion in a muffle furnace at 250°C for 2 h and later at 600°C for 4 h and *in vitro* organic matter digested was estimated.

3.2.8 Chemical analyses

The test substrate feed sample, *E. curvula* hay, was analysed for dry matter (DM) and total ash following standard procedures (Thiex et al., 2012). The ether extract was determined using ether extraction in the Tecator Soxtec (HT6) system (McCormick, 2014). Neutral detergent fibre (NDF), acid detergent fibre (ADF), and acid detergent lignin (ADL) contents were determined using an ANKOM200/220 fibre analyser (ANKOM Technology, Fairport, NY, USA) as described (Van Soest et al., 1991), nitrogen (Sáez-Plaza et al., 2013) (FP2000 Nitrogen/Protein Analyser, Leco Instrumente GmbH, Kirchheim, Germany), and the crude protein was obtained by multiplying nitrogen by 6.25.

3.2.9 Statistical analyses

The *in vitro* organic matter digestibility and gas production study were statistically analysed, individual bottles within each run served as analytical replicates while each run represented a statistical replicate. Data were analysed using the GLM procedure in SPSS software (version



20); with the model: Yij = μ + Bi + Tj + eij. Where, Yij= mean of individual observation (gas production), μ = overall mean, Bi = block effect (replicate), Tj = treatment effect, and eij= residual error. The means comparisons were done using the Tukey test and significance was declared at p < 0.05. The principal component analysis was carried out using the PAST 4 software, version 4.11.

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Characterisation of alginate or alginate-chitosan encapsulated plant extracts

The results of scanning electron microscope (SEM) examination of micro-particles in chitosan, alginate, alginate-extract, and alginate-chitosan-extract beads are presented in Figure 3.1, while the particle densities of alginate, chitosan, non-encapsulated (raw) and encapsulated plant extracts are shown in Figure 3.2. The density of the particles of antimethanogenic plant extracts and biologically active compounds constituting it may have an effect on residence time in the rumen (Golchin-Gelehdooni, 2011; Moyo and Nsahlai, 2018) and most likely their methane-modulating properties. The physical properties of the primary structure of freeze-dried alginate beads range from clusters of masses with some visible pores in the empty alginate beads; to spongy and skin-like layers in the beadcontaining extracts of A. vera and M. oleifera. The micro-particle morphology of the beadcontaining extracts of A. vera and M. oleifera revealed the presence of micro-particles held together by and within a skin-layer mass. Na-alginate is the sodium of a natural amylose carbohydrate distilled from alga (Draget et al., 2005) with the empirical formula $(C_6H_7O_6N_a)n$ (Rofifah, 2020). The spongy-like agglomeration of particles observed in this study had almost similar looks to the findings of Isailović et al. (2012) and Lević et al. (2015) when Pterospartum tridentatum and flavour (D-limonene) were respectively encapsulated in Ca-alginate produced by electrostatic extrusion and also Istenič et al. (2015) who encapsulated resveratrol (3, 4', 5 trihydroxystilbene) into Ca-alginate. This study intended to explore the antimethanogenic properties of chitosan as well as the low density of alginate to increase methane inhibition in ruminants. Particle density analysis revealed that alginate had the lowest particle density, followed by the non-encapsulated plant extracts while the highest particle density was noted in chitosan. The lower density of the alginate encapsulated plant extracts compared to non-encapsulated (raw) plant extracts is likely attributable to the alginate wall materials, hence, making the particles of encapsulated plant extracts lighter. This could probably help to increase the mobility of the micro-particles of the encapsulated



plant extracts in the lower liquid phase of the ruminal medium and improve the flow of the plant extracts to the next compartment within a short period for brief delivery of the core materials to the target microbes in the rumen (Moyo & Nsahlai, 2018). In contrast, the alginate-chitosan encapsulated plant extracts had higher particle density as compared to non-encapsulated plant extracts due to the inclusion of chitosan. This could probably modify the mobility of the encapsulated plant extracts to move into the solid phase of the rumen thereby improving the residence time within the rumen (Golchin-Gelehdooni, 2011).



Alginate (Alg)

Chitosan (Chit)

Alg-Aloe vera



Alg-Chit-Aloe vera

Alg-Moringa oleifera

Alg-Chit-Moringa oleifera

Figure 3.1 The scanning electron microscope shows the morphological features of microparticles of alginate, chitosan, and encapsulated plant extracts.





Figure 3.2 The particle density of chitosan, raw, and encapsulated plant extracts influenced by alginate as wall material

3.3.2 Effect of encapsulated plant extracts on in vitro total gas and CH₄ production, and organic matter digestibility (IVOMD) of E. curvula hay.

The *in vitro* methane production, total gas production, and IVOMD of *E. curvula* hay treated without or with the encapsulated A. vera and M. oleifera extracts are presented in Table 3.1, while the overall relationship between percentage CH₄ reduction and IVOMD as influenced by the inclusion of alginate or aliginate-chitosan wall material, raw and encapsulated plant extracts are graphically illustrated in Figure 3.3. Compared to the control group, the inclusion of alginate, chitosan, A. vera, and M. oleifera separately as additives reduced methane production per gram DM of *E. curvula* hay (p < 0.05) by 15.24% (3.67 mL), 14.78% (3.69 mL), 17.55% (3.57 mL) and 19.40% (3.49 mL) respectively. The encapsulated extracts of A. *vera* and *M. oleifera* also effectively reduced (p < 0.05) methane by 30.72% (3.00 mL), 27.71% (3.13 mL), 30.02% (3.03 mL) and 30.48% (3.01 mL) for A. vera encapsulated with alginate, A. vera encapsulated with alginate-chitosan, M. oleifera encapsulated with alginate, and *M. oleifera* encapsulated with alginate-chitosan, respectively (Table 3.1). The inclusion of the wall materials, non-encapsulated (raw), and encapsulated plant extracts as additives have no adverse effect on TGP and IVOMD compared to the control treatments. The principal component loadings plot and principal component analysis of all the fermentation parameters and phytochemicals composition of the plant extracts are shown in Table 3.2 and



Figure 3.3 respectively. The principal component (PC) loadings show the variations in the principal component analysis. PC1 and PC2 have 90.81% and 8.86% variations, respectively where most of the metabolites were positively correlated with CH₄ inhibition. The OMD is inversely correlated with most metabolites on PC2. In the principal component loadings (Table 3.2) and analysis (Figure 3.3), the alkaloids, coumaric acid, kaempferol, neochlorogenic acid, quercetin, and rutin were associated with in vitro methane inhibition in M. oleifera extracts and its encapsulated products while aloin A, aloin B, aloesin and aloeemodin are responsible for methane inhibition in A. vera and its encapsulated products. The observed relationship between these metabolites and methane inhibition in this study is consistent with the previous results (Akanmu & Hassen, 2018). Alkaloids in plant extracts lowered enteric methane emission (Agidigbi et al., 2014; Akanmu & Hassen, 2018) while alkaloids in moringa adversely affect ruminal microbes especially methanogens (Gautam et al., 2007; Ojiako, 2014). Huang et al. (2014) reported the reducing potential of kaempferol, quercetin, and rutin in *in-vitro* methane emission by 5 to 9 mL g⁻¹ DM. The anthraquinones (Kedarnath et al., 2012) in A. vera extracts reportedly elicited antimicrobial activity against bacteria and fungi, while acetone and methanolic extraction of aloe decreased in vitro methane emission (Sirohi et al., 2012). Although, from the principal component loadings (Table 3.2) and analysis (Figure 3.3), the particle density (PD) of the micro-particles did not show an effective association with methane inhibition of the encapsulated products, the lighter density of the encapsulated plant extracts (Encapsulated M. oleifera extract, 5.12 g 10 mL⁻¹, and Encapsulated A. vera extract, 5.25 g 10 mL⁻¹) due to the influence of alginate wall material (Figure 3.2) may likely mean faster mobility of the particle with better and more uniform distribution of metabolites within the lower liquid-solid phase of the rumen compared to the heavier unencapsulated extracts (M. oleifera crude extract, 5.92 g 10 mL⁻¹, and A. vera crude extract, 6.14 g 10 mL⁻¹). The alginate-chitosan-extract encapsulated products (of A. vera and M. oleifera) have a higher density than the raw plant extracts and also exhibited higher methane inhibition, this higher methane inhibition could be attributable to the additional effect provided by the chitosan in combination to the effect of the alginate and the plant extract in the products. In the current study, the particle density does not affect methane inhibition most likely because the in vitro gas production study is an enclosed system with constant agitation/revolution speed thereby putting the particles in a continuous motion. Another possible reason is that alginate also exhibited methane inhibition. Although



alginate (wall material) has not been reported to be antimethanogenic, its low density, nontoxicity, high encapsulation efficiency (up to 100%), and biocompatibility potential (Belšćak-Cvitanović et al., 2011; Lević et al., 2015) were considered in selecting it as a wall material. The observed methane inhibition by alginate (15.24%) as noted in this study means that the use of alginate as a wall material has a potential co-benefit of reducing methane, which may be attributable to its chemical structure, antimicrobial protective property as well as biosynthesis from seaweeds: pathogenic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and the soildwelling Azotobacter vinelandii (Urtuvia et al., 2017). Also, alginate is a soluble polysaccharide (Rijo et al., 2014), which probably makes it capable of acting as a hydrogen sink in the medium like soluble amylose carbohydrates. In contrast, chitosan has been known not only for its antimicrobial properties but also as an antimethanogenic compound (Jiménez-Ocampo et al., 2019). The methane inhibition property of chitosan observed in this study was in accordance with the previous reports. Goiri et al. (2010) reported a reduction in enteric methane emission with chitosan, and in another study decreased the rumen protozoa population (Jiménez-Ocampo et al., 2019). In a different study, chitosan inhibited biohydrogenation in vitro by increasing C18:1 t11 and conjugated linoleic acid proportion (Goiri et al., 2010), thereby channeling H_2 from methanogenesis to the biohydrogenation process.

, F,,,,,,						
Treatments	CH ₄	TGP	CH ₄ /TGP	IVOMD	TGP/IVOMD	CH ₄ /IVOMD
$(50 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} \text{ DM})$	$(mL g^{-1} DM)$	$(mL g^{-1} DM)$	(×10 ⁻³)	(g kg ⁻¹ DM)	(mL kg ⁻¹ M)	(mL kg ⁻¹ DM)
Control	4.33 ^A	159.0	28.0 ^A	607.3	262.0	7.33 ^A
Alginate (Alg)	3.67 ^B	160.0	22.7 ^B	607.4	263.6	6.00^{AB}
Chitosan (Chit)	3.69 ^B	156.9	22.6 ^B	604.7	259.7	5.99 ^{AB}
A. vera	3.57 ^{BC}	159.0	22.4 ^B	602.0	264.0	5.95 ^{AB}
Alg encap. A. vera	3.00 ^C	145.7	23.0 ^B	601.0	242.3	5.33 ^B
Alg-Chit encap. A. vera	3.13 ^C	146.6	22.8 ^B	598.3	245.7	5.58 ^B
M. oleifera	3.49 ^{BC}	159.3	21.9 ^B	609.3	266.3	5.73 ^{AB}
Alg encap. M. oleifera	3.03 ^C	145.7	22.0 ^B	609.0	239.0	5.33 ^B
Alg-Chit encap. M.						
oleifera	3.01 ^C	143.0	23.1 ^B	594.0	241.3	5.66 ^B
SEM	0.31	6.24	0.23	1.54	0.33	0.51
<i>n</i> -value	0.01	0.21	0.01	0.97	0.56	0.024

Table 3.1 Effect of alginate, chitosan, alginate, and/or chitosan encapsulated plant extracts on *in vitro* CH₄ production, TGP, and IVOMD of *E. curvula* hay

^{A-C}Means with different letters along the same column for each parameter are significantly (P < 0.05) different, SEM: standard error of the mean, TGP: total gas production, IVOMD: in vitro organic matter digestibility, *p*-value=probability value. For encapsulated extracts, the core and wall materials contained 50 mg each while for encapsulated extracts and chitosan, 42 mg of wall materials, 42 mg of extracts, and 16 mg of chitosan



parameters of <i>L</i> . <i>curvuu</i> hay fermented with encapsulated plant extracts.						
Variables/metabolites	PC 1×100	PC 2×100				
%CH4-Re	1.29	4.23				
OMD (organic matter digestibility)	0.69	-1.85				
Alkaloid (A)	55.94	6.65				
Aloe-emodin (AE)	-2.32	15.33				
Aloesin (Alos)	-4.12	27.23				
Aloin A (AA)	-11.30	74.61				
Aloin B (AB)	-8.55	56.44				
Caffeoyl ester of aloesin	-0.22	1.44				
Chitin (CH)	-0.63	-3.38				
Chlorogenic acid (Cl)	4.83	0.57				
Coumaric acid (Cu)	16.64	5.54				
Feruloyl quinic acid (F)	6.21	0.74				
Hydroxyaloisin (HA)	-0.22	1.05				
Kaempferol (K)	64.76	11.57				
Nataloin (NA)	-0.38	2.29				
Neochlorogenic acid (N)	32.25	3.84				
Particle density (PD)	0.10	0.75				
Quercetin (Q)	28.37	3.37				
Rutin (R)	16.21	1.93				
Sodium alginate (SA)	-0.53	-2.82				
% variance	90.81	8.86				

Table 3.2 Principal component loadings of all phytochemicals and fermentation parameters of *E. curvula* hay fermented with encapsulated plant extracts.





Figure 3.3 Principal component analysis Plot 1 vs Plot 2 of all phytochemicals and fermentation parameters of *E. curvula* hay fermented with encapsulated plant extracts (letters interpreted in Table 3.2).

Key: Figure 3.3 Con: Control Alg: Alginate (wall material) Chit: Chitosan Alo: *Aloe vera* Mor: *Moringa oleifera* Alg-E-Alo: Alginate encapsulated *Aloe vera* Alg-chit-E-Alo: Alginate-chitosan encapsualted *Aloe vera* Alg-E-Mor: Alginate encapsulated *Moringa oleifera* Alg-chit-E-Mor: Alginate-chitosan encapsualted *Moringa oleifera* with chitosan

3.4 Conclusions

The alginate and chitosan as observed via electron microscope have different morphological features with a skin-like appearance in alginate and scattered particles of different shapes in chitosan. The alginate (4.94 g 10 mL⁻¹) and chitosan (8.71 g 10 mL⁻¹) also differ in particle density and these influenced the density of the micro-particles of the encapsulated plant extracts. For the *in vitro* study, though, no adverse effect was noted in terms of *in vitro* organic matter digestibility and total gas production, the encapsulated plant extracts of *A*. *vera* and *M*. *Oleifera* effectively reduced (p < 0.05) methane emission on average between



27.71% to 30.48% as against methane inhibition by their raw extracts which ranged between 17.55% to 19.40%. The alkaloid, coumaric acid, kaempferol, neochlorogenic acid, quercetin, and rutin (in *M. oleifera*), and aloin A, aloin B, aloesin and aloe-emodin (in *A. vera*) were responsible, among other phytochemicals for the reduction in methane emission. However, the differences in particle densities of the raw vs encapsulated plant extract micro-particles did not affect methane inhibition. Alginate and chitosan also had a reducing effect (p < 0.05) on methane emissions when tested individually as additives. The use of alginate and alginate-chitosan as wall materials provided a co-benefit to the plant extracts to increase methane inhibition by an additional 13.17% (for alginate encapsulated *A. vera*), 10.62% (for alginate encapsulated *M. oleifera*), 10.19% (for alginate-chitosan encapsulated *A. vera*), and 12.93% (for alginate-chitosan encapsulated *M. oleifera*).



CHAPTER FOUR

Effect of alginate encapsulated *Moringa oleifera* plant extract additives on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, methane and rumen fermentation of South African Mutton Merino lamb

Abstract

Moringa plant extracts are known to have rumen modulating potentials, reducing methane productions in ruminants, however, they have limitations in terms of attaining consistent efficacy due to variations in palatability and thermal stability associated with some phytochemicals and modes of feeding. Encapsulation with encapsulant like alginate that has a good bio-compatibility, anti-microbial protective properties, ability to reduce bitter taste and improve the shelf-life of bioactive phytochemicals in the plant-based extracts has the potential to protect the efficacy of phytochemicals and improve animal performance. This study evaluated the efficacy of alginate-encapsulated and non-encapsulated Moringa oleifera (MO) leaf extracts on enteric methane inhibition, growth performance, nutrient digestibility, and rumen fermentation parameters of South African Mutton Merino (SAMM) lambs. A total of thirty lambs were randomly allotted to three different groups and balanced for weight. The three groups comprised the control diet which consisted of total mixed ration (TMR) only, TMR + non-encapsulated MO extract (NME), and TMR + alginate-encapsulated MO extract (EME). Lambs on NME and EME were administered iso-concentration of MO extracts, which was fixed at a dose of 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM of TMR feed. Supplementation of NME and EME additives did not affect feed intake, nutrient digestibility, rumen fermentation parameters, and growth performance but reduced (p < 0.05) feed conversion ratios (4.90 and 5.08, respectively) of the lambs. Inclusions of NME and EME reduced (p < 0.05) urinary nitrogen excreted and increased nitrogen retained as a percentage of intake (g/kg N-intake) of the lambs. Lambs that received EME had lower (p < 0.05) rumen ammonia nitrogen (18.2) mg/dL) than those on the control treatment (26.9 mg/dL). Supplementation of NME and EME reduced (p < 0.05) methane emission (g/head/day) by 22.61% and 20.06%, respectively; and also reduced methane emission in g per unit of DM and NDF intake, per unit of digested DM and NDF. In conclusion, alginate encapsulation of MO extract is safe and did not reduce the efficacy of MO extracts compared to non-encapsulated extracts. Further study needs to be conducted to determine the effect of alginate-encapsulated MO



extracts on the rumen microbial populations and meat quality of the same lambs from this study in order to further evaluate the safety use of alginate as a wall material and whether or not it has additional benefit compared to the non-encapsulated *M. oleifera* extract.

Keywords: methane emission, nutrient utilization, rumen fermentation, weight gain, SA Merino lamb

4.1 Introduction

The attempt to reduce methane emissions from livestock species has attracted global interest and attention. This is because methane gas has a detrimental effect on the climate and it has a much higher global warming potential than CO_2 (Patra et al., 2017). Since CO_2 is a precursor for methane production in the rumen of ruminants in the presence of hydrogen molecules and rumen methanogens, any effort to reduce enteric methane emission will include either inhibiting the activities of rumen methanogens or removing hydrogen molecules and/or CO₂ from the system (Patra et al., 2017; Islam et al., 2019). One of the means to achieve this is the use of bioactive plant extracts from medicinal plants. The methane-mitigating potential of medicinal plants and efficiency in feed utilization by livestock has been attributed to the presence of a number of plant secondary metabolites such as alkaloid, kaempferol, quercetin, rutin, chlorogenic acid, and neochlorogenic acid (Ibrahim et al., 2022) and while other types of identified plant secondary metabolites are MIF 4.44_609.1462, MIF 4.53_433.1112, MIF 9.06_443.2317 and MIF 15.00_487.2319 (Zeru et al., 2022) in the Moringa plant extracts. Extracts from Moringa oleifera are effective against diseases and pathogenic microbes (Ojiako, 2014; Prabakaran et al., 2018) and methanogens (Akanmu and Hassen, 2018; Ibrahim et al., 2022; Zeru et al., 2022), which inhibit growth and animal performance. M. *oleifera* extracts have been shown to be beneficial to animal agriculture due to the presence of different bioactive compounds that are capable of mitigating methane emission with no adverse effect on organic matter digestibility (Ibrahim et al., 2022). However, the methanereducing efficacy of some of these antimethanogenic compounds might fade with time due to changes in bioactive compounds during extended storage time and exposure to heat and light during feed processing (Zeru et al., 2023). The use of plant extracts as rumen modifiers has limitations in terms of attaining consistent results due to variability in the method of feeding, palatability, and thermal stability during feed processing. Encapsulation of plant-based



extracts has gained a useful application in animal nutrition as it has the potential to protect the efficacy of bioactive compounds in plant extracts and improve animal performance, expecially when the encapsulant (or wall material) has a good bio-compatibility with the plant's bioactive compounds (Tolve et al., 2021). Previous study has shown that bioactive compunds like tannins has been enhanced by the use of wall materials or encapsulation which likely increased the mobility of the micro-particles and may enhance the controlled delivery of bioactive compounds in the rumen (Adejoro et al., 2019; Ibrahim and Hassen, 2022).

Alginate is an abundant marine biopolymer, ranking second to cellulose, and is mostly found in the intracellular spaces of brown seaweed (Rijo et al., 2014). Alginate is a wall material commonly used in the food and drug industries. It has multiple benefits as it possesses features like bio-compatibility, low density, ease of production, non-toxicity, and chemical and thermal stability (Belšćak-Cvitanović et al., 2011; Rijo et al., 2014; Asbahani et al., 2015; Hecht et al., 2016). Heavier particle-density compounds are likely to settle down in the rumen fluid and possibly have limited mobility which may lead to uneven distribution of bioactive compounds (Ibrahim & Hassen, 2021). The low density of alginate if used as wall material could probably help to increase particle mobility and better delivery of metabolites/bioactive compounds within the rumen (Moyo & Nsahlai, 2018). Previous research has shown that alginate has been used successfully to encapsulate M. oleifera plant extracts and it is found that alginate encapsulated Moringa plant extract increase in vitro methane inhibition from Eragrostis curvula hay substrate without any negative effect on organic matter digestibility of the feed (Chapter Three). This was because the alginate as a wall material provided a cobenefit to the *M. oleifera* extract to increase *in vitro* methane inhibition. However, there is no documented information if the alginate encapsulated Moringa plant extract has a similar effect when used as an additive in the diet of ruminant animals and whether there is any positive or negative effect in terms of its effect on feed intake, nutrient digestibility, growth performance and *in vivo* methane inhibition from ruminant animals. Thus there is a need for in vivo evaluation of alginate-encapsulated M. oleifera plant extract to validate its potential and repeatability in mitigating enteric methane without negative effects on feed digestibility and animal performance. This study was conducted with the objective to evaluate the effect of alginate-encapsulated M. oleifera extracts on enteric methane emission, feed intake and digestibility, growth performance, and rumen fermentation parameters of SA Mutton Merino lambs.



4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Study site and ethical consent

The trial was carried out at the University of Pretoria Innovation Africa Ruminant Unit on the Hillcrest campus, South Africa, between June and September 2021. The annual rainfall in Pretoria is about 573 mm and the city is located at 1700 m above sea level. The study was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the University of Pretoria (NAS-336-19).

4.2.2 Plant collection and purchase of sodium alginate

The leaves of *Moringa oleifera* (A11NA) plants were harvested from commercial crop farm in April 2019 at Lefakong farm in Pretoria north. These plant materials were placed in cool black boxes immediately after harvest and transported to the Nutrilab, Department of Animal Science where they were stored at -20 °C on arrival. Low-viscosity sodium alginate was obtained from Acros organic (New Jersey, USA).

4.2.3 Extraction of crude plant extracts from M. oleifera leaves

The preparation of crude plant extracts from *M. oleifera* was carried out following a procedure reported by Ibrahim et al. (2022). A 30:70 ratio of aqueous-methanol (H₂O: CH₃OH) solvent was initially prepared and this preparation was only done during extraction of the crude plant extract. The collected *M. oleifera* leaves were first freeze-dried for 96 h and later milled through a 1 mm sieve. The extraction was carried out by dissolving 1 kg of milled dried *M. oleifera* leaves material into a 25 L gallon containing 10 L of aqueous-methanol solvents. The gallon was placed into an Incoshake incubator and agitated at 130 rpm and 20°C for 96 h. The mixtures of the extracts were then filtered by gradually squeezing through a sieve with a 150 µm aperture. The filtrates were placed in a fume cubicle for 24 h until partially dried. The semi-dried extracts were freeze-dried for 72 h and then stored in clean plastic bottles at 4°C until further use.

4.2.4 Preparation of alginate-encapsulated MO plant extracts

The production of alginate-extract bead followed the method described earlier (Rijo et al., 2014) with some modifications reported by Ibrahim et al. (2022). Briefly, 100 g of sodium alginate powder was dissolved in 1 L of distilled water contained in a 2 L beaker and properly homogenized. 100 g of dried crude extracts were added to the mixture and thoroughly mixed to obtain an alginate-extract (at a ratio of 1:1) solution. The formed encapsulated mixtures were thoroughly mixed and the mixture was later frozen at - 80°C for



12 h before freeze-drying (- 50°C at a pressure of 1.1 Pa) for 6 days (GAMMA Martin Christ, GmbH, Osterode am Harz, Germany). The freeze-dried encapsulate was milled and properly stored in sterile sample bottles at 4°C pending further analysis.

4.2.5 Preparation and administration of MO plant extracts as a dietary additive

The plant extracts were administered as dietary additives by making a ball consisting of the *Moringa oleifera* crude plant extract (or the encapsulated MO plant extract), molasses, water, and concentrate feed. Briefly, 300 g of molasses was poured into a 1 kg container, and 100 g of water was added and mixed thoroughly after which 10 g of the MO plant extracts treatment was added and homogenized. Then 600 g of concentrate diet was gradually added to the mixture and stirred until a proper mixture was obtained. A similar preparation was made for the control treatment without the inclusion of non-encapsulated or encapsulated MO plant extracts. The treatment mixtures were molded into balls, weighed, refrigerated, and administered to the lambs daily at 8:00 am at a dosage of 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM diet, as recommended earlier (Akanmu and Hassen, 2018). Each lamb is presented with a treatment ball (with or without plant extracts) on the palm daily to ensure minimal discomfort to the lambs as against the drenching method previously utilized to administer a mixture of plant extract with water. The actual treatment dosages given to lambs were adjusted fortnightly according to their average feed DM consumption recorded in the previous week.

4.2.6 Experimental design, feed, and growth performance

Thirty 4-month-old South African Merino lambs with a mean live weight of 25.6 ± 0.9 kg were used for this trial. The experimental lambs were ranked according to their body weight and randomly allotted to three dietary treatment groups using a randomized complete block design. The experimental treatments consisted of total mixed ration (TMR) + nonencapsulated *M. oleifera* plant extract (NME), TMR + alginate-encapsulated *M. oleifera* plant extract (EME), and TMR without MO plant extracts or control treatment. All experimental lambs were fed a formulated TMR containing approximately 42% roughage. The ingredients and chemical composition of the TMR are shown in Table 1. Lambs were initially adapted to the experimental feed for 7 days and gradually given the assigned plant extract balls starting with low dosages to the recommended level within 7 days period while the lambs were monitored closely for any health challenges. Two animals were kept in a pen, and animals in each pen received a different ball size of the plant extract, which was estimated based on the



previous week's average dry matter intake of the pen. The growth study lasted for 12 weeks. Each lamb was weighed fourthnightly and weight gain was recorded throughout the trial. The average daily weight gain (muscle attrition) was obtained by dividing weekly body weight gain against time. The feed offered to experimental lambs and orts were recorded daily for each pen and divided by 2 to obtain the average voluntary dry matter intake per lamb. The feed offered was adjusted to 5% of the new body weight. Before the start of the experiment, animals were vaccinated (with Multivax-P Plus) and dewormed. The experimental lambs were fed at 7:30 am and 2:00 pm daily. The plant extracts balls were given before morning feeding and clean drinking water was provided *ad libitum* throughout the study.

4.2.7 Determination of dry matter intake and digestibility

A total of 15 lambs (five per treatment) of approximately equal weights were selected from each block for the digestibility and balance trial. Lambs were allowed 5 days' adaptation to the metabolic cages and the faecal bags. Lambs were given 6 g of treatment balls containing MO plant extracts equivalent to 50 mg kg⁻¹ feed intake at 07:30 am prior to morning feeding. Digestibility and balance data were collected for five consecutive days. Every day, the feed, orts, faeces, and urine from each lamb were weighed and recorded. After weighing, sub-samples of the feed, orts, faeces, and urine were taken and stored in the freezer pending further analysis. The daily dry matter of the faeces was determined by transferring 100 g of sub-sampled faeces to a 105°C oven for 48 hrs. The urine produced by the lambs was collected through urine pans into containers in which 20 ml of 72% sulphuric acid was added and thereafter, samples taken were frozen at -20°C for later analysis of the sample for nitrogen.

4.2.8 Methane emission measurement

A total of 18 lambs were transferred in a batch of three animals to the open circuit respiration chamber for measurement of methane emission. Each batch consisted of three lambs selected from the same block and represented the three treatments. Details of the set-up of open-circuit respiratory chambers were described previously (Gemeda et al., 2015).

In each cycle, the three lambs that represented each of the three treatment groups were rotated every day to pass through a different chamber. Lambs were kept in the chamber for four days, which consisted of one day for adapting to the chamber and three days of data collection. Thus, the design was a randomized complete block design, where each cycle of methane



measurement stood as a block, which translates to a total of three blocks per treatment. The lambs were fed daily and the plant extracts treatments were offered at 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM intake. Collection of orts, cleaning of the pen, and rotation of animals were done daily before morning feeding. Prior to the start of introducing the lambs, the chambers were calibrated by determining the recovery percentage of each chamber before the lambs were introduced into the methane collection chambers. The recovery percentages obtained for the three chambers ranged from 89% to 98%. Methane was analyzed in the laboratory from the gas collected from the sheep in the chambers with gas chromatography fitted with a flame ionization detector, which had a solenoid column packed with silica gel (8610C Gas Chromatograph (GC) BTU Gas Analyser GC System, SRI Instruments, Germany).

4.2.9 Rumen fluid collection

After the completion of the trial, all 30 lambs, representing ten from each treatment group, were slaughtered and rumen fluid was collected about five minutes after slaughtering from the rumen of each slaughtered lamb. The rumen fluid for every slaughtered sheep was filtered through a four-layer of cheesecloth to remove particles for each treatment group and mixed thoroughly before a representative sample was taken for each lamb. About 30 ml of rumen fluid sample from each lamb was filled into a container with 7.5 ml 50% H₂SO₄ for NH₃-N analysis (Broderick et al., 1980), and another 30 ml rumen fluid was preserved with 25% ortho-phosphoric acid for volatile fatty acid analysis (Ottenstein et al., 1971).

4.2.10 Chemical analysis of experimental feed, faeces, and urine

The dry matter (DM), ash, and crude protein of the total mixed ration (TMR) diet used in this study and faeces were evaluated following the standard procedure described by the Leco/Dumas method all according to AOAC (2000) as indicated in procedure 934.01, 942.05 and 968.06, respectively. The neutral detergent fibre (NDF), and acid detergent fibre (ADF) were determined using Ankom technology 200/220 (Ankom Technology, Fairport, NY, USA) as described by Van Soest et al. (1991). The ether extract was determined using ether extraction in the Tecator Soxtec (HT6) system (McCormick, 2014).

4.2.11 Statistical analysis

The raw data generated complied with the assumption of analysis of variance and the error terms were normally distributed. The data were subjected to the analysis of variance (ANOVA) using the general linear model (GLM) procedures of SPSS (version 20). Means



with significance were compared using the Tukey test and significantly different means were declared at p < 0.05. The following model was used:

 $Yij = \alpha i + \beta j + \mu + e_{ij}$ where

Yij = treatment response of different parameters measured;

 αi = overall effect of treatment

 βj = effect of initial body weight of lamb (block)

 μ = overall mean

 e_{ij} = residual error effect

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Ingredient and chemical compositions of experimental diet

The ingredient and chemical compositions of the experimental diet are presented in Table 1. The percentage of dietary dry matter (DM) of the TMR is 89.38%, while the crude protein, ether extract, and ash were 20.21%, 2.17%, and 5.73%, respectively. The neutral detergent fiber (NDF) and the acid detergent fiber (ADF) respectively represented 35.35% and 17.95%.

Items	Levels	
Ingredients composition (%)		
Soybean meal	17.0	
Yellow maize	28.0	
Alfalfa hay	20.0	
Eragrostis curvula hay	22.7	
Molasses	6.00	
Wheat offal	5.00	
Urea	0.80	
Vitamin premix	0.50	
Total	100	
Chemical composition (%)		
Dry matter	89.4	
Crude protein	20.2	
Neutral detergent fiber	35.4	
Acid detergent fiber	17.9	
Ether extract	2.17	
Ash	5.73	
Metabolizable energy (MJ kg ⁻¹ DM)	9.03	

Table 4.1. Ingredients and chemical composition of total mixed ration used in the study.



4.3.2 Intake, apparent digestibility, and growth performance of SA Mutton Merino lamb

The growth performance, nutrient intake/apparent digestibility, and nitrogen balance are presented in Tables 2, 3, and 4, respectively. The supplementation of non-encapsulated and encapsulated *M. oleifera* extracts did not show significant differences (p > 0.05) in nutrient intake, apparent digestibility, nitrogen intake, and weight gain when compared to the control group. However, the feed conversion ratios and urinary nitrogen excretion were lower while the nitrogen retained as a percentage of intakes was higher (p < 0.05) for the lambs administered non-encapsulated and encapsulated *M. oleifera* extracts compared to the control. There was no difference (p > 0.05) in the nitrogen balance and feed conversion ratio between the lambs administered with non-encapsulated and encapsulated *M. oleifera* extracts.

Table 4.2. Growth performance of alginate-encapsulated *Moringa oleifera* leaf extract (50 mg kg⁻¹ DM) of South African Mutton Merino lambs.

Parameters	Control	NME	EME	SEM	<i>p</i> -value
Initial weight (kg)	25.4	25.4	26.1	1.95	0.40
Final weight (kg)	48.2	47.8	48.4	2.34	0.61
Total weight gain (kg)	22.7	22.4	22.3	0.88	0.91
Average daily gain (g head ⁻¹ day ⁻¹)	271	267	266	10.5	0.81
Daily feed intake (kg head ⁻¹ day ⁻¹)	1.47	1.31	1.38	0.07	0.13
Feed conversion ratio	5.43 ^a	4.90 ^b	5.08 ^b	0.22	0.04

 ab =means with different superscripts differ significantly at p < 0.05, NME=Non-encapsulated moringa extract, EME=Encapsulated moringa extract, SEM=Standard error of mean.

Table 4.3. Effect of alginate-encapsulated *Moringa oleifera* leaf extract (50 mg kg⁻¹ DM) on nutrient intake and apparent digestibility of South African Mutton Merino lambs.

Parameters	Control	NME	EME	SEM	<i>p</i> -value
<i>Nutrient intake (g head⁻¹ day⁻¹)</i>					
Dry matter	1094	1050	1061	72.4	0.14
Organic matter	1031	1001	1007	83.5	0.17
Crude protein	187	179	181	9.13	0.21
Neutral detergent fiber	403	352	378	26.9	0.23
Apparent digestibility (g kg ⁻¹)					
Dry matter	692	711	716	20.2	0.20
Organic matter	707	751	746	21.9	0.19
Crude protein	753	766	767	12.9	0.79
Neutral detergent fiber	501	553	541	35.1	0.50

NME=Non-encapsulated moringa extract, EME=Encapsulated moringa extract, SEM=Standard error of mean.



8					
Parameters	Control	NME	EME	SEM	<i>p</i> -value
Nitrogen intake (g head ⁻¹ day ⁻¹)	30.2	28.1	28.6	2.70	0.81
Faecal nitrogen (g head ⁻¹ day ⁻¹)	11.0	10.4	10.2	1.04	0.83
Urinary nitrogen (g head ⁻¹ day ⁻¹)	6.53 ^a	4.12 ^b	3.94 ^b	1.40	0.03
Nitrogen excreted (g head ⁻¹ day ⁻¹)	17.6	14.5	14.2	2.75	0.48
Nitrogen retained (g head ⁻¹ day ⁻¹)	12.8	13.6	14.2	2.21	0.93
Faecal nitrogen (g kg ⁻¹ N-intake)	362.3	368.6	359.3	19.8	0.94
Urinary nitrogen (g kg ⁻¹ N-intake)	202.4 ^a	150.2 ^b	136.1 ^b	20.3	0.04
Retained nitrogen (g kg ⁻¹ N-intake)	435 ^b	481 ^a	504 ^a	23.4	0.04

Table 4.4. Effect of alginate-encapsulated *Moringa oleifera* leaf extract (50 mg kg⁻¹ DM) on nitrogen balance of South African Mutton Merino lambs.

 ab =means with different superscripts differ significantly at p < 0.05, NME=Non-encapsulated moringa extract, EME=Encapsulated moringa extract, SEM=Standard error of mean.

4.3.3 Methane emission and rumen fermentation parameters of SA Mutton Merino lamb

Methane emission and rumen fermentation parameters of lambs on non-encapsulated and alginate-encapsulated *M. oleifera* plant extract additives for SA Mutton Merino lambs fed TMR are shown in Tables 5 and 6, respectively. The supplementation of non-encapsulated *M. oleifera* plant extracts (NME) and alginate-encapsulated *M. oleifera* plant extracts (EME) at 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM reduced (p < 0.05) methane emissions per day by 22.61% and 20.06%, respectively. Compared to the control, the NME and EME additives both reduced methane emission in g per unit of DM intake, per unit of NDF intake, per unit of digested DM, and per unit of digested NDF. Lambs that received EME additives had lower (p < 0.05) rumen NH₃-N concentrations than those on the control treatment. There was no significant (p > 0.05) difference in total volatile fatty acids (TVFA) and the individual fatty acids between lambs that received both NME and EME additives vs the lambs on the control diet though, there was an increasing trend in TVFA (p=0.14) for the lambs supplemented with NME and EME compared to the lambs on the control diet.

Table 4.5. Effect of alginate-encapsulated *Moringa oleifera* leaf extract (50 mg kg⁻¹ DM) on enteric methane inhibition of South African Mutton Merino lambs.

Methane indices	Control	NME	EME	SEM	<i>p</i> -value
CH_4 (g head ⁻¹ day ⁻¹)	31.05 ^a	24.03 ^b	24.82 ^b	1.08	0.004
CH ₄ (g kg ⁻¹ dry matter intake)	20.51 ^a	16.35 ^b	16.42 ^b	0.33	0.002
CH ₄ (g kg ⁻¹ neutral detergent fiber intake)	61.03 ^a	50.52 ^b	51.53 ^b	1.06	0.041
CH ₄ (g kg ⁻¹ dry matter digested)	31.29 ^a	23.01 ^b	23.11 ^b	0.93	0.036
CH_4 (g kg ⁻¹ neutral detergent fiber digested)	129.67 ^a	92.37 ^b	94.12 ^b	4.52	0.006

 ab =means with different superscripts differ significantly at p < 0.05, NME=Non-encapsulated moringa extract, EME=Encapsulated moringa extract, SEM=Standard error of mean.



Table 4.6. Effect of alginate-encapsulated *Moringa oleifera* leaf extract (50 mg kg⁻¹ DM) on rumen fermentation parameters of South African Mutton Merino lambs.

Rumen parameters	Control	NME	EME	SEM	<i>p</i> -value
pH	6.01	5.78	5.84	0.16	0.41
Rumen NH ₃ -N (mg dL ⁻¹)	26.9 ^a	21.6 ^{ab}	18.2 ^b	2.29	0.02
TVFA (mmol L ⁻¹)	125	146	155	13.3	0.14
Molar proportions of VFAs (mol/100mol)					
Acetic acid	54.1	54.8	54.3	3.45	0.98
Propionic acid	23.3	24.9	24.4	2.36	0.79
Butyric acid	15.6	13.7	15.1	1.85	0.61
Isobutyric acid	2.20	1.72	1.60	0.45	0.41
Valeric acid	1.89	1.74	1.67	0.33	0.79
Isovaleric acid	2.92	3.13	2.95	0.35	0.82
Acetate: propionate ratio	2.36	2.29	2.46	0.41	0.92

 ab =means with different superscripts differ significantly at p < 0.05, NME=Non-encapsulated moringa extract, EME=Encapsulated moringa extract, SEM=Standard error of mean

4.4 Discussion

The non-encapsulated and encapsulated M. oleifera extracts effectively reduced methane emission in SA Mutton Merino lamb at 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM compared to the control group. Encapsulation of *M. oleifera* extracts with alginate provided a co-benefit in increasing in vitro methane inhibition compared to the non-encapsulated M. oleifera extract (Ibrahim and Hassen, 2023, Unpublished data). Although this co-benefit could not be replicated in the current in vivo study, no adverse effects were observed for lambs in terms of weight gain and nutrient intake with the use of alginate as a wall material to encapsulate M. oleifera extract and this finding confirms earlier results that reported the non-toxicity features of alginate (Asbahani et al., 2015; Hecht & Srebnik, 2016; Rijo et al., 2014) which makes it safe to use as wall material to encapsulate the plant extracts as a feed additive for practical livestock production. The most likely reason could be attributed to the differences in particle density between the encapsulated (5.12 g 10 mL⁻¹) and the non-encapsulated (5.92 g 10 mL⁻¹) M. oleifera extracts (Ibrahim and Hassen, 2023, Unpublished data). The lower particle density for the EME could probably reduce its residence time in the rumen (Golchin-Gelehdooni et al., 2011; Moyo and Nsahlai, 2018) where the methanogenesis predominantly occur. In Moringa plant extracts phytochemicals like alkaloids, chlorogenic acid, neochlorogenic acid, feruloylquinic acid, kaempferol, 3-p-coumaroylquinic acid, quercetin, and rutin have been reported to be associated with methane inhibition in *M. oleifera* (Ibrahim et al., 2022). Alkaloids from Moringa extract reduced rumen methanogens (Ojiako, 2014) while the use of plant secondary metabolites such as kaempferol, quercetin, and rutin reduced in vitro



methane production by up to 9 mL g⁻¹ DM (Huang et al., 2014). The reported mode of action for the methane inhibition properties of plant metabolites could probably be related to the ability of the metabolites to reduce the rumen methanogens population (bactericidal), or make the methanogens inactive (bacteriostatic) and/or interfere with the process of methanogenesis (Patra et al., 2017; Islam et al., 2019).

The higher nitrogen balance observed in lambs that received NME and EME additive suggested better nitrogen utilization due to higher retained nitrogen in the lambs supplemented with NME and EME. Urinary nitrogen is mainly comprised of urea and is more quickly converted to nitrous oxide and released to the atmosphere and/or nitrate which may contaminate water bodies (Eckard et al., 2010). The lower concentration of rumen NH₃-N for the lambs fed NME and EME in contrast to the control group is consistent with the work of Akanmu and Hassen (2018) who evaluated the methane inhibition of M. oleifera extract in vitro and found that M. oleifera extract reduced methane production and lowered rumen NH₃-N. Also, the lower rumen NH₃-N for the lambs that received NME and EME additives compared to the control diet is in agreement with the previous report (Abdelraheem et al., 2021). Rumen protozoa are considered an important source of rumen NH₃-N through ingestion and proteolysis of bacterial protein (Abdel-raheem et al., 2021). The supplementation of the lambs with EME may probably have a better regulatory role in the metabolism of NH₃-N in the digestive tract of ruminants most likely by reducing the degradation and deamination of ruminal protein by rumen protozoa which eventually decrease rumen NH₃-N (Sampath, 2012; Abdel-raheem et al., 2021). In this study, the reduced proteolytic activity of undesirable rumen protozoa on bacterial protein is most likely responsible for the lower rumen NH₃-N and lower methane emission for the lambs on the NME and EME diet. Protozoa can engulf and degrade bacteria, and digest their protein, excreting NH₃-N as an end-product into the rumen (Bannink, 2014) thereby increasing the rumen NH₃-N. They are also closely associated with methanogens. Protozoa usually sequestrate and engage in a predator-prev interactions with rumen bacteria, which negatively affect feed conversion efficiency via the recycling of microbial cells in the rumen (Bannink, 2014). The higher rumen NH₃-N for lambs on the control diet could be associated with inefficient nitrogen metabolism and thus may have resulted in the higher urinary nitrogen excretion for the lambs on the control diet compared to the greater nitrogen utilization in the lambs supplemented with NME and EME additives. This could further be supported by the



results of Abdel-raheem & Hassan (2021) who reported a significant decrease in rumen total protozoa and NH₃-N in buffalo calves fed *M. oleifera* leaf meal. The supplementation of EME additive to the diet of lambs could most likely reduce the excessive proteolytic activities of undesirable rumen protozoa on bacteria protein through direct or indirect effects. Most extracts from medicinal plants have direct or indirect effects on rumen methanogens and methanogenesis (Islam et al., 2019). Some proteolytic rumen protozoa are associated with methanogenesis (Bannink, 2014); hence, the supplementation with NME and EME as additives could be said to interfere with rumen protozoa and reduce methanogenesis in South African Mutton Merino (SAMM) lambs. The increase in the concentration of TVFA and lower rumen NH₃-N as observed in this study is also in accordance with the previous reports (Abdel-raheem & Hassan, 2021; Kholif et al., 2015). The TVFA concentration was increased while the rumen NH₃-N was lowered in Anglo-Nubian goats fed with different levels of *M. oleifera* replacing sesame meal as a protein source (Kholif et al., 2015), and also as *M. oleifera* leaf meal dietary inclusion in buffalo calves (Abdel-raheem et al., 2021).

4.5 Conclusions

The encapsulated *M. oleifera* extracts given as an additive to SAMM lambs at 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM of TMR feed reduced enteric methane emissions, rumen NH₃-N, nitrogen excretion, and feed conversion ratio without any adverse effect on nutrient intake and weight gain. However, the co-benefit of alginate-encapsulated *M. oleifera* extract in increasing methane inhibition compared to the non-encapsulated extracts as observed previously in the *in vitro* study is not replicated *in vivo*. Additional studies need to be conducted to determine the effect of alginate encapsulated *M. oleifera* plant extracts on the rumen microbial populations (with a focus on rumen protozoa and methanogens) and meat quality of the same lambs from this study in order to further determine the safe use of alginate as a wall material and whether or not it has additional benefit compared to non-encapsulated *M. oleifera* extract.



CHAPTER FIVE

General conclusions, recommendations, and critical review

5.1 General conclusions and recommendations

This study aimed at improving the methane inhibition potential of some medicinal plant extracts without adversely affecting feed digestibility, nutrient utilization, or animal performance by increasing the quantity of crude extracts and their methane-reducing bioactive compounds. It is anticipated that this can be achieved through i) the use of the right combination of extraction solvents and also to improve the antimethanogenic efficacy of plant extracts and ii) encapsulation of plant extracts to enhance the efficacies of the plant extracts (plant bioactive compounds) in the rumen when used as dietary additives to mitigate enteric methane production from ruminants. The first study, which dealt with the extraction of plant leaves extracts of *A. vera*, *J. curcas*, *M. oleifera*, and *P. betle* using aqueous-methanol to determine the yields of crude extracts, identify and quantify the phytochemicals in the crude plant extracts, was crucial for the subsequent trials that were conducted. The followings are the conclusions from the study:

 \diamond The aqueous-methanolic extraction (at a ratio of 3:7) of the studied medicinal plant leaves increased the amount of plant crude extracts compared to the pure methanol extraction; however, many of the identified and quantified metabolites showed various degrees of solubility unique to the plant leaves in which they exist, while some of the metabolites were unaffected by the extraction solvents.

★ The four medicinal plant extracts derived from *A. vera, J. curcas, M. oleifera,* and *P. betle* leaves reduced *in vitro* methane emission when applied at a dose of 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM *Eragrostis curvula* hay. However, the methane reducing potentials of the plant extracts, total gas production, and organic matter digestibility were not influenced by the extraction solvents and extracts yields. Metabolites, such as aloin A, aloin B, and kaempferol (in *A. vera*), apigenin, catechin, epicatechin, kaempferol, tryptophan, procyanidins, vitexin-7-olate and isovitexin-7-olate (in *J. curcas*), alkaloid, kaempferol, quercetin, rutin and neochlorogenic acid (in *M. oleifera*) and apigenin-7,4'-diglucoside, 3-*p*-coumaroylquinic acid, rutin, 2-methoxy-4-vinylphenol, dihydrocaffeic acid, and dihydrocoumaric acid (in *P.*



betle) were associated with *in vitro* methane inhibition and hence exhibited a methane reducing potential.

♦ Plant extracts from *A. vera* and *M. oleifera* leaves were successfully encapsulated by using alginate as a wall material. The micro-particle for the encapsulated product was characterized as a spongy cluster of masses containing plant extracts with visible particles held together around and within a skin-layer mass. However, the observed changes in the density of the micro-particles of alginate (wall material) and chitosan encapsulated *A. vera* and *M. oleifera* extracts did not influence *in vitro* methane inhibition; though, encapsulated *A. vera* and *M. oleifera* extracts further reduced *in vitro* methane production at 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM compared to the non-encapsulated extracts, with no adverse effect on total gas production and organic matter digestibility of *E. curvula* hay.

♦ Evidence presented from the *in vivo* study showed that the encapsulated *M. oleifera* extracts reduced enteric methane emission, rumen ammonia nitrogen, urinary nitrogen excretion, and feed conversion ratio of SA Mutton Merino lamb when supplemented to the lambs at 50 mg kg⁻¹ DM, and this has been achieved without any adverse effect on animal performance.

The following recommendations are coined from the conclusions of this study;

The use of 70% aqueous extraction for *M. oleifera* leaf is recommended due to the reduced cost of extractive solvents, cheaper and availability of Moringa plants in South Africa, especially in the Gauteng province. Furthermore, 70% aqueous-methanolic extractions of *A. vera, J. curcas,* and *P. betle* are recommended for practical use in regions where they exist in abundance and are cost-effective.

✤ Plant extracts could be more promising and hence, further study is necessary to explore other extraction methods to increase extract yields from methane-reducing medicinal plants such as *A. vera*, *J. curcas*, *M. oleifera*, and *P. betle*.

✤ Additional studies should be carried out to quantify and confirm the methane-reducing potential of metabolites associated with *in vitro* methane inhibition such as aloin A, aloin B, kaempferol, apigenin, catechin, epicatechin, tryptophan, procyanidins, vitexin-7-olate, isovitexin-7-olate, alkaloid, quercetin, rutin, neochlorogenic acid, 3-*p*-coumaroylquinic acid,



2-methoxy-4-vinylphenol, dihydrocaffeic acid, and dihydrocoumaric acid. Subsequently, follow-up research needs to be conducted to use some of these metabolites with confirmed methane-reducing potential to produce a standardized plant extract-based product that guarantees consistent methane inhibition efficacy.

The use of encapsulated *M. oleifera* extracts as a dietary additive to the South African Mutton Merino lamb is safe and practicable like the non-encapsulated plant extract. Further study needs to be conducted to determine the effect of alginate encapsulated *M. oleifera* plant extracts on the rumen microbial populations and meat quality of the lambs.

5.2 Critical review

One of the limitations of this study is that the plant leaves used were obtained from the same location, and are the same strain and species, according to their identification. There has been a report that suggests one can expect some variations in terms of the efficacy of these medicinal plant leaves obtained from different locations owing to differences in the types and quantity of bioactive chemical constituents (metabolites) responsible for the observed effects in this trial. Different trials have earlier reported that metabolites composition and concentration can be influenced by genetic factors while ecological factors and agronomic practices will also probably affect the production and/or composition of desired active ingredients in the leaves. Thus, it is important to describe the crude plant extract in terms of the type and concentration of key metabolites in order to develop a standardized product. This has been overlooked in the current study and can be regarded as a weakness of the current study.

The pre-extraction procedure, which includes rinsing, sun-drying, oven-drying, shade-drying, or freeze-drying, can influence the efficacy of leaf extracts. For instance, plant materials with latex like *A. vera* are better kept frozen immediately after harvesting so that useful ingredients are largely retained. Stacking of fresh plant materials together can lead to heat generation which can cause loss of heat-labile metabolites in the plant material; this can be aggravated as cells within plant materials continue to respire, even after harvesting.

Other factors include the milling of dried plant material, which has to be homogenous to improve the kinetics of analytical extraction and provide a good surface area to volume ratio to improve the contact surface for solvent extraction. During the present trial, adequate care



was taken to ensure that fine plant materials already soaked in extraction solvents did not escape inside the extracts to avoid an erroneous increase in the yield of the dried leaf extract as well as a reduction in the efficacy of the active ingredients due to dilution effect or loss of active ingredients during the procedure. This study optimized the solvent-to-substrate ratio but the ratio of the H₂O to CH₃OH needs to be further optimized, as it was already reported that solvents strongly affect the amount of plant extracts obtained. Also, optimizing the ratio of H₂O to CH₃OH solvent could probably affect the resulting outcome of both the yields, phytochemical compositions, and the methane-reducing property of the plant extracts. To avoid loss of useful bioactive compounds from the plant leaves, while sieving, the sieve was completely immersed in the solvent with frequent agitation to avoid locking away important bioactive compounds in a stack of non-soluble residue.

Reconstitution of dried plant extract to the desired concentration can be a tricky process. It was already reported that high or low gas volume could be caused by differences in the particle sizes of the reconstituted extracts when not fully dissolved and a large particle size in a single vial caused a large error in gas production. Therefore, the plant extract solution was prepared by dissolving a weighed amount of plant extract into a beaker with a known amount of water and allowed for continuous agitation by placing it in a magnetic stirrer for several hours without using heat until the solution was fully homogenized.

Encapsulation is another process that must be carefully managed; homogenization is a major factor to consider when encapsulating so as to allow even distribution of the core materials in and around the wall material. Also, the ratio of the core to wall material as well as their compatibility is very important. Where the core material and the wall material are not compatible, the wall material will most likely interfere with or limit the effectiveness of the active ingredient (core material). During the *in vitro* and *in vivo* trials, as much as possible, errors were kept to a minimum. Where errors were observed, the procedure was repeated.

During the *in vivo* study, plant extracts were made into a small ball, and a calculated known amount was presented to the sheep daily in the morning, based on their average feed consumption (50 mg kg⁻¹ DM) during the previous week. This could probably be an improvement over the previous study where a drenching gun was used to administer liquid extracts which imposed some levels of discomfort on the animals and was not practicable in commercial farming. While the method of administering plant extracts in this study may



eliminate discomfort to the animals and be relatively more practicable than the previous trial, the encapsulation of plant extracts, and the accurate amount of the extracts to be incorporated into the molasses and concentrate mix require technical know-how.

Methane emission measurement was a complicated process during this study. However, this study followed a laid down procedure from the previous study which helped to eliminate some possible errors in the measurements of enteric methane emission. Initially, the methane reduction outcome for the administered treatment extracts was not impressive, careful observation revealed that the selection of feed particles was a problem because the feeding troughs were mounted at a relatively lower height from the floor. This error was immediately corrected by adjusting the positions of the feeders. Therefore, the subsequent study should consider the use of pelleted feed to easily eliminate such errors.



REFERENCES

- Abdel-raheem, S.M., Hassan, E.H., 2021. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences Effects of dietary inclusion of Moringa oleifera leaf meal on nutrient digestibility, rumen fermentation, ruminal enzyme activities and growth performance of buffalo calves. Saudi J. Bio. Sci. 28, 4430–4436.
- Adejoro, F.A., Hassen, A., 2018. In vitro methane production of eragrostis hay treated with graded levels of urea or nitrate. J. Anim. and Plant Sci. 28, 679–685.
- Adejoro, F.A., Hassen, A., 2019. Effect of Lipid-Encapsulated Acacia Tannin Extract on Feed Intake, Nutrient Digestibility and Methane Emission in Sheep. Animals. 9, 1–13.
- Aemiro, A., Hanada, M., Umetsu, K., Nishida, T., 2016. The effect of Sunphenon 30S-O on methane emission, nutrient intake, digestibility and rumen fermentation. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 214, 34–43.
- Agidigbi, T.S., Odeyemi, O., 2014. Antibacterial Activities of Crude Extracts of Tithonia Diversifolia. The Experiment. 20, 1421–1426.
- Akanmu, A. M., 2018. Effect of medicinal plant extracts from West Africa on rumen fermentation parameters, enteric methane emission and growth performance in Merino sheep. University of Pretoria. Thesis Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro
- Akanmu, A.M., Hassen, A., 2018. The use of certain medicinal plant extracts reduced in vitro methane production while improving in vitro organic matter digestibility. Anim. Product. Sci. 58, 900–908.
- Alam, M., Ahmed, S., Elasbali, A.M., Adnan, M., 2022. Therapeutic Implications of Caffeic Acid in Cancer and Neurological Diseases. Frontiers in Oncology. 12, 1–18.
- Amaglo, N.K., Bennett, R.N., Lo Curto, R.B., Rosa, E.A.S., Lo Turco, V., Giuffrida, A., Curto, A. Lo, Crea, F., Timpo, G.M., 2010. Profiling selected phytochemicals and nutrients in different tissues of the multipurpose tree Moringa oleifera L., grown in Ghana. Food Chem. 122, 1047–1054.
- Ambriz-Pérez, D.L., Bang, W.Y., Nair, V., Angulo-Escalante, M.A., Cisneros-Zevallos, L., Heredia, J.B., 2016. Protective Role of Flavonoids and Lipophilic Compounds from Jatropha platyphylla on the Suppression of Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-Induced Inflammation in Macrophage Cells. J Agric. and Food Chem. 64, 1899–1909.
- Araújo, A.P.C., Venturelli, B.C., Santos, M.C.B., Gardinal, R., Cônsolo, N.R.B., Calomeni, G.D., Freitas, J.E., Barletta, R.V., Gandra, J.R., Paiva, P.G., Rennó, F.P., 2015. Chitosan affects total nutrient digestion and ruminal fermentation in Nellore steers. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 206, 114–118.
- Asbahani, A.El, Miladi, K., Badri, W., Sala, M., Addi, E.H.A., Casabianca, H., Mousadik, A. El, Hartmann, D., Jilale, A., Renaud, F.N.R., Elaissari, A., 2015. Essential oils: From extraction to encapsulation. Internat. J Pharmaceutics., 483, 220–243.
- Aysan, E., Bektas, H., Ersoz, F., 2010. A new approach to postoperative peritoneal adhesions: Prevention of peritoneal trauma by aloe vera gel. European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology. 149, 195–198.
- Azubuike-osu, S.O., Ohanenye, I.C., Jacob, C., Ejike, C.E.C.C., Udenigwe, C.C., 2021. Beneficial Role of Vitexin and Isovitexin Flavonoids in the Vascular Endothelium and Cardiovascular System- A review. Current Nutraceuticals. 2, 127–134.
- Baert, L., Mattison, K., Loisy-Hamon, F., Harlow, J., Martyres, A., Lebeau, B., Stals, A., Van Coillie, E., Herman, L., Uyttendaele, M., 2011. Review: Norovirus prevalence in Belgian, Canadian and French fresh produce: A threat to human health? Internat. J. Food Microbio. 151, 261–269.



- Ballesteros, L.F., Teixeira, J.A., Mussatto, S.I., 2014. Selection of the Solvent and Extraction Conditions for Maximum Recovery of Antioxidant Phenolic Compounds from Coffee Silverskin. Food and Bioprocess Technol. 7, 1322–1332.
- Bannink, A., 2014. Quantitative Aspects of Ruminant Digestion and Metabolism. (J. Dijkstra, J.M. Forbes, J. F., Ed.) 2ND EDITIO. CABI, USA.
- Basak, S., Guha, P., 2015. Modelling the effect of essential oil of betel leaf (Piper betle L.) on germination, growth, and apparent lag time of Penicillium expansum on semi-synthetic media. Internat. J. Food Microbio. 215, 171–178.
- Bawankar, R., Deepti, V. C., Singh, P., Subashkumar, R., Vivekanandhan, G., Babu, S., 2013. Evaluation of bioactive potential of an aloe vera sterol extract. Phytotherapy Res. 27, 864–868.
- Bayat, A., Shingfield, K.J., 2012. Overview of nutritional strategies to lower enteric methane emissions in ruminants. Maatal. Päivät 1–7.
- Beauchemin, K., Colombatto, D., Morgavi, D., Yang, W., 2003. Use of Exogenous Fibrolytic Enzymes to Improve Feed Utilization by Ruminants. J. Anim. Sci. 81, E37–E47.
- Becker, P.M., van Wikselaar, P.G., Franssen, M.C.R., de Vos, R.C.H., Hall, R.D., Beekwilder, J., 2014. Evidence for a hydrogen-sink mechanism of (+)catechinmediated emission reduction of the ruminant greenhouse gas methane. Metabolomics., 10, 179–189.
- Belanche, A., Pinloche, E., Preskett, D., Newbold, C.J., 2016. Effects and mode of action of chitosan and ivy fruit saponins on the microbiome, fermentation and methanogenesis in the rumen simulation technique. FEMS Microbio. Ecology. 92, 1–13.
- Belšćak-Cvitanović, A., Stojanović, R., Manojlović, V., Komes, D., Cindrić, I. J., Nedović, V., Bugarski, B., 2011. Encapsulation of polyphenolic antioxidants from medicinal plant extracts in alginate-chitosan system enhanced with ascorbic acid by electrostatic extrusion. Food Res. Internat. 44, 1094–1101.
- Benavides, A., Montoro, P., Bassarello, C., Piacente, S., Pizza, C., 2006. Catechin derivatives in Jatropha macrantha stems: Characterisation and LC/ESI/MS/MS quali-quantitative analysis. J. Pharmaceut. Biomedi. Anal. 40, 639–647.
- Benchaar, C., Greathead, H., 2011. Essential oils and opportunities to mitigate enteric methane emissions from ruminants. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 166–167, 338–355.
- Bennett, R.N., Mellon, F.A., Foidl, N., Pratt, J.H., Dupont, M.S., Perkins, L., Kroon, P.A., 2003. Profiling glucosinolates and phenolics in vegetative and reproductive tissues of the multi-purpose trees Moringa oleifera L. (Horseradish tree) and Moringa stenopetala L. J. Agric. Food Chemis. 51, 3546–3553.
- Bhatta, R., Saravanan, M., Baruah, L., Sampath, K.T., 2012. Nutrient content, in vitro ruminal fermentation characteristics and methane reduction potential of tropical tannin-containing leaves. J Sci Food Agric., 92, 2929–2935.
- Bidie, A., Koffi, E., Yapi, F., Yémié, A., Djaman, J., Guede-Guina, F., 2011. Evaluation of the toxicity of a methanolic total extract of Mitragyna ciliata a natural anti-malaric. Intern. J. Biological and Chemical Sci. 4, 1509–1518.
- Bimakr, M., Rahman, R.A., Taip, F.S., Ganjloo, A., Salleh, L.M., Selamat, J., Hamid, A., Zaidul, I.S.M., 2011. Comparison of different extraction methods for the extraction of major bioactive flavonoid compounds from spearmint (Mentha spicata L.) leaves. Food and Bioproducts Proce. 89, 67–72.
- Bodas, R., López, S., Fernández, M., García-González, R., Rodríguez, A. B., Wallace, R. J., González, J. S., 2008. In vitro screening of the potential of numerous plant species as antimethanogenic feed additives for ruminants. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 145, 245–



258.

- Broderick, G.A., Kang, J.H., 1980. Automated Simultaneous Determination of Ammonia and Total Amino Acids in Ruminal Fluid and In Vitro Media. J. Dairy Sci. 63, 64–75.
- Broucek, J., 2018. Options to methane production abatement in ruminants: A review. J. Anim. Plant Sci. 28, 348–364.
- Chan, E.S., Yim, Z.H., Phan, S.H., Mansa, R.F., Ravindra, P., 2010. Encapsulation of herbal aqueous extract through absorption with ca-alginate hydrogel beads. Food and Bioproducts Proce. 88, 195–201.
- Chaturvedi, I., Dutta, T.K., Singh, P.K., Sharma, A., 2015. Effect of combined herbal feed additives on methane, total gas production and rumen fermentation. Bioinformation., 11, 261–266.
- Chen, H., Wang, W., Yu, S., Wang, H., Tian, Z., Zhu, S., 2022. Procyanidins and Their Therapeutic Potential against Oral Diseases. Molecules. 27 (2932), 1–19.
- Cheng, G., Hao, H., Xie, S., Wang, X., Dai, M., Huang, L., Yuan, Z., 2014. Antibiotic alternatives: The substitution of antibiotics in animal husbandry? Frontiers in Microbio. 5, 1–15.
- Chien, Shih-Chang., Wu, Yueh-Chen., Chen, Zeng-Weng., Yang, Wen-Chin., 2014. Naturally Occurring Anthraquinones: Chemistry and Therapeutic Potential in Autoimmune Diabetes- Review Article. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine Combination. 1-14.
- Cieślak, A., Váradyová, Z., Kišidayová, S., Jalč, D., Szumacher-Strabel, M., 2013. Effect of diets with fruit oils supplements on rumen fermentation parameters, fatty acid composition and methane production in vitro. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 22, 26–34.
- Cobellis, G., Acuti, G., Forte, C., Menghini, L., De Vincenzi, S., Orrù, M., Valiani, A., Pacetti, D., Trabalza-Marinucci, M., 2015. Use of Rosmarinus officinalis in sheep diet formulations: Effects on ruminal fermentation, microbial numbers and in situ degradability. Small Rum. Res. 126, 10–18.
- Coppin, J.P., Xu, Y., Chen, H., Pan, M.H., Ho, C.T., Juliani, R., Simon, J.E., Wu, Q., 2013. Determination of flavonoids by LC/MS and anti-inflammatory activity in Moringa oleifera. J. Functional Foods., 5, 1892–1899.
- Corona, G., Coman, M.M., Guo, Y., Hotchkiss, S., Gill, C., Yaqoob, P., Spencer, J.P.E., Rowland, I., 2017. Effect of simulated gastrointestinal digestion and fermentation on polyphenolic content and bioactivity of brown seaweed phlorotannin-rich extracts. Molecular Nutrit. Food Res. 61, 1–10.
- Dam, N.M. Van, Bouwmeester, H.J., 2016. Metabolomics in the Rhizosphere : Tapping into Belowground Chemical Communication. Trends in Plant Sci. 21, 256–265.
- Das, K., Tiwari, R.K.S., Shrivastava, D.K., 2010. Techniques for evaluation of medicinal plant products as antimicrobial agent: Current methods and future trends. J. Medicinal Plants Res. 4, 104–111.
- Dasiman, R., Nor, N.M., Eshak, Z., Mutalip, S.S.M., Suwandi, N.R., Bidin, H., 2022. A Review of Procyanidin: Updates on Current Bioactivities and Potential Health Benefits. Biointerface Res. in Apllied Chem. 12, 5918–5940.
- Devappa, R.K., Makkar, H.P.S., Becker, K., 2010. Jatropha toxicity-A review. J. Toxicology and Environmental Health Part B: Critical Reviews., 13, 476–507.
- Dey, A., Paul, S.S., Pandey, P., Rathore, R., 2014. Potential of Moringa oleifera leaves in modulating in vitro methanogenesis and fermentation of wheat straw in buffalo. Indian J. Anim. Sci. 84 (5), 533–538.
- Divya, K., Vijayan, S., George, T.K., Jisha, M.S., 2017. Antimicrobial properties of chitosan



nanoparticles: Mode of action and factors affecting activity. Fibers and Polymers., 18, 221–230.

- Diwani, G.El, Rafie, S.El, Hawash, S., 2009. Antioxidant activity of extracts obtained from residues of nodes leaves stem and root of Egyptian Jatropha curcas. African J. Pharmacy Pharmaco. 3 (11), 521–530.
- Draget, K., Smidsrød, O., Skjåk-Bræk, G., 2005. Alginates form algae. In: Steinbuchel A; Rhee SK; (eds) Polysaccharides and polyamides in the food i production; and patents. Alginates form algae. In: Steinbuchel A; Rhee SK; (eds) Polysaccharides and polyamides in the food iindustries: properties, production and patents. Wiley; Weinheim., 1–30.
- Duffy, C., O'Riordan, D., O'Sullivan, M., Jacquier, J.C., 2018. In vitro evaluation of chitosan copper chelate gels as a multimicronutrient feed additive for cattle. J. Sci. Food Agric. 98, 4177–4183.
- Dwivedi, V., Tripathi, S., 2014. Review study on potential activity of Piper betle. J. Pharmacog. Phytochemis. JPP., 93, 9398.
- Eckard, R.J., Grainger, C., Klein, C.A.M. De, 2010. Options for the abatement of methane and nitrous oxide from ruminant production : A review ☆. Livestock Science., 130, 47–56.
- El Sayed, A.M., Ezzat, S.M., El Naggar, M.M., El Hawary, S.S., 2016. In vivo diabetic wound healing effect and HPLC–DAD–ESI–MS/MS profiling of the methanol extracts of eight Aloe species. Revista Brasileira de Farmacognosia., 26, 352–362.
- Emon, N. U., Kaiser, M., Islam, M., Kabir, M.F.I., Uddin, M.J., Jyoti, M.A., Tanjil, S.M., Rasel, A.N.M., Alam, S., Islam, M.N., 2020. Anxiolytic and thrombolytic investigation of methanol extract of piper nigrum l. Fruits and sesamum indicum l. seeds. J. Advan. Biotechno. Experimental Therapeutics., 3, 158–164.
- Fathilah, A. R., 2011. Piper betle L. and Psidium guajava L. in oral health maintenance. J. Medicinal Plants Res. 5, 156–163.
- FAO, 2006. World agriculture: towards 2030/2050. Interim Report, Rome.
- Gandra, J.R., Takiya, C.S., de Oliveira, E.R., de Paiva, P.G., de Goes, R.H. de T. e. B., Gandra, É.R. de S., Araki, H.M.C., 2016. Nutrient digestion, microbial protein synthesis, and blood metabolites of Jersey heifers fed chitosan and whole raw soybeans. Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia., 45, 130–137.
- Gautam, R., Saklani, A., Jachak, S.M., 2007. Indian medicinal plants as a source of antimycobacterial agents. J. Ethnopharmacology., 110, 200–234.
- Gemeda, B.S., Hassen, A., 2015. Effect of tannin and species variation on in vitro digestibility, gas, and methane production of tropical browse plants. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 28, 188–199.
- Gerber, P.J., Hristov, A.N., Henderson, B., Makkar, H., Oh, J., Lee, C., Meinen, R., Montes, F., Ott, T., Firkins, J., Rotz, A., Dell, C., Adesogan, A. T., Yang, W. Z., Tricarico, J. M., Kebreab, E., Waghorn, G., Dijkstra, J., Oosting, S., 2013. Technical options for the mitigation of direct methane and nitrous oxide emissions from livestock: a review. Animal. 220–234. doi:10.1017/S1751731113000876
- Goel, G., Makkar, H.P.S., Becker, K., 2008. Effects of Sesbania sesban and Carduus pycnocephalus leaves and Fenugreek (Trigonella foenum-graecum L.) seeds and their extracts on partitioning of nutrients from roughage- and concentrate-based feeds to methane. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 147, 72–89.
- Goiri, I., Indurain, G., Insausti, K., Sarries, V., Garcia-Rodriguez, A., 2010. Ruminal biohydrogenation of unsaturated fatty acids in vitro as affected by chitosan. Anim.



Feed Sci. Technol. 159, 35–40.

- Golchin-Gelehdooni, S., Teimouri-Yansari, A., Farhadi A., 2011. The effects of alfalfa particle size and acid treated protein on ruminal chemical composition, liquid, particulate, escapable and non escapable phases in Zel sheep. African J. Biotechno. 10, 13956–13967.
- Handa, S.S., Khanuja, S.P.S., Longo, G.R.D., 2008. Extraction technologies for medicinal and aromatic plants. (Longo, S. P. S. & Rakesh, D.D. Eds.). International centre for science and high technology. Page, 266
- Hay, I.D., Remminghorst, U., Rehm, B.H.A., 2009. MucR, a novel membrane-associated regulator of alginate biosynthesis in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Applied and Environmental Microbio. 75, 1110–1120.
- Hay, I.D., Rehman, Z.U., Moradali, M.F., Wang, Y., Rehm, B.H.A., 2013. Microbial alginate production, modification and its applications. Microbial Biotechno. 6, 637–650.
- Hay, I.D., Wang, Y., Moradali, M.F., Rehman, Z.U., Rehm, B.H.A., 2014. Genetics and regulation of bacterial alginate production. Environmental Microbio. 16, 2997–3011.
- Hecht, H., Srebnik, S., 2016. Structural Characterization of Sodium Alginate and Calcium Alginate. Biomacromolecules. 17, 2160–2167.
- Henry, D.D., Ruiz-Moreno, M., Ciriaco, F.M., Kohmann, M., Mercadante, V.R.G., Lamb, G.C., DiLorenzo, N., 2015. Effects of chitosan on nutrient digestibility, methane emissions, and in vitro fermentation in beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 93, 3539–3550.
- Hill, J., McSweeney, C., Wright, A.D.G., Bishop-Hurley, G., Kalantar-zadeh, K., 2016. Measuring Methane Production from Ruminants. Trends in Biotechnology. 34, 26– 35.
- Homayouni, A., Mohammad, R.E., Aslan, A., Mohammad, S.Y., Razavi, S.H., 2007. Effect of Lecithin and Calcium Chloride Solution on the Microencapsulation Process Yield of Calcium Alginate Beads. Iranian Polymer J. 16(9), 1–12.
- Huang, Q., Guo, Y., Fu, R., Peng, T., Zhang, Y., Chen, F., 2014. Antioxidant activity of flavonoids from leaves of Jatropha curcas. ScienceAsia. 40, 193–197.
- Hussain, Y., Khan, H., Alsharif, K.F., Khan, A.H., Aschner, M., Saso, L., 2022. The Therapeutic Potential of Kaemferol and Other Naturally Occurring Polyphenols Might Be Modulated by Nrf2-ARE Signaling Pathway: Current Status and Future Direction. Molecules. 27, 4145. https://doi.org/10.3390/ molecules27134145
- Ibrahim, S.L., Hassen, A., 2021. Characterization, Density and In Vitro Controlled Release Properties of Mimosa (Acacia mearnsii) Tannin Encapsulated in Palm and Sunflower Oils. Animals., 11, 1–13.
- Ibrahim, S.L., Hassen, A., 2022. Effect of non-encapsulated and encapsulated mimosa (Acacia mearnsii) tannins on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, methane and rumen fermentation of South African mutton Merino ram lambs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 294, 115502.
- Ibrahim, T. A., Hassen, A., Apostolides, Z., 2022. The Antimethanogenic Potentials of Plant Extracts; Their Yields and Phytochemical Compositions as Affected by Extractive Solvents. Plants. 11, 1–19.
- Isailović, B., Kalušević, A., Žuržul, N., Coelho, M.T., Dordević, V., Alves, V.D., Sousa, I., Moldão-Martins, M., Bugarski, B., Nedović, V.A., 2012. Microencapsulation of natural antioxidants from Pterospartum tridentatum in different alginate and inulin systems. CEFood 2012 - Proceedings of 6th Central European Congress on Food., 1075–1081.
- Islam, M., Lee, S. suk, 2019. Advanced estimation and mitigation strategies : a cumulative



approach to enteric methane abatement from ruminants. J. Anim. Sci. and Technol. 61, 122–137.

- Istenič, K., Balanč, B.D., Djordjević, V.B., Bele, M., Nedović, V.A., Bugarski, B.M., Ulrih, N.P., 2015. Encapsulation of resveratrol into Ca-alginate submicron particles. J. Food Engineer. 167, 196–203.
- Jafari, S., Meng, G.Y., Rajion, M.A., Jahromi, M.F., Ebrahim, M., 2016. Manipulation of Rumen Microbial Fermentation by Polyphenol Rich Solvent Fractions from Papaya Leaf to Reduce Green-House Gas Methane and Biohydrogenation of C18 PUFA. J. Agric. Food Chem. 64, 4522-4530.
- Janssen, P.H., Kirs, M., 2008. Structure of the archaeal community of the rumen. Applied and Environmental Microbio. 74, 3619–3625.
- Javier David Vega, A., Hector, R.E., Juan Jose, L.G., Maria L,L.G., Paola, H.C., Raúl, Á.S., Carlos Enrique, O.V., 2017. Effect of solvents and extraction methods on total anthocyanins, phenolic compounds and antioxidant capacity of Renealmia alpinia (Rottb.) Maas peel. Czech J. Food Sci. 35, 456–465.
- Jayanegara, A., 2009. Ruminal Methane Production on Simple Phenolic Acids Addition in in Vitro Gas Production Method. Media Peternakan. 32, 53–62.
- Jerónimo, E., Pinheiro, C., Lamy, E., Dentinho, M.T., Sales-Baptista, E., Lopes, O., Capela e Silva, F., 2016. Tannins in ruminant nutrition: Impact on animal performance and quality of edible products. Accessed 20 June 2021.
- Jiménez-Ocampo, R., Valencia-Salazar, S., Pinzón-Díaz, C.E., Herrera-Torres, E., Aguilar-Pérez, C.F., Arango, J., Ku-Vera, J.C., 2019. The role of chitosan as a possible agent for enteric methane mitigation in ruminants. Animals. 9.
- Jin, Q., You, W., Tan, X., Liu, G., Zhang, X., Wan, F., Wei, C., 2020. Caffeic acid modulates methane production and rumen fermentation in an opposite way with high-forage or high-concentrate substrate in vitro. J. Sci. Food Agric. 101, 3013–3020
- Jordan, E., Kenny, D., Hawkins, M., Malone, R., Lovett, D.K., O'Mara, F.P., 2006. Effect of refined soy oil or whole soybeans on intake, methane output, and performance of young bulls. J. Anim. Sci. 84, 2418–2425.
- Kanama, S.K., Viljoen, A.M., Kamatou, G.P.P., Chen, W., Sandasi, M., Adhami, H.R., Van Wyk, B.E., 2015. Simultaneous quantification of anthrones and chromones in Aloe ferox ('Cape aloes') using UHPLC-MS. Phytochemistry Letters., 13, 85–90.
- Kaur, R., Arora, S., 2015. Alkaloids-important therapeutic secondary metabolites of plant origin. J. Critical Rev. 2 (3), 1–8.
- Kedarnath, N.K., Ramesh, S., And, M.S.P., Patil, C.S., 2012. PHYTOCHEMICAL SCREENING AND ANTIMICROBIAL ACTIVITY OF Aloe vera L. World Res. J. Medicinal and Aromatic Plants. 1, 2278–9863.
- Kholif, A.E., Gouda, G.A., Morsy, T.A., Salem, A.Z.M., Lopez, S., Kholif, A.M., 2015. Moringa oleifera leaf meal as a protein source in lactating goat 's diets: Feed intake, digestibility, ruminal fermentation, milk yield and composition, and its fatty acids profile. Small Rum. Res. 129, 129–137.
- Knapp, J.R., Laur, G.L., Vadas, P.A., Weiss, W.P., Tricarico, J.M., 2014. Invited review: Enteric methane in dairy cattle production: Quantifying the opportunities and impact of reducing emissions. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 3231–3261.
- Kumar, R., Bohra, A., Pandey, A.K., Pandey, M.K., 2017. Metabolomics for Plant Improvement : Status and Prospects Metabolomics for Plant Improvement : Status and Prospects. Frontiers in Plant Sci. 8, 1-28
- Lambie, S.C., Kelly, W.J., Leahy, S.C., Li, D., Reilly, K., McAllister, T.A., Valle, E.R.,



Attwood, G.T., Altermann, E., 2015. The complete genome sequence of the rumen methanogen Methanosarcina barkeri CM1. Standards in Genomic Sciences., 10, 1–8.

- Lapornik, B., Prošek, M., Wondra, A.G., 2005. Comparison of extracts prepared from plant by-products using different solvents and extraction time. J. Food Engineer. 71, 214–222.
- Lassey, K.R., 2008. Livestock methane emission and its perspective in the global methane cycle. Austra. J. Experimental Agric. 48, 114–118.
- Lee, J.H., Kumar, S., Lee, G.H., Chang, D.H., Rhee, M.S., Yoon, M.H., Kim, B.C., 2013. Methanobrevibacter boviskoreani sp. nov., isolated from the rumen of Korean native cattle. Intern. J. Systematic and Evolutionary Microbio. 63, 4196–4201.
- Lee, S.J., Kim, D.H., Guan, L.L., Ahn, S.K., Cho, K.W., Lee, S.S., 2015. Effect of medicinal plant by-products supplementation to total mixed ration on growth performance, carcass characteristics and economic efficacy in the late fattening period of hanwoo steers. Asian-Austra. J. Anim. Sci. 28, 1729–1735.
- Leone, A., Spada, A., Battezzati, A., Schiraldi, A., Aristil, J., Bertoli, S., 2016. Moringa oleifera seeds and oil: Characteristics and uses for human health. Intern. J. Molecular Sci. 17 (12), 1-15. doi:10.3390/ijms17122141
- Lević, S., Pajić Lijaković, I., Dorević, V., Rac, V., Rakić, V., Šolević Knudsen, T., Pavlović, V., Bugarski, B., Nedović, V., 2015. Characterization of sodium alginate/d-limonene emulsions and respective calcium alginate/d-limonene beads produced by electrostatic extrusion. Food Hydrocolloids., 45, 111–123.
- Li, J., Cai, C., Li, J., Li, J., Li, J., Sun, T., Wang, L., Wu, H., Yu, G., 2018. Chitosan-based nanomaterials for drug delivery. Molecules. 23, 1–26.
- Liwiński, B.J., Soliva, C.R., Machmüller, A., Kreuzer, M., 2002. Efficacy of plant extracts rich in secondary constituents to modify rumen fermentation. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 101, 101–114.
- Logaranjan, K., Devasena, T., Pandian, K., 2013. Quantitative Detection of Aloin and Related Compounds Present in Herbal Products and Aloe vera Plant Extract Using HPLC Method. American J. Analytical Chemis. 04, 600–605.
- Lovett, D.K., Stack, L.J., Lovell, S., Callan, J., Flynn, B., Hawkins, M., O'Mara, F.P., 2005. Manipulating enteric methane emissions and animal performance of late-lactation dairy cows through concentrate supplementation at pasture. J. Dairy Sci. 88, 2836– 2842.
- MacArtain, P., Gill, C.I.R., Brooks, M., Campbell, R., Rowland, I.R., 2007. Nutritional value of edible seaweeds. Nutrit. Rev. 65, 535–543.
- Makkar, H.P.S., Francis, G., Becker, K., 2007. Bioactivity of phytochemicals in some lesserknown plants and their effects and potential applications in livestock and aquaculture production systems. Animal. 1, 1371–1391.
- Math, P., Mishra, D.K., Prajapati, P.K., Roshy, J.J.P., 2011. Anti-Pyretic Activity of Madhukadi Kwatha and Madhukadi Ghana - An Experimental Study. Intern. J. Pharmaceutical and Biological Archive. 2, 572–576.
- McCormick, E., 2014. Crude Fat Methods Considerations. Laboratory Methods and Services Committee., 1–6.
- Menke, K.H., Raab, L., Salewski, A., Steingass, H., Fritz, D., Schneider, W., 1979. The estimation of the digestibility and metabolizable energy content of ruminant feedingstuffs from the gas production when they are incubated with rumen liquor in vitro. The J. Agric. Sci. 93, 217–222.
- Mirzaei-Aghsaghali, A., Maheri-Sis, N., 2016. Factors affecting mitigation of methane



emission from ruminants: Microbiology and biotechnology strategies. J. Anim. Behaviour and Biometeorology. 4, 22–31.

- Mohammad El-Aidie, S.A.A., 2018. A Review on Chitosan: Ecofriendly Multiple Potential Applications in the Food Industry. Intern. J. Advan. in Life Sci. Res. 1, 1–14.
- Morgavi, D.P., Forano, E., Martin, C., Newbold, C.J., 2010. Microbial ecosystem and methanogenesis in ruminants. Animal. 4, 1024–1036.
- Moss, A.R., Jouany, J.P., Newbold, J., 2000. Methane production by ruminants: Its contribution to global warming. Anim. Res. 49, 231–253.
- Moyo, M., Nsahlai I.V., 2018. Rate of Passage of Digesta in Ruminants; Are Goats Different? Goat Sci. 2-37. http://dx.doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.69745
- Murray, K.K., Boyd, R.K., Eberlin, M.N., Langley, G.J., Li, L., Naito, Y., 2013. Definitions of terms relating to mass spectrometry (IUPAC Recommendations 2013). Pure Appl. Chem. 85, 1515–1609.
- Mwenya, B., Santoso, B., Sar, C., Gamo, Y., Kobayashi, T., Arai, I., Takahashi, J., 2004. Effects of including β1-4 galacto-oligosaccharides, lactic acid bacteria or yeast culture on methanogenesis as well as energy and nitrogen metabolism in sheep. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 115, 313–326.
- Nalina, T., Rahim, Z.H.A., 2007. The crude aqueous extract of Piper betle L. and its antibacterial effect towards Streptococcus mutans. American J. Biochemis. Biotechnol. 3, 10–15.
- Nandave, M., Ojha, S.K., Joshi, S., Kumari, S., Arya, D.S., 2009. Moringa oleifera leaf extract prevents isoproterenol-induced myocardial damage in rats: Evidence for an antioxidant, antiperoxidative, and cardioprotective intervention. J. Medicinal Food., 12, 47–55.
- Ncube, N.S., Afolayan, A.J., Okoh, A.I., 2008. Assessment techniques of antimicrobial properties of natural compounds of plant origin: Current methods and future trends. African J. Biotechnol. 7, 1797–1806.
- Nivens, D.E., Ohman, D.E., Williams, J., Franklin, M.J., 2001. Role of alginate and its O acetylation in formation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa microcolonies and biofilms. J. Bacterio. 183, 1047–1057.
- Nn, A., 2015. A Review on the Extraction Methods Use in Medicinal Plants, Principle, Strength and Limitation. Medicinal and Aromatic Plants. 04, 3–8.
- No, H.K., Meyers, S.P., Prinyawiwatkul, W., Xu, Z., 2007. Applications of chitosan for improvement of quality and shelf life of foods: A review. J. Food Sci. 72.
- Nouman, W., Anwar, F., Gull, T., Newton, A., Rosa, E., Domínguez-Perles, R., 2016. Profiling of polyphenolics, nutrients and antioxidant potential of germplasm's leaves from seven cultivars of Moringa oleifera Lam. Indust. Crops and Products. 83, 166– 176.
- Ojiako, E.N., 2014. Phytochemical Analysis and Antimicrobial Screening Of Moringa Oleifera Leaves Extract. The Intern. J. Engineer. Sci.(IJES)., 3, 32–35.
- Onyekaba, T.U., Chinedu, O.G., Fred, A.C., 2013. Phytochemical Screening and Investigations of Antibacterial Activities of Various Fractions of the Ethanol Leaves Extract of Moringa oleifera LAM (Moringaceae). J. Pharmaceutical, Chemical and Biological Sci. (Ijpcbs). 2013, 962–973.
- Oskoueian, E., Abdullah, N., Oskoueian, A., 2013. Effects of flavonoids on rumen fermentation activity, methane production, and microbial population. BioMed Res. Intern. 2013, 1-9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2013/349129
- Ottenstein, D.M., Bartley, D.A., 1971. Improved Gas Chromatography Separation of Free


Acids C2-C5 in Dilute Solution. Analytical Chemistry. 43, 952–955.

- Patra, A.K., Saxena, J., 2009. The effect and mode of action of saponins on the microbial populations and fermentation in the rumen and ruminant production. Nutrit. Res. Rev. 22, 204–219.
- Patra, A.K., Saxena, J., 2010. A new perspective on the use of plant secondary metabolites to inhibit methanogenesis in the rumen. Phytochemistry. 71, 1198–1222.
- Patra, A.K., Kamra, D.N., Bhar, R., Kumar, R., Agarwal, N., 2011. Effect of Terminalia chebula and Allium sativum on in vivo methane emission by sheep. J. Anim. Physio. Anim. Nutrit. 95, 187–191.
- Patra, A.K., 2012. Enteric methane mitigation technologies for ruminant livestock: A synthesis of current research and future directions. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment. 184, 1929–1952.
- Patra, A.K., Yu, Z., 2013. Effective reduction of enteric methane production by a combination of nitrate and saponin without adverse effect on feed degradability, fermentation, or bacterial and archaeal communities of the rumen. Bioresource Technol. 148, 352–360.
- Patra, A.K., 2013. The effect of dietary fats on methane emissions, and its other effects on digestibility, rumen fermentation and lactation performance in cattle: A meta-analysis. Lives. Sci. 155, 244–254.
- Patra, A.K., 2014. A meta-analysis of the effect of dietary fat on enteric methane production, digestibility and rumen fermentation in sheep, and a comparison of these responses between cattle and sheep. Lives. Sci. 162, 97–103.
- Patra, A.K, Park, T., Kim, M., Yu, Z., 2017. Rumen methanogens and mitigation of methane emission by anti-methanogenic compounds and substances. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 8.
- Perva-uzunalic, A., Otto, F., Gru, S., 2006. Food Chemistry Extraction of active ingredients from green tea (Camellia sinensis): Extraction efficiency of major catechins and caffeine, 96, 597–605.
- Pilon, A.C., Carneiro, R.L., Carnevale Neto, F., Da S. Bolzani, V., Castro-Gamboa, I., 2013. Interval multivariate curve resolution in the dereplication of HPLC-DAD data from Jatropha gossypifolia. Phytochemical Analysis. 24, 401–406.
- Pin, K.Y., Chuah, A.L., Rashih, A.A., Mazura, M.P., Fadzureena, J., Vimala, S., Rasadah, M.A., 2010. Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities of extracts of betel leaves (Piper betle) from solvents with different polarities. J. Tropi. Forest Sci. 22, 448–455.
- Prabakaran, M., Kim, S.H., Sasireka, A., Chandrasekaran, M., Chung, I.M., 2018. Polyphenol composition and antimicrobial activity of various solvent extracts from different plant parts of Moringa oleifera. Food Biosci. 26, 23–29.
- Pugh, N., Ross, S.A., ElSohly, M.A., Pasco, D.S., 2001. Characterization of aloeride, a new high-molecular-weight polysaccharide from Aloe vera with potent immunostimulatory activity. J. Agric. Food Chemis. 49, 1030–1034.
- Purba, R.A.P., Paengkoum, P., 2019. Bioanalytical HPLC method of Piper Betle L. for quantifying phenolic compound, water-soluble vitamin, and essential oil in five different solvent extracts. J. Applied Pharmaceutical Sci. 9, 33–39.
- Quispe, C., Villalobos, M., Bórquez, J., Simirgiotis, M., 2018. Chemical Composition and Antioxidant Activity of Aloe vera from the Pica Oasis (Tarapacá, Chile) by UHPLC-Q/Orbitrap/MS/MS. J. Chemistry. 2018.
- Ratshilivha, N., Awouafack, M.D., du Toit, E.S., Eloff, J.N., 2014. The variation in antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of acetone leaf extracts of 12 Moringa oleifera



(Moringaceae) trees enables the selection of trees with additional uses. South African J. Botany., 92, 59–64.

- Rejila, S., Vijayakumar, N., Jayakumar, M., 2012. Chromatographic Determination of Allelochemicals (Phenolic Acids) in Jatropha curcas by HPTLC. Asian J. Plant Sci. Res. 2, 123–128.
- Remadi Mejda, D., Nawaim, A., Ahlem, N., hiareddine Hayfa, K.J.K., 2017. Control of Fusarium Dry Rot Incited by Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. tuberosi Using Sargassum vulgare Aqueous and Organic Extracts. J. Microbial Biochemical Technol 9.
- Rijo, P., Matias, D., Fernandes, A.S., Simões, M.F., Nicolai, M., Reis, C.P., 2014. Antimicrobial plant extracts encapsulated into polymeric beads for potential application on the skin. Polymers., 6, 479–490.
- Rocchetti, G., Blasi, F., Montesano, D., Ghisoni, S., Marcotullio, M.C., Sabatini, S., Cossignani, L., Lucini, L., 2019. Impact of conventional/non-conventional extraction methods on the untargeted phenolic profile of Moringa oleifera leaves. Food Res. Intern. 115, 319–327.
- Rother, M., Krzycki, J.A., 2010. Selenocysteine, pyrrolysine, and the unique energy metabolism of methanogenic archaea. Archaea. 2010, 1-15. doi:10.1155/2010/453642
- Rubí, L., Muruato, A., Juárez, J.V., Michael, A., Hernandez, P., Morales, A.H., Humberto, M., Ortega, M., Luz, S., Hernández, M., Sánchez, B.A., Roberto, J., Pérez, M., 2021. Therapeutic perspectives of p coumaric acid : Anti necrotic, anti cholestatic and anti amoebic activities. World Academy Sci. J. 3 (47) 1–8.
- Sabandar, C.W., Ahmat, N., Jaafar, F.M., Sahidin, I., 2013. Medicinal property, phytochemistry and pharmacology of several Jatropha species (Euphorbiaceae): A review. Phytochemistry., 85, 7–29.
- Sáez-Plaza, P., Navas, M.J., Wybraniec, S., Michałowski, T., Asuero, A.G., 2013. An Overview of the Kjeldahl Method of Nitrogen Determination. Part II. Sample Preparation, Working Scale, Instrumental Finish, and Quality Control. Critical Rev. Analyti. Chemis. 43, 224–272.
- Salehi, B., Venditti, A., Sharifi-rad, M., Kr, D., Sharifi-rad, J., Durazzo, A., Lucarini, M., Santini, A., Souto, E.B., Novellino, E., Antolak, H., Azzini, E., 2019. The Therapeutic Potential of Apigenin. Intern. J. Molecular Sci. 20, 1–26.
- Salem, M.A., Souza, L.P. De., Serag, A., Fernie, A.R., Farag, M.A., Ezzat, S.M., Alseekh, S., 2020. Metabolomics in the Context of Plant Natural Products Research : From Sample Preparation to Metabolite Analysis. Metabolites. 10 (37) 1–30. doi:10.3390/metabo10010037
- Santra, A., Saikia, A., Baruah, K.K., 2012. Scope of Rumen Manipulation Using Medicinal Plants To Mitigate Methane Production. J. Pharmacog. 3, 115–120.
- Satari, A., Ghasemi, S., Habtemariam, S., Asgharian, S., Lorigooini, Z., 2021. Rutin: A Flavonoid as an Effective Sensitizer for Anticancer Therapy; Insights into Multifaceted Mechanisms and Applicability for Combination Therapy. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine. 2021, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/9913179
- Seradj, A.R., Abecia, L., Crespo, J., Villalba, D., Fondevila, M., Balcells, J., 2014. The effect of Bioflavex® and its pure flavonoid components on in vitro fermentation parameters and methane production in rumen fluid from steers given high concentrate diets. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 197, 85–91.
- Sirohi, S.K., Pandey, N., Goel, N., Singh, B., Mohini, M., Pandey, P., Chaudhry, P.P., 2009. Microbial Activity and Ruminal Methanogenesis as Affected by Plant Secondary



Metabolites in Different Plant Extracts. Environmental Engineer. 52–58.

- Sirohi, S.K., Goel, N., Pandey, P., 2012. Efficacy of different methanolic plant extracts on anti-methanogenesis, rumen fermentation and gas production kinetics in vitro. Open Vet. J. 2, 72–77.
- Soliva, C.R., Meile, L., Hindrichsen, I.K., Kreuzer, M., Machmüller, A., 2004. Myristic acid supports the immediate inhibitory effect of lauric acid on ruminal methanogens and methane release. Anaerobe., 10, 269–276.
- Stéphane, F.F.Y., Jules, B.K.J., Batiha, G.E., Ali, I., Bruno L.N., 2021: Extraction of Bioactive Compounds from Medicinal Plants and Herbs. Natural Medicinal Plants. 1-40
- Sultana, B., Anwar, F., Ashraf, M., 2009. Effect of extraction solvent/technique on the antioxidant activity of selected medicinal plant extracts. Molecules., 14, 2167–2180.
- Takahashi, J., 2014. Prophylactic modulation of methane and nitrous oxide emitted from ruminants livestock for sustainable animal agriculture. Media Peternakan., 37, 206–214.
- Tavendale, M.H., Meagher, L.P., Pacheco, D., Walker, N., Attwood, G.T., Sivakumaran, S., 2005. Methane production from in vitro rumen incubations with Lotus pedunculatus and Medicago sativa, and effects of extractable condensed tannin fractions on methanogenesis. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 123-124 Pa, 403–419.
- Taylor, J., Taylor, J.R.N., Belton, P.S., Minnaar, A., 2009. Kafirin Microparticle Encapsulation of Catechin and Sorghum Condensed Tannins. J. Agric. Food Chem. 57, 7523–7528.
- Thiex, N., Novotny, L., Crawford, A., 2012. Determination of ash in animal feed: AOAC Official Method 942.05 revisited. J. AOAC Intern. 95, 1392–1397.
- Tolve, R., Tchuenbou-magaia, F., Di, M., Carmela, M., Scarpa, T., Galgano, F., 2021. Encapsulation of bioactive compounds for the formulation of functional animal feeds : The biofortification of derivate foods. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 279, 115036.
- Tsugawa, H., Cajka, T., Kind, T., Ma, Y., Higgins, B., Ikeda, K., Kanazawa, M., Vandergheynst, J., Fiehn, O., Arita, M., 2015. MS / MS deconvolution for comprehensive metabolome analysis. Nature Methods. 12 (6) 1-10.
- Turner, M.F., Heuberger, A.L., Kirkwood, J.S., Collins, C.C., 2016. Non-targeted Metabolomics in Diverse Sorghum Breeding Lines Indicates Primary and Secondary Metabolite Profiles Are Associated with Plant Biomass Accumulation and Photosynthesis. Frontiers in Plant Sci. 7, 1–17. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2016.00953
- Ungerfeld, E.M., 2015. Shifts in metabolic hydrogen sinks in the methanogenesis-inhibited ruminal fermentation: A meta-analysis. Frontiers Microbio. 6, 1–17.
- Urtuvia, V., Maturana, N., Acevedo, F., Peña, C., Díaz-Barrera, A., 2017. Bacterial alginate production: an overview of its biosynthesis and potential industrial production. World J. Microbio. Biotechno. 33, 1–10.
- Van Soest, P.J., Robertson, J.B., Lewis, B.A., 1991. Methods for Dietary Fiber, Neutral Detergent Fiber, and Nonstarch Polysaccharides in Relation to Animal Nutrition. J. Dairy Sci. 74, 3583–3597.
- Vongsak, B., Sithisarn, P., Gritsanapan, W., 2014. Simultaneous HPLC quantitative analysis of active compounds in leaves of moringa oleifera lam. J. Chromatographic Sci. 52, 641–645.
- Waghorn, G., 2008. Beneficial and detrimental effects of dietary condensed tannins for sustainable sheep and goat production-Progress and challenges. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 147, 116–139.



- Wallace, R.J., Rooke, J.A., Duthie, C.A., Hyslop, J.J., Ross, D.W., McKain, N., De Souza, S.M., Snelling, T.J., Waterhouse, A., Roehe, R., 2014. Archaeal abundance in postmortem ruminal digesta may help predict methane emissions from beef cattle. Scientific Reports., 4, 1–8.
- Wang, H.J., Zakhari, S., Jung, M.K., 2010. Alcohol, inflammation, and gut-liver-brain interactions in tissue damage and disease development. World J. Gastroenterology., 16, 1304–1313.
- Wang, L., Pan, X., Jiang, L., Chu, Y., Gao, S., Jiang, X., Chen, Y., 2022. The Biological Activity Mechanism of Chlorogenic Acid and Its Applications in Food Industry: A Review. Frontiers in Nutri. 9, 1–22. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.943911
- Wencelová, M., Váradyová, Z., Mihaliková, K., Kišidayová, S., Jalč, D., 2013. Evaluating the effects of chitosan, plant oils, and different diets on rumen metabolism and protozoan population in sheep. Turkish J. Vet. Anim. Sci. 38, 26–33.
- Wong, P.Y.Y., Kitts, D.D., 2006. Studies on the dual antioxidant and antibacterial properties of parsley (Petroselinum crispum) and cilantro (Coriandrum sativum) extracts. Food Chemis. 97, 505–515.
- Wong, S.P., Leong, L.P., William Koh, J.H., 2006. Antioxidant activities of aqueous extracts of selected plants. Food Chemis. 99, 775–783.
- Wrede, C., Dreier, A., Kokoschka, S., Hoppert, M., 2012. Archaea in symbioses. Archaea., 2012.
- Wu, X., Ding, W., Zhong, J., Wan, J., Xie, Z., 2013. Simultaneous qualitative and quantitative determination of phenolic compounds in Aloe barbadensis Mill by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry-ion trap-time-of-flight and high performance liquid chromatography-diode array detector. J. Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis., 80, 94–106.
- Yang, D., Wang, T., Long, M., Li, P., 2020. Review Article Quercetin: Its Main Pharmacological Activity and Potential Application in Clinical Medicine. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity. 2020, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8825387
- Yang, W.Z., Laurain, J., Ametaj, B.N., 2009. Neem oil modulates rumen fermentation properties in a continuous cultures system. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 149, 78–88.
- Yazdani, D., Mior Ahmad, Z.A., How, T.Y., Bala Jaganath, I., Shahnazi, S., 2013. Inhibition of afatoxin biosynthesis in Aspergillus favus by phenolic compounds extracted of Piper betle L. Iranian J. Microbio. 5, 428–433.
- Yejun, L., Su Kyoung, L., Shin Ja, L., Jong-Su, E., Sung Sill, L., 2019. Effects of Lonicera japonica extract supplementation on in vitro ruminal fermentation, methane emission, and microbial population. Anim. Sci. J. 90, 1170–1176.
- Yu, X., Xiao, J., Chen, S., Yu, Y., Ma, J., Lin, Y., Li, R., Lin, J., Fu, Z., Zhou, Q., Chao, Q., Chen, L., Yang, Z., Liu, R., 2020. Metabolite signatures of diverse Camellia sinensis tea populations. Nature Communications. 1–14.
- Zeru, A.E., Hassen, A., Apostolides, Z., Tjelele, J., 2022. Screening of Candidate Bioactive Secondary Plant Metabolite Ion-Features from Moringa oleifera Accessions Associated with High and Low Enteric Methane Inhibition from Ruminants. Metabolites. 12 (501), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.3390/ metabo12060501
- Ziemer, C.J., Sharp, R., Stern, M.D., Cotta, M.A., Whitehead, T.R., Stahl, D.A., 2000. Comparison of microbial populations in model and natural rumens using 16S ribosomal RNA-targeted probes. Environmental Microbio. 2, 632–643.
- Zohar-Perez, C., Chet, I., Nussinovitch, A., 2004. Irregular textural features of dried alginatefiller beads. Food Hydrocolloids., 18, 249–258.